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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended August 27, 2005
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE

ACT OF 1934
Commission file number 0-23818
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
OREGON 93-1135197
(State or other Jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
Incorporation or Organization) Identification Number)
1521 Poplar Lane, Forest Grove, Oregon 97116
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(503) 359-9300

(Registrant’ s telephone number)

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been
subject to the filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.): Yes O No
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The number of shares of the Registrant’ s Common Stock outstanding as of October 7, 2005 was 19,477,797 shares.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MERIX CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, unaudited)

August 27, May 28,
2005 2005

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents
$34,014 $9,130

Short-term investments
44,575 68,555

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $883 and $932, respectively
35,529 37,338

Inventories
13,627 11,227

Other current assets
2,871 2,451

Total current assets
130,616 128,701

Property, plant and equipment, net
84,576 88,132

Goodwill
25,551 25,551

Identifiable intangibles, net
9,003 9,754

Other assets
2,402 1,803

Total assets
$252,148  $253,941
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Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Accounts payable
$17,311 $16,957

Accrued compensation

2,973 4,721
Accrued warranty

1,543 1,519
Other accrued liabilities

4,561 4,773
Current portion of long-term debt

1,000 1,000

Total current liabilities
27,388 28,970

Long-term debt
26,000 26,000

Other long-term liability
976 960

Total liabilities
54,364 55,930

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)

Shareholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, no par value; authorized 10,000 shares; none issued

Common stock, no par value; authorized 50,000 shares; issued and outstanding August 27, 2005: 19,448
shares

May 28, 2005: 19,341 shares
202,145 201,458

Unearned stock compensation
(761 ) (392 )
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Accumulated deficit
(3,600 ) (3,055 )

Total shareholders’ equity
197,784 198,011

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity
$252,148  $253,941

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share amounts, unaudited)

Net sales

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Operating expenses:

Engineering

Selling, general and administrative

Amortization of identifiable intangibles

Severance and impairment charges

Total operating expenses

Operating loss

Interest and other income (expense), net

Loss before taxes

MERIX CORPORATION

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document

Three Months Ended

August 27, August 28,
2005 2004
$51,787 $42,130
44,172 37,737
7,615 4,393
1,492 1,801
4,875 4,527

751 =

1,135 -

8,253 6,328
638 )  (1,935)
97 (38 )
(541 ) (1,973 )
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Income tax expense

Net loss

Net loss per share:

Basic

Diluted

Shares used in per share calculations:

Basic

Diluted

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balance at May 28, 2005

Net loss

Issuance of stock under defined contribution plan

Issuance of restricted stock to employees

Amortization of unearned stock compensation

Shares repurchased, surrendered or canceled

Balance at August 27, 2005

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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MERIX CORPORATION

(in thousands, unaudited)

Common Stock Unearned Stock  Accumulated
Shares Amount Compensation Deficit Total
19,341  $201,458 $ (392 $(3,055 ) $198,011
- - - (545 ) (545 )
50 319 = = 319
58 374 (374 - _
_ _ 5 - 5
a H (o (6 )
19,448  $202,145 $ (761 $(3,600 ) $197,784
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MERIX CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands, unaudited)

Three Months Ended
August 27, August 28,
2005 2004

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
$(545 ) $(1,974 )

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

4,469 3,293
Contribution of common stock to defined contribution plan

319 434
Loss on impairment and disposal of fixed assets

502 26
Expense for stock based compensation

5 24
Other

- 6

Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable

1,809 925 )
Inventories

(2,400 ) 98

Other assets
(1,093 ) 435 )

Accounts payable
1,259 462 )

Accrued compensation
(1,748 ) (1,252 )
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Accrued warranty

Other accrued liabilities

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Capital expenditures

Investment

Purchases

Sales and maturities

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Exercise of stock options

Shares repurchased, surrendered or cancelled

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
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24 25
Q12 ) 32
2,389 (1,110 )
(1479 ) (6,619 )
(6,800 ) (54,425)
30,780 60,995
22,501 49 )
- 187

(6 ) -

6 ) 187
24,884 972 )
9,130 7,355
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Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Supplemental non-cash activity:

Issuance of restricted stock to employees

Increase to the asset retirement obligation

Supplemental disclosures:

Cash paid for interest

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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MERIX CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in thousands, unaudited)

Note 1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of Merix Corporation have been prepared pursuant to Securities and
Exchange Commission rules and regulations. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. These
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and notes thereto included in Merix Corporation’ s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 28, 2005.

Merix Corporation’ s fiscal year is the 52 or 53-week period ending the last Saturday in May. Fiscal years 2005 and 2006 are 52-week
years ending May 28, 2005 and May 27, 2006, respectively. The financial information included herein reflects all normal recurring
adjustments that are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair statement of the results for interim periods. The results of operations
for the three months ended August 27, 2005 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full fiscal year.

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Merix Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All inter-company

accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Short-term Investments

Investments in auction rate securities are classified as available-for-sale short-term investments. Available-for-sale securities are
recorded at fair value, and unrealized holding gains and losses, if any, are recorded, net of tax, as a separate component of accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss). Investments classified as held-to-maturity with original maturities of more than three months, but less than a
year are classified as short-term investments. The specific identification method is used to determine the cost of securities sold.

As of August 27, 2005 and May 28, 2005, the Company held $44,575 and $68,555 respectively, of short-term investments, which
consisted of auction rate securities. There were no cumulative gross unrealized holding gains (losses) or gross realized gains (losses) from
short-term investments. In accordance with Accounting Research Bulletin No. 43, Chapter 3A. “Working Capital-Current Assets and Current
Liabilities,” the Company views its available-for-sale portfolio as available for use in its current operations. All income generated from these
short-term investments was recorded as interest income. Although the underlying instruments have maturities of up to 40 years, based on
historical experience in the financial markets as well as the Company’ s specific experience, the Company believes there is a reasonable
expectation of completing a successful auction within the subsequent twelve-month period. During its history in investing in these securities,
the Company has been able to sell its holdings of these investments. Accordingly, the Company believes that the risk of non-redemption of
these investments within a year to be minimal.

Revision in the Classification of Certain Securities

Certain previously reported amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation. At February 26, 2005, the
Company reclassified its investments in auction rate securities from cash and cash equivalents to short-term investments for the current and all
prior periods. Corresponding adjustments to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the three months ended August 28, 2004 have also
been made to reflect the gross purchases and sales of these securities as investing activities rather than as a component of cash and cash
equivalents. The change in classification does not affect cash flows from operations or from financing activities for any period previously
reported in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, nor does it affect net income or loss for any period previously reported in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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Reclassifications for the quarter ended August 28, 2004 are as follows:

As Reported As Reclassified
Cash and Cash and
Cash Short-term Cash Short-term
Equivalents Investments Total Equivalents Investments Total
$ 116,988 $ - § 116,988 $6,383 $110,605 $ 116,988
As Reported As Reclassified
Investment Net cash provided Investment Net cash provided
by (used in) by (used in)
Purchases Maturities investing activities Purchases Maturities investing activities
$- $ - $ (6,619 ) $(54,425 ) $60,995 $ (49 )

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Jobs Act”) was enacted in the United States. In December 2004, the
FASB issued FASB Staff Position FAS No. 109-1, “Application of FASB Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, to the Tax
Deduction on Qualified Production Activities Provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004” (“FSP 109-1"). FSP 109-1 provides that
the tax deduction for income with respect to qualified domestic production activities will be treated as a special deduction as described in
SFAS No. 109. As a result, this deduction has no effect on the Company’ s deferred tax assets and liabilities existing at the date of enactment.
Rather, the impact of this deduction, if any, which was effective January 1, 2005, will be reported in the period in which the deduction is
claimed on the Company’ s income tax returns.

FASB Staff Position FAS No. 109-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the
American Jobs Creation Act of 2004” (“FSP 109-2"), provides guidance under FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,”
with respect to recording the potential impact of the repatriation provisions of the Jobs Act on enterprises’ income tax expense and deferred
tax liability. FSP 109-2 states that an enterprise is allowed time beyond the financial reporting period of enactment to evaluate the effect of the
Jobs Act on its plan for reinvestment or repatriation of foreign earnings for purposes of applying SFAS No. 109. Merix has not yet evaluated
the impact, if any, of the repatriation provisions on the Company’ s tax accruals or effective tax rate.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs — An Amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4” (“SFAS 1517).
SFAS 151 amends the guidance in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4, “Inventory Pricing,” to clarify the accounting for abnormal amounts of idle
facility expense, freight, handling costs, and wasted material (spoilage) and requires that those items be recognized as current-period charges.
Additionally, SFAS 151 requires that the allocation of fixed production overheads to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity
of the production facilities. SFAS 151 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005 and is required to be adopted by Merix in the
first quarter of fiscal 2007, beginning May 28, 2006. Merix is currently evaluating the effect that the adoption of SFAS 151 will have on its
consolidated results of operations and financial condition and does not expect the adoption to have a material impact.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”), which replaces
SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” (“SFAS 123”), and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees.” SFAS 123R requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be
recognized in the financial statements based on their fair values. The effective date for the Company is fiscal 2007, beginning May 28, 2006.
On March 29, 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 (“SAB 107""), which provides the
Staff’ s views regarding interactions between SFAS 123R and certain SEC rules and regulations, and provides interpretations of the valuation
of
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share-based payments for public companies. SAB 107 covers key topics related to the implementation of SFAS 123R which include the
valuation models, expected volatility, expected option term, income tax effects of SFAS 123R, classification of stock-based compensation
cost, capitalization of compensation costs, and disclosure requirements. The Company is evaluating the requirements of SFAS 123R and SAB
107 and expects that the adoption of these pronouncements will have a material impact on its consolidated results of operations and earnings
per share. Merix has not yet determined whether the adoption will result in amounts that are similar to the current pro forma disclosures under
SFAS 123.

In June 2005, the FASB issued Statement No. 154, “Accounting Changes and Error Corrections” (SFAS 154), a replacement of APB
Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes”, and Statement No. 3, “Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements.” SFAS 154
changes the requirements for the accounting for and the reporting of a change in accounting principle. Previously, most voluntary changes in
accounting principles required recognition by recording a cumulative effect adjustment within net income in the period of change. SFAS 154
requires retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements, unless it is impracticable to determine either the specific period
effects or the cumulative effect of the change. SFAS 154 is effective for accounting changes made in fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2005. The Company does not believe SFAS 154 will have a material effect on its consolidated financial position, results of

operations or cash flows.

Note 2. BUSINESS ACQUISITION

On December 9, 2004, Merix Corporation purchased all of the outstanding capital stock of Data Circuit Holdings, Inc., the parent of
Merix San Jose, Inc. (“Merix San Jose™). The results of Merix San Jose have been included in the consolidated financial statements since the
date of acquisition. The aggregate purchase price of $44,012 included cash of $41,646 (including cash acquired of $339), a $2,000 promissory
note, and $366 of direct acquisition costs. Interest of 5% on the promissory note is payable quarterly and principal payments of $1,000 are due

annually.

In accordance with SFAS No. 141 “Business Combinations,” the Company recorded the acquisition under the purchase method of
accounting. The purchase price has been allocated to tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their
respective fair values. The excess purchase price over the fair value of tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed was
recorded as goodwill.

Goodwill resulting from the acquisition of Merix San Jose is accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets.” Accordingly, goodwill is not amortized. Instead, goodwill is reviewed and tested for impairment on an annual basis, or
more frequently, if impairment indicators arise. The Company completed its most recent annual goodwill impairment analysis as of May 28,
2005 and concluded that as of May 28, 2005, there was no goodwill impairment.

The following presents the details of identifiable intangible assets acquired and the unamortized value as of August 27, 2005:

August 27, 2005 May 28, 2005
Accumulated Net, Net,
Cost Amortization Intangibles Intangibles
Amortizable intangible assets
Customer relationships
$9,900 $(1,705 )  $8.,195 $ 8,794
Non-compete agreement
1,200 427 ) 773 923
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Manufacturing sales representatives network
40 5 ) 35 37

Total intangibles purchased
$11,140 $(2,137 ) $9,003 $ 9,754

The Company’ s purchased intangible assets have remaining lives ranging from 1 to 6 years. The Company performs reviews for
impairment of all its purchased intangible assets whenever events or
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changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. As of August 27, 2005, management
concluded there was no indication of events or changes in circumstances indicating that the carrying amount of purchased intangible assets
may not be recoverable. Amortization expense for intangible assets acquired was $751 for the quarter ended August 27, 2005 and has been
disclosed as a separate line item in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The estimated future amortization expense of purchased
intangible assets as of August 27, 2005 is as follows:

Amortization
Fiscal Year Expense
2006 (remaining 9 months)
$ 1,936
2007
2,018
2008
1,550
2009
1,255
Thereafter
2,244
$ 9,003

The following unaudited pro forma financial information presents the consolidated results of operations as if the acquisition had occurred at
the beginning of the three month period ended August 28, 2004.

Three months ended

August 28, 2004

Net sales
$ 49,645
Net income (loss)
$ (1,948 )
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic
$ (0.10 )
Diluted
$ (0.10 )
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The pro forma information is not necessarily indicative of the results that would have occurred had the acquisition been completed at the

beginning of the periods presented, nor is it necessarily indicative of future results.

Note 3. INVENTORIES

August 27,  May 28,
2005 2005

Raw materials
$4.246 $2,768

Work in process
5,660 4,260

Finished goods
3,721 4,199

Total
$13,627 $11,227

Note 4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

August 27, May 28,
2005 2005
Land
$2,190 $2,190
Buildings and grounds
34,150 34,404
Leasehold improvements
18,043 17,985

Machinery and equipment
115,098 115,195

Construction in progress
5,230 5,948

Total
174,711 175,722

Accumulated depreciation and amortization
(90,135) (87,590)

Property, plant and equipment, net
$84,576 $88,132
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Note 5. NET LOSS PER SHARE

Basic income (loss) per share is computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period.
Diluted net income per share is computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock and potentially dilutive common
shares related to stock options and the convertible debenture outstanding during the period. No incremental shares were included in the
calculations of net loss per share for the quarters ended August 27, 2005 and August 28, 2004.

The following incremental shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss because including these shares would have been
antidilutive:

Three months ended

August 27, 2005 August 28, 2004
Incremental shares related to:
Outstanding stock options
3,177,955 1,616,484
Convertible debenture
1,287,996 1,287,996
Total
4,465,951 2,904,480

Note 6. STOCK BASED COMPENSATION PLAN

The Company accounts for its stock-based compensation in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and complies with the disclosure provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.” If the Company had used the fair value based method of accounting for its
plans, the Company’ s net income (loss) and net loss per share would approximate the pro forma disclosures below:

Three months ended

August 27, August 28
2005 2004
Net loss, as reported
$(545 ) $(1,974)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net loss
5 24
Deduct: Total stock based compensation expense determined under the fair value method for all awards
(131 ) (1,343 )
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Net loss pro forma

Net loss per share, as reported

Basic

Diluted

Net loss per share, pro forma

Basic

Diluted

Weighted average assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate

Expected dividend yield

Expected lives

Expected volatility

10
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Note 7. ACCRUED WARRANTY

Warranty activity for the three months ended August 27, 2005 and August 28, 2004 consisted of the following:

Three months ended

August 27, August 28,
2005 2004
Accrued warranty at the beginning of the period
$1,519 $1,061
Accruals for warranties issued during the period
1,002 574
Accruals or changes in estimates related to pre-existing warranties
416 ) ® )
Settlements made during the period
(562 ) (466 )
Accrued warranty at the end of the period
$1,543 $1,086

Note 8. ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

In accordance with SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” (“FAS 143”) the company has recorded asset
retirement obligations related to restoring the Wood Village and Merix San Jose facilities to shell condition upon termination of the leases in
place at those facilities. Activity related to asset retirement obligations for the three months ended August 27, 2005 and August 28, 2004
consisted of the following:

Three months ended

August 27, August 27,
2005 2004
Asset retirement obligations at the beginning of the period
$ 960 $ 368
Liabilities incurred in the period
Liabilities settled in the period
Revisions in estimated cash flows
- 256
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Accretion expense
16 6

Asset retirement obligations at the end of the period
$ 976 $ 630

Note 9. CONCENTRATIONS OF CREDIT RISK

The Company does not believe that at August 27, 2005, it had any significant credit risks. Financial instruments that potentially subject
the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of investments and trade accounts receivable. The risk in investments is
limited due to the creditworthiness of investees comprising the portfolio and the diversity of the portfolio. For the purposes of evaluating risk
in receivables, the Company considers the entity from which the receivable is due, which can be either an original equipment manufacturer
(“OEM”) customer or its electronic manufacturing service provider, depending upon the billing arrangement. In total, five entities represented
approximately 65% of the trade accounts receivable balance at August 27, 2005, individually ranging from 6% to 34%. Forty-eight percent of
trade accounts receivable, all of which are denominated in U.S. dollars, are with entities located outside of the United States. The Company
believes the risk in trade accounts receivable is limited due to the creditworthiness of entities that the Company sells to and the relatively
stable geopolitical environment of the countries in which these entities reside. The Company has not had significant losses related to its

accounts receivable in the past.

11
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Note 10. NET SALES BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA

Net sales by geographic area are attributed to the country in which the OEM customer is domiciled, as opposed to the domicile of its
electronic manufacturing service provider, if any. Because most sales to electronic manufacturing service providers are directed by the OEM
customer, which negotiates product pricing and volumes directly with the Company, the geographic locale of the electronic manufacturing
service provider does not materially affect the Company’ s sales. Based on the domicile of the OEM customer, there were no material
revenues from any individual foreign country for the periods ended August 27, 2005 and August 28, 2004.

Net sales by geographic area are as follows:

Three months ended

August 27, August 28,
2005 2004
Domestic
$44,015 $36,595
Europe
4,402 4,695
Other
3,370 840
Total

$51,787 $42,130

The Company’ s five largest OEM customers, who vary from quarter to quarter, comprised 55% and 64% of our net sales during the first
quarter of fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005, respectively. One domestic OEM customer accounted for 27% and another for 12% of net sales in the
first quarter of fiscal 2006, one domestic OEM customer accounted for 27% and another for 20% of net sales in the first quarter of fiscal 2005.

Note 11. SEVERANCE AND IMPAIRMENT CHARGES

During the first quarter of fiscal 2006, the Company executed cost reduction actions that included a reduction in headcount across our
manufacturing and support organizations, predominantly in Oregon, of approximately 130 positions. The Company recorded a charge of $658
related to severance costs and $477 for the impairment of certain fixed assets. As of August 27, 2005, the Company’ s accrued liability relating
to severance costs was $106.

Note 12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Litigation
In the normal course of business, the Company is party to various legal claims, actions and complaints.

On June 17, 2004, the Company and certain of its executive officers and directors were named as defendants in the first of four
purported class action lawsuits alleging violations of federal securities laws. These four cases, which were filed in the United States District
Court for the District of Oregon, have now been consolidated in a single action entitled In re Merix Securities Litigation, Lead Case No.

CV 04-826-MO. A lead plaintiff was appointed, who filed a consolidated and amended class action complaint on November 15, 2004. In the
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consolidated and amended complaint, lead plaintiff alleges that the defendants violated the federal securities laws by making certain allegedly
false and misleading statements. The lead plaintiff seeks unspecified damages on behalf of a purported class of purchasers of the Company’ s
securities during the period from October 14, 2003, through May 13, 2004. On February 25, 2004, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss the
amended and consolidated complaint for failure to identify with sufficient specificity the statements that plaintiffs allege to have been false
and why the statements were either false when made or material. On September 15, 2005, the court granted that motion without prejudice and
gave plaintiffs leave to amend their complaint. The Company intends to continue to vigorously defend itself and the officer and director
defendants.
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On July 2, 2004, two derivative lawsuits were filed in the Circuit Court for the State of Oregon, County of Multnomah, against certain of
the Company’ s officers and directors based on the same allegations made in the class action lawsuit. The Company is named as a nominal
defendant in these derivative lawsuits, which have now been consolidated under the common caption In re Merix Corporation Derivative
Litigation, Lead Case No. 0407-06807. On April 29, 2005, plaintiffs filed a consolidated shareholder derivative complaint in which they
allege breaches of fiduciary duties and mismanagement by the defendants. Plaintiffs seek unspecified damages from the defendants,
purportedly on behalf of the Company, as well as the derivative plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees and costs. On August 31, 2005, the federal court
hearing the class action lawsuit described above granted a motion to stay discovery in this state-court derivative action. On September 13,
2005, the state court stayed all proceedings in the derivative lawsuit pending further developments in the federal class action lawsuit,
including all proceedings on a motion that the defendants filed on July 7, 2005 to dismiss the consolidated shareholder derivative complaint.

In each complaint, the plaintiffs seek unspecified damages from the defendants. A potential loss or range of loss that could arise from
these complaints is not estimable or probable at this time. The Company has recorded charges for estimated probable costs associated with
defending these claims, as it is the Company’ s policy to accrue legal fees when it is probable that the Company will have to defend itself

against known claims or allegations and it can reasonably estimate the amount of anticipated expense.

Environmental Matters

The process to manufacture printed circuit boards requires adherence to city, county, state and federal environmental regulations
regarding the storage, use, handling and disposal of chemicals, solid wastes and other hazardous materials as well as air quality standards.
Management believes that its facilities comply in all material respects with environmental laws and regulations. The Company has in the past
received certain notices of violations and has been required to engage in certain minor corrective activities. There can be no assurance that

violations will not occur in the future.

Commitments

As of August 27, 2005, the Company had capital commitments of approximately $2,018, primarily relating to the purchase of

manufacturing equipment.

For the remainder of fiscal 2006 and in years following, consolidated future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating
leases in effect August 27, 2005 for Wood Village and San Jose facilities are as follows:

Minimum
Payments under

Years Ending May 31, Operating Leases

2006 (9 months remaining)

$ 875

2007

1,015
2008

852
2009

799
Thereafter

1,436

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

$ 4977

The Company has consignment agreements with certain suppliers for raw material inventory, some of which obligate the Company to
purchase inventory on hand upon termination of the agreement. As of the end of the first quarter of fiscal 2006, potential commitments under
these agreements were insignificant.

Note 13. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On September 29, 2005, the Company acquired the business operations of Eastern Pacific Circuits Limited (“EPC”), a Hong Kong
based supplier of printed circuit boards. The purchase consideration was $115.0 million, subject to post-closing adjustment based on the
working capital of the acquired business on September 29, 2005. Additional cash consideration of up to $13.0 million may be payable by the
Company
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under an earn-out provision based on calendar 2005 adjusted EBITDA of the acquired business. The purchase price allocation will be
determined by independent appraisal of the assets and liabilities of the business. The appraisal is expected to be finalized in the second quarter
and will result in the write-up of inventories, equipment and real estate, and in the recording of intangible assets, some of which will be
amortized to expense. The Company financed the acquisition with a combination of approximately $32.8 million of available cash, term loans
and revolving credit borrowings of approximately $71.2 million under two new credit facilities and the issuance of an $11.0 million
subordinated promissory note to the seller. The operations of EPC will be included in the Company’ s consolidated results beginning
September 29, 2005. As permitted by regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, Merix will consolidate EPC’ s results on a one-
month lag with those of the Company’ s U.S. operations. Accordingly, the Company’ s second fiscal quarter ending November 26, 2005 will
include the operations of EPC for the period September 29 through October 22.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT’ S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This Quarterly Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
All statements, other than statements of historical fact, including statements regarding industry prospects and future results of operations or
financial position, made in this Quarterly Report are forward looking. We use words such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “expects,” ‘future”
and ‘“intends” and similar expressions to identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements reflect management’s current
expectations, plans or projections and are inherently uncertain. Actual results could differ materially from management’s expectations, plans
or projections. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this
report. Certain risks and uncertainties that could cause our actual results to differ significantly from management’s expectations are
described in the section entitled “Risk Factors Affecting Business and Results of Operations.” This section, along with other sections of this
Quarterly Report, describes some, but not all, of the factors that could cause actual results to differ significantly from management’s
expectations. We do not intend to revise these forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect
the occurrence of unanticipated events. Readers are urged to review the factors in reports that we file from time to time with the Securities

and Exchange Commission.

Overview

We are a leading manufacturer of technologically advanced electronic interconnect solutions for use in sophisticated electronic
equipment. Our principal products are complex multilayer printed circuit boards, which are the platforms used to interconnect
microprocessors, integrated circuits and other components that are essential to the operation of electronic products and systems.

On December 9, 2004, we purchased all of the outstanding capital stock of Merix San Jose. Located in San Jose, California, Merix San
Jose is a quick-turn manufacturer of complex, multilayer printed circuit boards. The results of Merix San Jose have been included in the
consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition.

On September 29, 2005, we acquired the business operations of Eastern Pacific Circuits Holding Limited (EPC), a Hong Kong based
supplier of printed circuit boards, for a total purchase price of $115.0 million, subject to adjustment based on changes in working capital and
subject to an additional earn-out payment of up to $13.0 million if the business meets certain adjusted EBITDA targets in calendar 2005. We
purchased EPC to create a platform in Asia to further support our existing customer base, introduce our technology to new customers in the
region, and reduce our overall cost structure. The operations of EPC will be included in our consolidated results beginning September 29,
2005.

Results of Operations
Net Sales

Net sales were $51.8 million in the first quarter of fiscal 2006, an increase of 23% over net sales of $42.1 million in the first quarter of
fiscal 2005. This increase includes $7.5 million revenue generated by Merix San Jose in the first quarter of fiscal 2006. Unit shipments were
approximately 34% higher in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 compared to the same period in the prior year. The increase in unit shipments is
due to the addition of new customers, increased business from existing customers and the acquisition of Merix San Jose. Average pricing
decreased by approximately 8% in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 compared to the first quarter of fiscal 2005. The decrease in average pricing
in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005 was primarily due to pricing pressures within the industry. However, there was an
increase in quick-turn prototype services revenue as a percent of net sales. Net sales of quick-turn and premium services (products that
typically command a higher average sales price than standard volume orders as a result of rapid prototype manufacturing or compressed lead-
time volume orders), comprised approximately 34% of net sales in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 compared to approximately 27% in the first
quarter of fiscal 2005. While net sales of quick-turn and premium services consisted of compressed lead-time volume orders in the first
quarter of fiscal 2005, net sales of quick-turn and premium services in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 consisted of a relatively higher mix of
quick-turn prototype orders. The increase in the level of quick-turn prototype orders is primarily the result of our focus to grow this business

and the acquisition of Merix San Jose.
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Sales attributed to our five largest original equipment manufacturer (“OEM”) customers comprised 55% and 64% of our net sales in the
first quarter of fiscal 2006 and 2005, respectively. Two OEM customers each accounted for more than 10% of our net sales in the first quarters
of fiscal 2006 and 2005. Although the acquisition of EPC will further diversify our customer base, we expect to continue to depend upon a
small number of customers for a significant portion of our net sales for the foreseeable future. The loss of or decrease in orders from one or

more major customers could materially reduce our sales.

Sales attributed to OEMs include sales made through the OEM’ s electronic manufacturing service providers. The percentage of our net
sales made through electronic manufacturing service providers was approximately 61% and 67% in the first quarters of fiscal 2006 and 2005,
respectively. We expect sales to OEMs through their electronic manufacturing service providers to continue to represent a significant portion
of our net sales. Although our contractual relationship is with the electronic manufacturing service provider, most of our shipments to
electronic manufacturing service providers are directed by OEMs who negotiate product pricing and volumes directly with us. In addition, we
are on the approved vendor list of several electronic manufacturing service providers and are awarded discretionary orders directly from some
of them.

The following table shows, for the periods indicated, the percentage of our net sales to the principal end markets we serve ($ in

thousands):

Three Months Ended

August 27, August 28,
2005 2004

End Markets

Communications
73 % $37,856 82 % $34,522

High-end Computing & Storage
6 % 3,290 6 % 2,569

Test and Measurement
5 % 2,505 7 % 2,750

Aviation and Aerospace
4 % 1,872 1 % 577

EMSI & Other
12 % 6,264 4 % 1,712

Total
100% $51,787 100% $42,130

Sales in the communications end market, as a percentage of total sales, declined due to the diversification of our end markets resulting
from the Merix San Jose acquisition. Although the communications end market continues to be targeted as an area for growth and we continue
to add new customers in this end market, we expect that Merix San Jose and the EPC acquisition will result in further diversification, resulting

in lower concentrations in the communications end market.
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At the request of a number of significant customers, we have implemented vendor managed inventory programs. We expect to receive
similar requests from additional customers in the future. In these programs, we produce and ship products to the customer, but retain
ownership until the customer elects to take delivery. The customer commits to accept delivery within a specified period of time, typically 8§ to
13 weeks, but is not committed to take delivery at any particular time. We record a sale only when the customer accepts delivery. These
programs have reduced our ability to accurately forecast sales on a period to period basis and have also had a negative impact on our
compressed lead time volume sales. Additionally, the programs have increased our levels of finished goods inventory.

Future demand and product pricing depend on many factors including capacity utilization in the industry, product mix, competitive
pressure in the printed circuit board industry, levels of advanced technology, and economic conditions affecting the markets we serve and the
electronics industry in general.

Gross Margin

Gross margin as a percentage of net sales was 15% in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 compared to 10% in the first quarter of fiscal 2005.

The increase in gross margin primarily reflects the higher margin
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sales mix and more efficient asset utilization of Merix San Jose, partially offset by lower average pricing discussed above. Overall
improvements in asset utilization since the prior year quarter and cost reduction activities in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 have also
contributed to higher gross margins. Lower capacity utilization in the first quarter of fiscal 2005 reduced gross margin because it resulted in a
higher cost per unit produced. However, capacity expansions that increased our cost structure and caused a decline in the overall utilization of

our installed capacity in fiscal 2005 have facilitated our increase in unit production in fiscal 2006.

Engineering

Engineering expenses were $1.5 million, or 3% of net sales, in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 compared to $1.8 million, or 4% of net
sales, in the first quarter of fiscal 2005. The decrease in engineering expense in fiscal 2006 primarily resulted from a reduction in average
headcount from the prior year.

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative expenses were $4.9 million, or 9% of net sales in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 and $4.5 million, or
11% of net sales, in the first quarter of fiscal 2005. The increase in the amount of expense is largely attributed to the addition of $1.3 million
of expense from Merix San Jose. The company has also increased commission expenses due to the increasing use of manufacturing
representative firms; however, these increases in expenses were partially offset by a reduction in average headcount. In addition, the first
quarter of fiscal 2005 included expenses of $768 thousand related to the abandonment of a business opportunity in Asia.

Severance and Impairment Charges

During the first quarter of fiscal 2006, we executed cost reduction actions that included a reduction in headcount across our
manufacturing and support organizations and the impairment of certain assets. The reduction in headcount was approximately 130 positions,
predominantly in Oregon, and we recorded a charge of $658 thousand related to severance costs. In addition we recorded $477 thousand for
the impairment of certain assets.

Interest and Other Income (Expense), net

Interest and other income (expense), was a net income of $97 thousand in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 and a net expense of $(38)
thousand in the first quarter of fiscal 2005. Interest income increased in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 compared to the same period in the
prior year due to increased yields on cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments. As a result of the EPC acquisition finalized
September 29, 2005, interest expense is expected to increase by approximately $800 thousand and interest income is expected to decrease by
approximately $300 thousand in the next fiscal quarter.

Income Taxes

Our effective income tax rate was approximately zero for the first quarter of fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 due to adjustments to a valuation
allowance against deferred tax assets that was established primarily as a result of an accumulation of net operating loss carryforwards. We
incurred additional net operating tax losses in the first quarters of fiscal 2006 and fiscal 2005 and, accordingly, we increased our gross
deferred tax asset and the corresponding valuation allowance, which resulted in no income tax benefit for these periods. The provision for
income taxes for the first quarters of fiscal 2005 and 2006 represents our minimum foreign and state income tax obligations.

The Internal Revenue Code limits the amount of otherwise taxable income that may be offset by net operating loss carryforwards if
certain changes in stock ownership occur, including certain changes in ownership of stock by passive institutional investors. If those changes
in ownership of our stock have occurred or occur in the future, we may be limited in the amount of net operating loss carryforwards that we

can use in any given year to reduce our income subject to tax.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

At the end of the first quarter of fiscal 2006, we had $34.0 million in cash and cash equivalents and $44.6 million in short term
investments. The principal source of liquidity in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 was the sale and maturity of short term investments and cash
provided by operating activities. In the first quarter of fiscal 2006, we used cash principally to finance capital expenditures. In addition, cash
was used to fund the increase in net working capital.

Cash provided by operating activities for the first quarter of fiscal 2006 was $2.4 million, compared to cash used in operating activities
of $1.1 million in fiscal 2005. Our operating cash flow of $2.4 million for the first quarter of fiscal 2006 primarily reflects a net loss of $545
thousand, adjusted for $4.5 million of depreciation and amortization, offset by a net increase in working capital accounts of $2.1 million,
excluding cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments. The increase in net working capital, excluding cash and cash equivalents and
short-term investments, is primarily the result of increases in inventory and other assets and a decrease in accrued compensation partially
offset by reductions in accounts receivable and an increase in accounts payable. The increase in these accounts was primarily caused by
increased sales and production activity from fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2006.

Cash provided by investing activities in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 was $22.5 million compared to cash used in investing activities of
$49 thousand in the first quarter of fiscal 2005. Cash provided by investing activities in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 primarily consisted of
$24.0 million from the sale of short-term investments net of purchases in anticipation of cash required for the EPC Acquisition.

Cash used in financing activities in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 was $6 thousand compared to cash provided by financing activities of
$187 thousand in the first quarter of the prior fiscal year. Net cash flow from financing activities in the first quarter of fiscal 2006 consisted of
the repurchase of company common stock related to employee stock option programs, whereas fiscal 2005 consisted of proceeds from the
exercise of employee stock options.

Acquisition

We financed the acquisition of EPC with a combination of approximately $32.8 million of available cash, term loans and revolving
credit borrowings of approximately $71.2 million under two new credit facilities and the issuance of an $11.0 million subordinated promissory
note to EPC.

Domestic Loan and Security Agreement

On September 28, 2005, we entered into a Loan and Security Agreement (the “Loan Agreement’). Under the Loan Agreement, the
lenders provided a term loan of $16.5 million and a revolving line of credit of up to $38.5 million based on a borrowing base consisting
primarily of our accounts receivable. Unless earlier terminated in accordance with the Loan Agreement, the maturity date of the Loan
Agreement is September 28, 2010, with the principal of the term loan to be repaid in 19 equal quarterly payments of $687,500 each and a final
payment on the maturity date of $3,437,500. In addition certain prepayments are required upon the sale or other disposition of certain assets.
All revolving loans must be repaid in full on the maturity date. The initial loan proceeds were used to fund the acquisition of the business of
EPC, and thereafter proceeds are to be used for general operating, working capital and other corporate purposes. The obligations under the
Loan Agreement are secured by substantially all of the domestic assets of the Credit Parties. The loans bear interest at (a) either the prime rate
or LIBOR for a borrowing period of one, two, three or six months, in each instance, as selected by us, plus (b) an additional margin (which is
50 basis points higher for the term loan than for the revolving loan) based on our available cash and cash equivalents. The Loan Agreement
contains a number of restrictive covenants typical for such financings, including restrictions on our ability to incur additional indebtedness,
grant additional liens, pay dividends or make other distributions.
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Under the Loan Agreement it is an event of default if any Credit Party fails to make a payment required of it under the Loan Agreement
or otherwise fails to fulfill the covenants applicable to it. In addition, the failure of the Company to have repaid its indebtedness under its
$25.0 million, 6.5% convertible debenture before March 1, 2007 is an event of default unless (a) the holders of the debenture have agreed to
extend the maturity date thereof to at least December 28, 2010 or (b) the Company at all times after February 28, 2007 maintains at least $45.0
million of excess cash and cash equivalents. In the case of an event of default that is unremedied within the allowable grace period (if any), the

lenders may terminate their loan commitments and require immediate repayment of all outstanding loans

Asian Credit Agreement

On September 29, 2005, Merix Caymans Trading Company Limited (“Merix Trading”), a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of us, as the
borrower, and its following affiliates as guarantors: its direct parent company, Merix Caymans Holding Company Limited (“Merix Caymans
Holding™) and its following subsidiaries, Merix Singapore Sales Pte. Ltd., Merix Manufacturing (Hong Kong) Limited and Merix UK
Limited, entered into a Credit Agreement (the “Credit Agreement”). Under the Credit Agreement, the lenders provided an initial term loan of
$21.3 million, a commitment for a second term loan of $3.7 million and a revolving line of credit of $5.0 million. Unless earlier terminated in
accordance with the Credit Agreement, the maturity date of the Credit Agreement is March 15, 2009, with the principal of the term loans to be
repaid in equal payments of $7.5 million on each of December 1, 2006, 2007 and 2008 and the balance payable, along with the outstanding
balance of the revolving loan, on March 15, 2009. In addition certain prepayments are required upon sale or other disposition of certain assets
and upon the generation by Merix Caymans Holding and its subsidiaries of excess cash flow. The initial loan proceeds were used to fund the
acquisition of the business of EPC, and thereafter proceeds are to be used for general operating, working capital and other corporate purposes.
The obligations under the Credit Agreement are secured by substantially all the assets of Merix Caymans Holding and its subsidiaries (other
than the assets of its four subsidiary companies located in the People’ s Republic of China). The loans bear interest at (a) LIBOR for a
borrowing period of one, two, three or six months, in each instance, as selected by the Company, plus (b) an additional margin of 250 basis
points for the first year and thereafter an additional margin determined by a pricing grid based on the ratio of total borrowings to EBITDA for
Merix Caymans Holding and its subsidiaries.

In addition to the loans advanced under the Credit Agreement, Eastern Pacific Circuits Investments (Singapore) Pte Ltd, a company
acquired by Merix Trading in the EPC acquisition transaction, remains obligated under an existing term loan to the lenders in the amount of
$3.7 million, which obligations are guaranteed by Merix Caymans Holding and its subsidiaries party to the Credit Agreement and secured by
the collateral provided under the Credit Agreement and its related loan documentation. This existing loan is intended to be refinanced by the
proceeds of the second term loan available under the Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement contains a number of restrictive covenants
typical for such financings, including restrictions on the ability of Merix Caymans Holding and its subsidiaries to incur additional
indebtedness, grant additional liens, pay dividends or make other distributions. Under the Credit Agreement it is an event of default if Merix
Caymans Holding or any of its subsidiaries party to the Credit Agreement fails to make a payment required of it under the Credit Agreement
or otherwise fails to fulfill the covenants applicable to it. In the case of an event of default that is unremedied within the allowable grace

period (if any), the lenders may terminate their loan commitments and require immediate repayment of all outstanding loans.

Promissory Note

On September 29, 2005, Merix Trading delivered its subordinated Promissory Note to Eastern Pacific Circuits Holdings Limited for a
total of (a) $11.0 million plus (b) the amount of the earnout consideration determined under the previously announced Master Sale and
Purchase Agreement. The principal is to be paid in four equal installments on March 1, 2007, December 1, 2007, December 1, 2008 and
March 15, 2009. The outstanding principal balance earns interest at 7% per annum through December 1, 2006, 8% per annum thereafter
through December 1, 2007 and 9% per annum thereafter. Accrued and unpaid interest is payable quarterly, provided that the portion of interest
accruing at a rate in excess of the prevailing rate of interest charged Merix Trading under its senior, secured credit facility shall only be paid
upon maturity. Merix Trading may offset its payment obligations under the Note by the amount of warranty claims arising under the Master
Sale and Purchase Agreement. The holder of the Note has a limited right to
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accelerate payment upon Merix Trading’ s failure to make payments due under the Note, Merix Trading, Merix Caymans Holding Company
Limited or their subsidiaries raising debt and/or equity financing proceeds in excess of $50.0 million or certain insolvency or bankruptcy

events. The Note is unsecured and subordinated to Merix Trading’ s obligations to its senior secured lender.

We believe that our existing capital resources, cash generated from operations and cash obtained through debt financing should be

sufficient to meet our working capital and contractual obligations requirements through at least the next twelve months.

Risk Factors Affecting Business and Results of Operations

Certain statements in this report contain forward-looking information (as defined in Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended) that involves risks and uncertainties. Words such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “expects,” “future” and “intends” and similar
expressions identify forward-looking statements. These statements relate to future events or our future financial performance. These
statements constitute forward-looking statements and are only predictions. Actual events or results may differ materially. The differences
could be caused by a number of factors or combination of factors, including the factors listed below and the risks detailed in our Securities and
Exchange Commission filings, including our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended May 28, 2005.

Forward-looking statements contained in this report relate to our plans and expectations as to future financial results, end-market
demand, our customer base, the need for, use of and availability of capital resources and cash, and the effects of changes in interest rates and

foreign currency exchange rates.

Many factors, including the following, could cause actual results to differ materially from the forward-looking statements: the ability to
realize the anticipated benefits and synergies of the EPC acquisition in a timely manner or at all; fluctuations in demand for products and
services of the combined company, including quick-turn and premium services; the introduction of new products or technologies by
competitors; the ability to successfully and timely integrate the operations of EPC with Merix; the ability to achieve expected operating and
financial results and avoid unanticipated costs; pricing and other competitive pressures in the industry from domestic and global competitors;
foreign currency risk; risks inherent in foreign operations, such as increased regulatory complexity and compliance costs and greater political
and economic instability; our ability to fully utilize our assets and control costs; our ability to control or pass through the cost of raw materials
and supplies; our ability to retain or attract employees with sufficient know-how to conduct our manufacturing processes and maintain or
increase our production output and quality. These factors or additional risks and uncertainties not known to us or that we currently deem

immaterial may impair business operations and may cause our actual results to differ materially from any forward-looking statement.
Although we believe the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results,
levels of activity, performance or achievements. We do not intend to update any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this report

to conform them to actual results or to make changes in our expectations.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE ABOUT MARKET RISK

Prior to the September 27, 2005 acquisition of EPC, our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates related primarily to the
increase or decrease in the amount of interest income we can earn on our funds available for investment. We ensure the safety and
preservation of our invested principal by limiting default risk, market risk and reinvestment risk. We mitigate default risk by investing in high-
credit quality securities.

In addition, concurrent with the EPC acquisition, we entered into variable rate debt, which exposes us to market risk from changes in
interest rates on our variable rate debt. Our Loan Agreement dated September 28, 2005, consists of a term loan of $16.5 million and a
revolving line of credit of up to $38.5 million. Our Credit Agreement dated September 27, 2005, provides an initial term loan of $21.3 million,
a commitment for a second term loan of $3.7 million and a revolving line of credit of $5.0 million. These loans bear interest that is variable
based on changes in either the prime rate or LIBOR. The impact on our results of operations for the next twelve months of a one-point rate
change on the balance outstanding of our variable rate debt of approximately $71.2 million subsequent to the EPC acquisition would be
approximately $712 thousand. We may enter into interest rate swap agreements to limit this risk.

We do not have interest rate risk in our convertible debenture and notes payable. A change in interest rates would not affect interest
expense on the $25.0 million, 6.5% convertible debenture, the $2.0 million, 5% promissory note issued in connection with the acquisition of
Merix San Jose or the $11.0 million promissory note issued in connection with the EPC acquisition because these instruments bear fixed rates
of interest.

Concurrent with the EPC acquisition, we are subject to risk from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates related to our Asian
subsidiaries. Some revenue and expense transactions in our Asian subsidiaries are denominated in foreign currencies. Gains and losses, which

result from foreign currency transactions, will be included in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

This market risk discussion contains forward-looking statements. We do not believe that changes in interest rates will have a material
effect on our liquidity, financial condition or results of operations. Actual results may differ materially from this discussion based upon

general market conditions and changes in financial markets.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The term “disclosure controls and procedures” (defined in SEC Rule 13a-15(e)) refers to the controls and other procedures of a company
that are designed to ensure that the information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files under the Exchange Act is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the required time periods. An evaluation was performed under the supervision and with
the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO), of the effectiveness of
the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of August 27, 2005. Based on that evaluation, our CEO and CFO
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

There has been no change in Merix’ internal control over financial reporting during the fiscal quarter ended August 27, 2005 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, Merix’ internal control over financial reporting.

Our CEO and CFO do not expect that our disclosure controls will prevent all error and all fraud. Although our disclosure controls were
designed to provide reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives, a control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can
provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect
the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent
limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any,
within Merix have been detected.
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These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of
simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more
people, or by management override of the control. The design of any system of controls also is based partly on certain assumptions about the
likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future

conditions.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As previously reported in our periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, four proposed class action complaints
were filed against us and certain of our executive officers and directors in the first quarter of fiscal 2005. The complaints were consolidated in
the second quarter of fiscal 2005. On March 3, 2005, we filed a motion to dismiss the amended and consolidated complaint for failure to
identify with sufficient specificity the statements that plaintiffs allege to have been false and why the statements were either false when made
or material. On September 15, 2005, the court granted that motion without prejudice and gave plaintiffs leave to amend their complaint.

As previously reported in our periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, in the first quarter of fiscal 2005, two
derivative lawsuits were filed against certain of our directors and officers based on the same allegations made in the class action lawsuit.
Merix is named as a nominal defendant in these derivative lawsuits, which have now been consolidated. On August 31, 2005, the federal court
hearing the class action lawsuit described above granted a motion to stay discovery in this state-court derivative action. On September 13,
2005, the state court stayed all proceedings in the derivative lawsuit pending further developments in the federal class action lawsuit,
including all proceedings on a motion that defendants filed on July 7, 2005 to dismiss the consolidated shareholder derivative complaint.

ITEM 2. CHANGES IN SECURITIES, USE OF PROCEEDS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Total Number of Maximum Number
Total Shares Purchased as of Shares that May
Number Average Part of Publicly Yet Be Purchased
Of Shares Price Paid Announced Plans Under the Plans
Period Purchased Per Share or Programs or Programs
May 29-June 25, 2005
— $ — — —
June 26-July 23, 2005
925 $6.50 925 -
July 24-August 27, 2005
— $ — — —
Total
925 $6.50 925

The issuer purchases during the period covered by this report represent shares purchased by us in satisfaction of withholding taxes due
upon the vesting of restricted shares granted to our employees under our equity-based compensation plans. The shares are purchased from
employees and the proceeds are remitted to pay the withholding taxes due upon vesting of their restricted stock awards.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
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Entry Into Material Definitive Agreements

The following events occurred subsequent to the quarterly period covered by this Form 10-Q, and are reportable under Item 1.01 of
Form 8-K.

Appointment of New Executive Officer

On September 21, 2005, we entered into an Executive Severance and Noncompetition Agreement and an Indemnity Agreement, each
dated as of September 21, 2005, with Stephen Going, our new Vice President and General Counsel.

Under the Executive Severance Agreement, Mr. Going is eligible to receive a cash payment equal to one year of his annual base salary
and certain other severance benefits upon his termination of employment with Merix for a reason other than cause, death or disability. Mr.
Going is entitled to additional benefits upon a termination of his employment following a change of control of Merix. The agreement also
includes noncompetition, nonsolicitation and confidentiality covenants by Mr. Going in favor of Merix. A copy of this agreement is filed as an
exhibit to this report on Form 10-Q.

Under the Indemnity Agreement, Merix agrees to indemnify Mr. Going for any liability he may incur by reason of his serving as an
executive officer of Merix, including liability under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. A copy of this agreement is filed as an exhibit to
this report on Form 10-Q.

On September 21, 2005, we also entered into a compensation arrangement with Mr. Going pursuant to which he will receive an annual
salary of $180,000 and will be eligible to receive a bonus in an amount equal to 40% of his base salary pursuant to our Executive Incentive
Plan. Upon commencement of his employment, Mr. Going received an option to purchase up to 40,000 shares of our common stock under our
1994 Stock Incentive Plan and is eligible to receive future annual equity grants.

Director Compensation

On October 6, 2005, our Board of Directors approved a fee payment of $60,000 cash to each of Donald D. Jobe and George H.
Kerckhove, directors of Merix, for their services on the Ad Hoc China Acquisition Committee. The aggregate fee amount is payable in four
equal installments, one in respect of each quarter of fiscal year 2006.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

See the Exhibit Index for the exhibits filed as part of this report.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized this 11th day of October, 2005.

MERIX CORPORATION

By: /s/ Janie S. Brown

Janie S. Brown

Sr. Vice President, Chief Financial Officer,
Treasurer and Secretary

(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit

Number

32
10.1

10.2
10.3
10.4
10.5
10.6
10.7

10.8

10.9
10.10
31.1
31.2
32.1
322

EXHIBIT INDEX

Document Description

Articles of Incorporation of the Company, as amended, incorporated by reference to the Company’ s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended May 26, 2001.

Bylaws of the Company, as amended.

Supplemental Agreement dated September 29, 2005, relating to the Master Sale and Purchase Agreement dated as of April 14,
2005.

Loan and Security Agreement dated September 28, 2005.

Credit Agreement dated September 29, 2005.

Promissory Note dated September 29, 2005.

Executive Severance and Noncompetition Agreement between the Company and Stephen Going dated September 21, 2005.
Indemnity Agreement between the Company and Stephen Going dated September 21, 2005.

Executive Severance Agreement between the Company and Thomas R. Ingham dated August 22, 2005 (incorporated by reference
to the Company’ s current report on Form 8-K filed on August 30, 2005).

Indemnity Agreement between the Company and Thomas R. Ingham dated August 22, 2005 (incorporated by reference to the
Company’ s current report on Form 8-K filed on August 30, 2005).

Employee Stock Bonus Agreement

Summary of Executive Compensation

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer.
Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer.

Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer.
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Exhibit 3.2

BYLAWS, AS AMENDED
OF
MERIX CORPORATION
ARTICLE I
SHAREHOLDERS MEETINGS AND VOTING

1.1 Annual Meeting. The annual meeting of the shareholders shall be held on the fourth Friday in September of each year at 9:00 a.m.,
unless a different date or time is fixed by the Board of Directors and stated in the notice of the meeting. Failure to hold an annual meeting on
the stated date shall not affect the validity of any corporate action.

1.2 Special Meetings. Special meetings of the shareholders, for any purposes, unless otherwise prescribed by statute, may be called by
the Chair of the Board or the Board of Directors and shall be called by the Chair of the Board upon the written demand of the holders of not
less than one-tenth of all the votes entitled to be cast on any issue proposed to be considered at the meeting. The demand shall describe the

purposes for which the meeting is to be held and shall be signed, dated and delivered to the Secretary.

1.3 Place of Meetings. Meetings of the shareholders shall be held at any place in or out of Oregon designated by the Board of Directors.
If a meeting place is not designated by the Board of Directors, the meeting shall be held at the Corporation’ s principal office.

1.4 Notice of Meetings. Written or printed notice stating the date, time and place of the shareholders meeting and, in the case of a special
meeting or a meeting for which special notice is required by law, the purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be delivered by the
Corporation to each shareholder entitled to vote at the meeting and, if required by law, to any other shareholders entitled to receive notice, not
earlier than 60 days nor less than 30 days before the meeting date. If mailed, the notice shall be deemed delivered when it is mailed to the
shareholder with postage prepaid at the shareholder’ s address shown in the Corporation’ s record of shareholders. Any previously scheduled
meeting of the shareholders may be postponed and any special meeting of the shareholders may be canceled by resolution of the Board of

Directors upon public announcement given prior to the date previously scheduled for such meeting of shareholders.

1.5 Waiver of Notice. A shareholder may at any time waive any notice required by law, these Bylaws or the Articles of Incorporation.
The waiver shall be in writing, be signed by the shareholder entitled to the notice and be delivered to the Corporation for inclusion in the
minutes for filing with the corporate records. A shareholder’ s attendance at a meeting waives objection to (i) lack of notice or defective notice
of the meeting, unless the shareholder at the beginning of the meeting objects to holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting,

and (ii) consideration of a particular matter at the
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meeting that is not within the purposes described in the meeting notice, unless the shareholder objects to considering the matter when it is
presented.

1.6 Fixing of Record Date. The Board of Directors may fix a future date as the record date to determine the shareholders entitled to
notice of a shareholders meeting, demand a special meeting, vote, take any other action or receive payment of any share or cash dividend or
other distribution. This date shall not be earlier than 70 days or, in the case of a meeting, later than 35 days before the meeting or action
requiring a determination of shareholders. The record date for any meeting, vote or other action of the shareholders shall be the same for all
voting groups. If not otherwise fixed by the Board of Directors, the record date to determine shareholders entitled to notice of and to vote at an
annual or special shareholders meeting is the close of business on the day before the notice is first mailed or otherwise transmitted to
shareholders. If not otherwise fixed by the Board of Directors, the record date to determine shareholders entitled to receive payment of any
share or cash dividend or other distribution is the close of business on the day the Board of Directors authorizes the share or cash dividend or
other distribution.

1.7 Shareholders List for Meeting. After a record date for a meeting is fixed, the Corporation shall prepare an alphabetical list of all
shareholders entitled to notice of the sharcholders meeting. The list shall be arranged by voting group and, within each voting group, by class
or series of shares, and it shall show the address of and number of shares held by each shareholder. The shareholders list shall be available for
inspection by any shareholder, upon proper demand as may be required by law, beginning two business days after notice of the meeting is
given and continuing through the meeting, at the Corporation’ s principal office or at a place identified in the meeting notice in the city where
the meeting will be held. The Corporation shall make the shareholders list available at the meeting, and any shareholder or the shareholder’ s
agent or attorney shall be entitled to inspect the list at any time during the meeting or any adjournment. Refusal or failure to prepare or make
available the shareholders list does not affect the validity of action taken at the meeting.

1.8 Quorum; Adjournment.

(1) Shares entitled to vote as a separate voting group may take action on a matter at a meeting only if a quorum of those shares
exists with respect to that matter. A majority of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter by the voting group constitutes a quorum of that
voting group for action on that matter.

(2) The chair of the meeting or a majority of votes represented at the meeting, whether or not there is a quorum, may adjourn the
meeting from time to time to a different time and place without further notice to any shareholder of any adjournment, except that notice is
required if a new record date is or must be set for the adjourned meeting. At an adjourned meeting at which a quorum is present, any business
may be transacted that might have been transacted at the meeting originally held.

(3) Once a share is represented for any purpose at a meeting, it shall be present for quorum purposes for the remainder of the
meeting and for any adjournment of that meeting unless a new record date is or must be set
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for the adjourned meeting. A new record date must be set if the meeting is adjourned to a date more than 120 days after the date fixed for the

original meeting.

1.9 Voting Requirements; Action Without Meeting.

(1) If a quorum exists, action on a matter, other than the election of directors, by a voting group is approved if the votes cast within
the voting group favoring the action exceed the votes cast opposing the action, unless a greater number of affirmative votes is required by law
or the Articles of Incorporation. Unless otherwise provided in the Articles of Incorporation, directors are elected by a plurality of the votes
cast by the shares entitled to vote in the election at a meeting at which a quorum is present.

(2) Action required or permitted by law to be taken at a shareholders meeting may be taken without a meeting if the action is taken
by all the shareholders entitled to vote on the action. The action must be evidenced by one or more written consents describing the action
taken, signed by all the shareholders entitled to vote on the action and delivered to the Secretary for inclusion in the minutes for filing with the
corporate records. Shareholder action taken by written consent is effective when the last shareholder signs the consent, unless the consent
specifies an earlier or later effective date.

1.10 Proxies. A shareholder may vote shares in person or by proxy. A shareholder may appoint a proxy by signing an appointment form
either personally or by the shareholder’ s attorney-in-fact. An appointment of a proxy is effective when received by the Secretary or other
officer of the Corporation authorized to tabulate votes. An appointment is valid for 11 months unless a different period is provided in the
appointment form. An appointment is revocable by the shareholder unless the appointment form conspicuously states that it is irrevocable and
the appointment is coupled with an interest that has not been extinguished.

1.11 Meeting by Telephone Conference. Shareholders may participate in an annual or special meeting by, or conduct the meeting
through, use of any means of communications by which all shareholders participating may simultaneously hear each other during the meeting,
except that no meeting for which a written notice is sent to shareholders may be conducted by this means unless the notice states that
participation in this manner is permitted and describes how any shareholder desiring to participate in this manner may notify the Corporation.
Participation in a meeting by this means shall constitute presence in person at the meeting.

1.12 Proper Business for Shareholders’ Meeting. To be properly brought before the meeting, business must be either (i) specified in the
notice of meeting (or any supplement thereto) given by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, (ii) otherwise properly brought before a
meeting by or at the direction of the Board of Directors, or (iii) otherwise properly brought before the meeting by a shareholder. In addition to
any other applicable requirements, for business to be properly brought before an annual meeting by a shareholder, the shareholder must have
given timely notice thereof in writing to the
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Secretary of the Corporation. To be timely, a sharcholder’ s notice must be delivered to or mailed and received at the principal executive office
of the Corporation not less than 60 days nor more than 90 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’ s annual meeting; provided,
however, that in the event that the date of the annual meeting is more than 30 days before or more than 60 days after such anniversary date,
notice by the shareholder to be timely must be so received not later than the close of business on the 90th day prior to such annual meeting and
not later than the close of business on the later of the 60th day prior to such annual meeting or the 10th day following the day on which public
announcement of the date of such meeting is first made. In no event shall the public announcement of an adjournment of an annual meeting
commence a new time period for the giving of a shareholders notice as described above. A shareholder’ s notice to the Secretary shall set forth
(i) one or more matters appropriate for shareholder action that the shareholder proposes to bring before the meeting, (ii) a brief description of
the matters desired to be brought before the meeting and the reasons for conducting such business at the meeting, (iii) the name and record
address of the shareholder, (iv) the class and number of shares of the Corporation that the shareholder owns or is entitled to vote and (v) any
material interest of the shareholder in such matters. Notwithstanding anything in these bylaws to the contrary, no business shall be conducted
at the annual meeting except in accordance with the procedure set forth in this Section 1.12; provided, however, that nothing in this

Section 1.12 shall be deemed to preclude discussion by any shareholder of any business properly brought before the annual meeting. The
Chair of the Board, or the President in the absence of the Chair of the Board, shall, if the facts warrant, determine and declare to the meeting
that the business was not properly brought before the meeting in accordance with the provisions of this Section 1.12 and if the Chair of the
Board, or the President in the absence of the Chair of the Board, should so determine, shall so declare to the meeting any such business not
properly brought before the meeting shall not be transacted.

1.13 Shareholder Nomination of Directors.

(1) Not less than 60 days nor more than 90 days prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’ s annual meeting of
shareholders, any shareholder who intends to make a nomination at the annual meeting shall deliver a notice to the Secretary of the
Corporation setting forth (i) as to each nominee whom the shareholder proposes to nominate for election or reelection as a director, (a) the
name, age, business address and residence address of the nominee, (b) the principal occupation or employment of the nominee, (c) the class
and number of shares of capital stock of the Corporation that are beneficially owned by the nominee of shares of capital stock of the
Corporation that are beneficially owned by the nominee and (d) any other information concerning the nominee that would be required, under
the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, in a proxy statement soliciting proxies for the election of such nominee; and (ii) as to
the shareholder giving the notice, (a) the name and record address of the shareholder and (b) the class and number of shares of capital stock of
the Corporation that are beneficially owned by the shareholder; provided, however, that in the event that the date of the annual meeting is
more than 30 days before or more than 60 days after such anniversary date, notice by the shareholder to be timely must be so delivered
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not later than the close of business on the 90th day prior to such annual meeting and not later than the close of business on the later of the 60th
day prior to such annual meeting or the 10th day following the day on which public announcement of the date of such meeting is first made.
Such notice shall include a signed consent to serve as a director of the Corporation, if elected, of each such nominee. The Corporation may
require any proposed nominee to furnish such other information as may reasonably be required by the Corporation to determine the eligibility
of such proposed nominee to serve as a director of the Corporation.

(2) Any shareholder who intends to make a nomination at any special meeting of shareholders held for the purpose of electing
directors shall deliver a timely notice to the Secretary of the Corporation setting forth (i) as to each nominee whom the shareholder proposes to
nominate for election or reelection as a director, (a) the name, age, business address and residence address of the nominee, (b) the principal
occupation or employment of the nominee, (c¢) the class and number of shares of capital stock of the corporation that are beneficially owned
by the nominee of shares of capital stock of the corporation that are beneficially owned by the nominee and (d) any other information
concerning the nominee that would be required, under the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, in a proxy statement soliciting
proxies for the election of such nominee; and (ii) as to the shareholder giving the notice, (a) the name and record address of the shareholder
and (b) the class and number of shares of capital stock of the Corporation that are beneficially owned by the shareholder. To be timely for
these purposes, such notice must be given (i) if given by the shareholder (or any of the shareholders) who or that made a demand for a meeting
pursuant to which such meting is to be held, concurrently with the delivery of such demand, and (ii) otherwise, not later than the close of
business on the 10th day following the date on which the public announcement is first made of the date of the special meeting and of the
nominees proposed by the Board of Directors to be elected at such meeting. Such notice shall include a signed consent to serve as a director of
the Corporation, if elected, of each such nominee. The Corporation may require any proposed nominee to furnish such other information as
may reasonably be required by the Corporation to determine the eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as a director of the Corporation.
In no event shall the public announcement of an adjournment of a special meeting commence a new time period for the giving of a
shareholder’ s notice as described above.

(3) The Chair of the Board, or the President in the absence of the Chair of the Board, shall, if the facts warrant, determine and
declare that a nominee was not properly nominated in accordance with the provisions of this Section 1.13 and if the Chair of the Board, or the
President in the absence of the Chair of the Board, should so determine, shall so declare to the meeting any such nominee shall not be
considered by shareholders.

(4) For purposes of Sections 1.4, 1.12 and 1.13, “public announcement” shall mean disclosure in a press release reported by the
Dow Jones News Service, Associated Press or comparable national news service or in a document publicly filed by the Corporation with the
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13, 14, or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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ARTICLE I

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

2.1 Duties of Board of Directors. All corporate powers of the Corporation shall be exercised by or under the authority of its Board of
Directors; the business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed under the direction of its Board of Directors.

2.2 Number, Term and Qualification. The number of directors of the Corporation shall be at least one and no more than ten. Within this
range, the initial number shall be five, and the number of directors shall otherwise be determined from time to time by the Board of Directors.
The term of a director shall expire at the next annual meeting of shareholders after his or her election. Despite the expiration of a director’ s
term, the director shall continue to serve until the director’ s successor is elected and qualified or the number of directors is decreased.
Directors need not be residents of the State of Oregon or shareholders of the Corporation.

2.3 Regular Meetings. A regular meeting of the Board of Directors shall be held without notice other than this Bylaw immediately after,
and at the same place as, the annual meeting of shareholders. The Board of Directors may provide by resolution the time and place for the
holding of additional regular meetings in or out of Oregon without notice other than the resolution.

2.4 Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board of Directors may be called by or at the request of the Chief Executive Officer or
any two directors. The person or persons authorized to call special meetings of the Board of Directors may fix any place in or out of Oregon as
the place for holding any special meeting of the Board of Directors called by them.

2.5 Notice. Notice of the date, time and place of any special meeting of the Board of Directors shall be given at least 24 hours prior to
the meeting by notice communicated in person or by telephone, telegraph, teletype, facsimile transmission or other form of wire or wireless
communication, mail or courier service sent to directors’ business or home addresses. If written, notice shall be effective at the earliest of
(a) when received, (b) three days after its deposit in the United States mail, as evidenced by the postmark, if mailed postpaid and correctly
addressed, (c) on the date shown on the return receipt, if sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested and the receipt is signed
by or on behalf of the addressee, (d) if given by teletype or facsimile, upon transmission of the message or (e) if given by overnight mail or
courier, one day after delivery to the overnight mail or courier service company. Notice by all other means shall be deemed effective when
received by or on behalf of the director. Notice of any regular or special meeting need not describe the purposes of the meeting unless required
by law or the Articles of Incorporation.

2.6 Waiver of Notice. A director may at any time waive any notice required by law, these Bylaws or the Articles of Incorporation.
Except as set forth below, the waiver must be in writing, be signed by the director entitled to the notice, specify the meeting for which notice
is waived and be filed with the minutes or corporate records. A director’ s attendance at or participation in a meeting waives any required
notice to the director of the meeting unless the director at the beginning of the meeting, or promptly upon the director’ s arrival, objects to
holding the meeting or transacting business at the meeting and does not thereafter vote for or assent to action taken at the meeting.
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2.7 Quorum. A majority of the number of directors set forth in Section 2.2 of these Bylaws shall constitute a quorum for the transaction
of business at any meeting of the Board of Directors. If less than a quorum is present at a meeting, a majority of the directors present may
adjourn the meeting from time to time without further notice.

2.8 Manner of Acting. The act of the majority of the directors present at a meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the
Board of Directors, unless a different number is provided by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws.

2.9 Meeting by Telephone Conference; Action Without Meeting.

(1) Directors may participate in a regular or special meeting by, or conduct the meeting through, use of any means of
communications by which all directors participating may simultaneously hear each other during the meeting. Participation in a meeting by this
means shall constitute presence in person at the meeting.

(2) Any action that is required or permitted to be taken at a meeting of the Board of Directors may be taken without a meeting if
one or more written consents describing the action taken are signed by all of the directors entitled to vote on the matter and included in the
minutes or filed with the corporate records reflecting the action taken. The action shall be effective when the last director signs the consent,
unless the consent specifies an earlier or later effective date.

2.10 Vacancies. Any vacancy on the Board of Directors, including a vacancy resulting from an increase in the number of directors, may
be filled by the shareholders, the Board of Directors, the remaining directors if less than a quorum (by the vote of a majority thereof) or by a
sole remaining director. Any vacancy not filled by the directors shall be filled by election at an annual meeting or at a special meeting of
shareholders called for that purpose. A vacancy that will occur at a specified later date, by reason of a resignation or otherwise, may be filled
before the vacancy occurs, but the new director may not take office until the vacancy occurs.

2.11 Compensation. By resolution of the Board of Directors, the directors may be paid reasonable compensation for services as directors
and their expenses of attending meetings of the Board of Directors.

2.12 Presumption of Assent. A director who is present at a meeting of the Board of Directors or a committee of the Board of Directors
shall be deemed to have assented to the action taken at the meeting unless (a) the director’ s dissent or abstention from the action is entered in
the minutes of the meeting, (b) the director delivers a written notice of dissent or abstention to the action to the presiding officer of the
meeting before any adjournment or to the Corporation immediately after the adjournment of the meeting or (c) the director objects at the
beginning of the meeting or promptly upon the director’ s arrival to the holding of the meeting or transacting business at the meeting. The right
to dissent or abstain is not available to a director who voted in favor of the action.
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2.13 Removal. The shareholders may remove one or more directors with cause, only if such removal is approved by a vote of the holders
of two-thirds of the votes entitled to be case on the matter, at a meeting called expressly for that purpose.

2.14 Resignation. Any director may resign by delivering written notice to the Board of Directors, its chair or the Corporation. Unless the
notice specifies a later effective date, a resignation notice shall be effective upon the earlier of (a) receipt, (b) five days after its deposit in the
United States mails, if mailed postpaid and correctly addressed, or (¢) on the date shown on the return receipt, if sent by registered or certified
mail, return receipt requested, and the receipt is signed by addressee. Once delivered, a resignation notice is irrevocable unless revocation is
permitted by the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE III

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD

3.1 Committees. The Board of Directors may create one or more committees and appoint members of the Board of Directors to serve on
them. Each committee shall have two or more members. The creation of a committee and appointment of members to it must be approved by a
majority of all directors in office when the action is taken. Subject to any limitation imposed by the Board of Directors or by law, each
committee may exercise all the authority of the Board of Directors in the management of the Corporation. A committee may not take any
action that a committee is prohibited from taking by the Oregon Business Corporation Act.

3.2 Changes of Size and Function. Subject to the provisions of law, the Board of Directors shall have the power at any time to change
the number of committee members, fill committee vacancies, change any committee members and change the functions and terminate the

existence of a committee.
3.3 Conduct of Meetings. Each committee shall conduct its meetings in accordance with the applicable provisions of these Bylaws
relating to meetings and action without meetings of the Board of Directors. Each committee shall adopt any further rules regarding its conduct,

keep minutes and other records and appoint subcommittees and assistants as it deems appropriate.

3.4 Compensation. By resolution of the Board of Directors, committee members may be paid reasonable compensation for services on

committees and their expenses of attending committee meetings.
ARTICLE IV
OFFICERS
4.1 Appointment. The Board of Directors at its first meeting following its election each year shall appoint a Chair of the Board of

Directors (“‘Chair of the Board”), a President and a Secretary. The Board of Directors or the Chair of the Board may appoint any other
officers, assistant officers and agents. Any two or more offices may be held by the same person.
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4.2 Compensation. The Corporation may pay its officers reasonable compensation for their services as fixed from time to time by the
Board of Directors or by the Chair of the Board with respect to officers appointed by the Chair of the Board.

4.3 Term. The term of office of all officers commences upon their appointment and continues until their successors are appointed or until
their resignation or removal.

4.4 Removal. Any officer or agent appointed by the Board of Directors or the Chair of the Board may be removed by the Board of
Directors at any time with or without cause. Any officer or agent appointed by the Chair of the Board may be removed by the Chair of the
Board at any time with or without cause.

4.5 Chair of the Board. The Chair of the Board shall be the chief executive officer of the Corporation and, subject to the control of the
Board of Directors, shall in general supervise and control all of the business and affairs of the Corporation. The Chair of the Board may
execute in behalf of the Corporation all contracts, agreements, stock certificates and other instruments. The Chair of the Board shall from time
to time report to the Board of Directors all matters within the Chair of the Board” s knowledge which should be brought to the attention of the
Board of Directors. The Chair of the Board shall vote all shares of stock in other corporations owned by the Corporation, and shall be
empowered to execute proxies, waivers of notice, consents and other instruments in the name of the Corporation with respect to such stock.
The Chair of the Board shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and shall perform any duties and responsibilities prescribed from
time to time by the Board of Directors.

4.6 President. The President shall be the chief operating officer of the Corporation and shall supervise the operations of the Corporation,
subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors and the Chair of the Board. The President shall have any other duties and responsibilities
prescribed by the Board of Directors.

4.7 Vice Presidents. Each Vice President shall perform duties and responsibilities prescribed by the Board of Directors or the Chair of
the Board. The Board of Directors or the Chair of the Board may confer a special title upon a Vice President.

4.8 Secretary.

(1) The Secretary shall record and keep the minutes of all meetings of the directors and shareholders in one or more books
provided for that purpose and perform any duties prescribed by the Board of Directors or the Chair of the Board.

(2) Any assistant secretary shall have the duties prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors, the Chair of the Board or
the Secretary. In the absence or disability of the Secretary, the Secretary’ s duties shall be performed by an assistant secretary.

4.9 Chief Financial Officer. The Chief Financial Officer shall have charge and custody and be responsible for all funds and securities of
the Corporation and shall have other duties as prescribed from time to time by the Board of Directors, the Chair of the Board or the President.
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ARTICLE V
INDEMNIFICATION

The Corporation shall indemnify to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, any current or former director or officer of the Corporation
who is made, or threatened to be made, a party to an action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, investigative or other
(including an action, suit or proceeding by or in the right of the Corporation) by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director, officer,
employee or agent of the Corporation or a fiduciary within the meaning of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 with respect
to any employee benefit plan of the Corporation, or serves or served at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent,
or as a fiduciary of an employee benefit plan, of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise. The Corporation shall
pay for or reimburse the reasonable expenses incurred by any such current or former director or officer in any such proceeding in advance of
the final disposition of the proceeding if the person sets forth in writing (i) the person’ s good faith belief that the person is entitled to
indemnification under this Article and (ii) the person’ s agreement to repay all advances if it is ultimately determined that the person is not
entitled to indemnification. No amendment to these Bylaws that limits the Corporation’ s obligation to indemnify any person shall have any
effect on such obligation for any act or omission that occurs prior to the later to occur of the effective date of the amendment or the date notice
of the amendment is given to the person. This Article shall not be deemed exclusive of any other provisions for indemnification or
advancement of expenses of directors, officers, employees, agents and fiduciaries that may be included in the Articles of Incorporation or any
statute, agreement, general or specific action of the Board of Directors, vote of shareholders or other document or arrangement.

11
ARTICLE VI
ISSUANCE OF SHARES

6.1 Adequacy of Consideration. Before the Corporation issues shares, the Board of Directors shall determine that the consideration
received or to be received for the shares to be issued is adequate. The authorization by the Board of Directors of the issuance of shares for
stated consideration shall evidence a determination by the Board that such consideration is adequate.

6.2 Certificates for Shares.

(1) Certificates representing shares of the Corporation shall be in any form determined by the Board of Directors consistent with
the requirements of the Oregon Business Corporation Act and these Bylaws. The certificates shall be signed, either manually or in facsimile,
by two officers of the Corporation, at least one of whom shall be the Chair of the Board, the President or a Vice President, and may be sealed
with the seal of the Corporation, if any, or a facsimile thereof. All certificates for shares shall be consecutively numbered or otherwise
identified. The signatures of officers upon a certificate may be facsimiles if the certificate is countersigned by a transfer agent or any assistant
transfer agent or registered by a registrar, other than the Corporation itself or an employee of the Corporation.
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(2) Every certificate for shares of stock that are subject to any restriction on transfer or registration of transfer pursuant to the
Articles of Incorporation, the Bylaws, securities laws, a shareholders agreement or any agreement to which the Corporation is a party shall
have conspicuously noted on the face or back of the certificate either the full text of the restriction or a statement of the existence of the
restriction and that the Corporation retains a copy of the full text. Every certificate issued when the Corporation is authorized to issue more
than one class or series within a class of shares shall set forth on its face or back either (a) a summary of the designations, relative rights,
preferences and limitations of the shares of each class and the variations in rights, preferences and limitations for each series authorized to be
issued and the authority of the Board of Directors to determine variations for future series or (b) a statement of the existence of those
designations, relative rights, preferences and limitations and a statement that the Corporation will furnish a copy thereof to the holder of the
certificate upon written request and without charge.

(3) All certificates surrendered to the Corporation for transfer shall be canceled. The Corporation shall not issue a new certificate
for previously issued shares until the former certificate or certificates for those shares are surrendered and canceled; except that in case of a
lost, destroyed or mutilated certificate, a new certificate may be issued on terms prescribed by the Board of Directors.

6.3 Transfer Agent and Registrar. The Board of Directors may from time to time appoint one or more transfer agents and one or more
registrars for the shares of the Corporation, with powers and duties determined by the Board of Directors.

6.4 Officer Ceasing to Act. If the person who signed a share certificate, either manually or in facsimile, no longer holds office when the
certificate is issued, the certificate is nevertheless valid.

ARTICLE VII
CONTRACTS, LOANS, CHECKS AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS

7.1 Contracts. Except as otherwise provided by law, the Board of Directors may authorize any officers or agents to execute and deliver
any contract or other instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Corporation, and this authority may be general or confined to specific
instances.

7.2 Loans. The Corporation shall not borrow money and no evidence of indebtedness shall be issued in its name unless authorized by the
Board of Directors. This authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

7.3 Checks, Drafts, Etc. All checks, drafts or other orders for the payment of money and notes or other evidences of indebtedness issued
in the name of the Corporation shall be signed in the manner and by the officers or agents of the Corporation designated by the Board of
Directors.

7.4 Deposits. All funds of the Corporation not otherwise employed shall be deposited to the credit of the Corporation in those banks,
trust companies or other depositaries as the Board of Directors or officers of the Corporation designated by the Board of Directors select, or be
invested as authorized by the Board of Directors.

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

ARTICLE VIII
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

8.1 Severability. A determination that any provision of these Bylaws is for any reason inapplicable, invalid, illegal or otherwise
ineffective shall not affect or invalidate any other provision of these Bylaws.

8.2 Amendments. These Bylaws may be amended or repealed and new Bylaws may be adopted by the Board of Directors or the
shareholders of the Corporation.

Adopted: March 30, 1994

Amended: July 22, 1994
September 23, 1996
March 25, 1997

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

DATE

07/22/
94

09/23/
96

3/25/97

SECTIONS

Art. I, Section 1.1

Art. I, Sections 1.2, 1.12 and 1.13

Art. II, Sections 2.9 and 2.14

MERIX CORPORATION

BYLAW AMENDMENTS

COMMENT

Changed Date of Annual Meeting

Changed Chairman to Chair

Art. IV, Sections 4.1,4.2,4.4,4.5,4.6,4.7,4.8(1) and (2) and

4.9
Art. VI, Section 6.2(1)

Art. I, Sections 1.4, 1.8(2), 1.12, 1.13(1), (2) and (4) Clarified meeting procedures and notice requirements

Art. II, Section 2.5
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Exhibit 10.1

DATED 29 SEPTEMBER 2005

EASTERN PACIFIC CIRCUITS HOLDINGS LIMITED

AND

MERIX CORPORATION

SUPPLEMENTAL
AGREEMENT
RELATING TO

THE MASTER SALE AND
PURCHASE
AGREEMENT
dated 14 April 2005

Baker & McKenzie
14th Floor Hutchison
House
Hong Kong

Telephone:
(852) 2846-1888
Fax: (852) 2845-0476
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THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT is made on 29 September 2005
BETWEEN:

(1) EASTERN PACIFIC CIRCUITS HOLDINGS LIMITED, a company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands, whose
registered office is at Century Yard, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681GT, George Town, Grand Cayman, British West
Indies (the “Seller”); and

(2) MERIX CORPORATION, a company incorporated in the State of Oregon, whose registered office is at 1521 Poplar Lane, P.O. Box
3000, F4-234, Forest Grove, OR 97116, United States of America (the “Buyer”).

RECITALS:

(A) By amaster sale and purchase agreement dated 14 April 2005, as varied by letter agreements dated 28 July 2005 and 16 September 2005
(the “SPA”) between the Seller and the Buyer, the Seller has agreed to sell and the Buyer has agreed to acquire certain businesses and
assets/shares of certain subsidiaries directly and indirectly owned by the Seller, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set out in
the SPA (the “Acquisition™).

(B) As at the date hereof, Completion of the Acquisition has not taken place. Prior to Completion, the Seller and the Buyer have agreed to
amend certain terms of the SPA on the terms and subject to the conditions set out herein.

THE PARTIES AGREE as follows:
1. INTERPRETATION
1.1 Capitalised terms used, but not defined, herein shall have the meaning given to them in the SPA.

1.2 The provisions of Clauses 1.2.5, 1.2.7 and 1.4 of the SPA shall apply mutatis mutandis to the terms of this Supplemental Agreement.
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2.1

2.2

23

3.1

32

33

34

3.5

AMENDMENTS TO THE SPA

It is agreed by the parties hereto that, with effect from the date of this Supplemental Agreement (the “Effective Date™) the SPA shall be
amended and restated by the terms of the Amended and Restated Master Sale and Purchase Agreement in the form set out in the Annex
to this Supplemental Agreement.

The Seller and the Buyer hereby confirm that the accrued rights and obligations of the parties under the terms of the SPA remain in full
force and effect following the execution of this Supplemental Agreement and that, save as amended by this Supplemental Agreement,
the terms of the SPA will remain in full force and effect from the Effective Date.

Nothing in this Supplemental Agreement shall reduce or limit any right of the Seller or the Buyer or any liability of the Seller or the
Buyer under the SPA.

GENERAL

This Supplemental Deed may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties on separate counterparts which when
taken together shall be deemed to constitute one instrument. The parties agree that the execution of this Supplemental Agreement may be
effected by the exchange of facsimile signature pages, with the exchange of the executed originals as soon as reasonably possible
thereafter.

Neither party shall assign, transfer or in any other way alienate any of its rights under this Supplemental Agreement whether in whole or
in part without the prior written consent of the other party.

A variation of this Supplemental Agreement is only valid if it is in writing and signed by or on behalf of each party.

Any notice or other communication under or in connection with this Supplemental Agreement shall be served in accordance with Clause
28 of the SPA.

If any provision or part of a provision of this Supplemental Agreement shall be, or be found by any authority or court of competent
jurisdiction to be, invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect the other provisions or parts of such
provisions of this Supplemental Agreement, all of which shall remain in full force and effect.
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3.6 No failure of a party to exercise, and no delay or forbearance in exercising, any right or remedy in respect of any provision of this
Supplemental Agreement shall operate as a waiver of such right or remedy.

4. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

This Supplemental Agreement is governed by the laws of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’ s Republic of
China. Any dispute arising under this Supplemental Agreement shall be resolved in accordance with Clause 29 of the SPA.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this Supplemental Agreement on the date first above written.

Signed by NG LAK CHUAN

and WILLIAM HO duly authorised /s/ NG LAK CHUAN
representatives of EASTERN PACIFIC )
CIRCUITS HOLDINGS LIMITED

/s/  WILLIAM HO

)
)
)
Signed by MARK R. HOLLINGER,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and /s/ MARK R. HOLLINGER
a duly authorised representative of )
MERIX CORPORATION )
)
)
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ANNEX

Form of Amended and Restated Master Sale and Purchase Agreement
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DATED 14 APRIL 2005

EASTERN PACIFIC CIRCUITS HOLDINGS LIMITED

AND

MERIX CORPORATION

AMENDED AND RESTATED
MASTER SALE AND PURCHASE AGREEMENT

Baker & McKenzie, Hong Kong
14th Floor, Hutchison House
10 Harcourt Road
Hong Kong
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B&M comments: 28 September 2005

THIS AGREEMENT is made on 14 April 2005

BETWEEN:

(M

EASTERN PACIFIC CIRCUITS HOLDINGS LIMITED, a company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands, whose
registered office is at Century Yard, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681GT, George Town, Grand Cayman, British West
Indies (the “Seller”); and

2) MERIX CORPORATION, a company incorporated in the State of Oregon, whose registered office is at 1521 Poplar Lane, P.O.
Box 3000, F4-234, Forest Grove, OR 97116, United States of America (the “Buyer”).

RECITALS:

(A) Each of the companies listed in part 1 of schedule 1 (the “Business Sellers”), Eastern Pacific Circuits (Cayman) Limited (“EPC
Cayman”), a company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands, and Eastern Pacific Circuits Limited (“EPCL”), a
company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands, is a direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Seller.

(B) EPC Cayman is the beneficial owner of all of the issued shares in the capital of Eastern Pacific Circuits Investments Limited
(“EPCI HK”), a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong, and EPCL is the registered holder and beneficial owner of all
of the issued shares in the capital of Eastern Pacific Circuits Investments (Singapore) Pte Ltd (“EPCI Singapore’), a company
incorporated under the laws of Singapore.

©) The Seller has agreed to procure (a) the sale by each of the Business Sellers of its business and assets, (b) the sale by EPC Cayman

of all of the issued shares in the capital of EPCI HK (the “HK Shares™) and (c) the sale by EPCL of all of the issued shares in the
capital of EPCI Singapore (the “Singapore Shares”), in each case on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this
Agreement.

THE PARTIES AGREE as follows:

1.

1.1

INTERPRETATION
In this Agreement:
“Accepting Employees -HK” has the meaning set forth in clause 17.2.4;

“Accounts Receivable” means, in relation to each Business, all the book and trade debts, notes, receivables and other debts and
amounts owing to the relevant Business Seller in connection with the relevant Business (and whether or not yet due and payable) at
Completion (including, without limitation, trade debts, deposits, prepayments, retrospective rebates and overpayments) all rights in

relation thereto and the benefit of all guarantees or other security in respect thereof and interest thereon;
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“Acquiring Buyer Company” has the meaning set forth in clause 11.1.2;

“Actual Closing Cash Amount” means the aggregate amount of the bank balances, cash, cash on deposit, short-term securities and
investment accounts, including amounts for which cheques have been received by the relevant member of the EPCI HK Group and
the EPCI Singapore Group or deposited in the bank accounts of the relevant member of the EPCI HK Group and the EPCI
Singapore Group for which cheques have not cleared the drawer’ s bank accounts at Completion and which were collected prior to
the delivery of the Completion Statement, of each member of the EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore Group as at the close of
business on the day immediately before the Completion Date provided that there shall be deducted from such aggregate amount
amounts for which cheques have been written by the relevant member of the EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore Group, which
cheques have not cleared the bank account as of Completion;

“Actual Adjusted 2005 EBITDA” means the audited consolidated profit before taxation, interest, depreciation and amortisation in
respect of each Business and each member of the EPCI HK Group and EPCI Singapore Group for the financial year ended

31 December 2005 less all payments made or accrued in respect of capital leases (as defined in HK GAAP) determined in
accordance with clause 8.3 and adjusted in accordance with Part A of schedule 14;

“Amount Claimed” has the meaning set out in clause 7.1.1;
“Approval” has the meaning set forth in paragraph 8 of Schedule 3;

“Assumed Liabilities” means all Liabilities of the Business Sellers as at Completion (including accounts payable) in connection
with the relevant Business and/or the Business Assets, including, without limitation, those Liabilities set out in part 4 of schedule 1
and excluding the Excluded Liabilities;

“Auditors” means PricewaterhouseCoopers, the auditors of the Group and the Buyer;
“Available Records” has the meaning set out in clause 21.1;

“Borrowings” means all sums outstanding under (a) the credit agreement dated 10 August 2000 (as amended and supplemented
from time to time) between, inter alia, (i) Eastern Pacific Circuits Limited (formerly known as Pacific Circuits Limited) as parent
borrower, (ii) Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Ltd (formerly known as Wong’ s Circuits Limited) as subsidiary borrower, (iii) Standard
Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited as administrative agent and a group of lenders, pursuant to which the lenders agreed to
provide US$150,000,000 to Eastern Pacific Circuits Limited and Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Limited; and (b) a facility agreement
dated 28 April 2004 between Eastern Pacific Investments (Singapore) Pte Limited and Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong)
Limited as administrative agent, and a group of lenders pursuant to
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which the lenders agreed to provide a US$5,100,000 facility to Eastern Pacific Circuits Investments (Singapore) Pte Limited, being
all interest bearing borrowings and Indebtedness in the nature of borrowings of the Group from financial institutions;

“Business” means, in relation to each Business Seller, the business carried on by that Business Seller as at Completion, and
excluding only the Excluded Assets;

“Business Assets” means, in relation to each Business, all the property, undertaking, benefits, title, rights and assets of the relevant
Business Seller, including, without limitation, the categories of assets set out in part 2 of schedule 1 and excluding only the
Excluded Assets;

“Business Claims” means the benefit of all rights and claims arising from, or coming into existence as a result of, the carrying on of
any Business by a Business Seller whether arising on, prior to or after Completion, other than rights and claims relating to the
Excluded Assets or the Excluded Liabilities;

“Business Goodwill” means the goodwill relating to each Business, together with the right for the Buyer or relevant Buyer’ s Group
Company to represent itself as carrying on that Business in succession to the relevant Business Seller;

“Business IP” means, in relation to each Business, the Intellectual Property owned by the relevant Business Seller which is used in
connection with the Business;

“Business Contracts” means, in relation to each Business Seller, all the contracts, engagements, licences, guarantees, sale and
purchase orders and other commitments relating to the relevant Business at Completion, which have been entered into or undertaken
by or on behalf of, or the benefit of which are held on trust for or have been assigned to, that Business Seller which in any case are
current uncompleted or unperformed or in respect of which that Business Seller has any rights, claims, benefits entitlements,
Liabilities or obligations relating to the Business, including the Business Insurance Policies, the Hong Kong Lease (provided that
consent of assignment of the Hong Kong Lease is obtained from the Hong Kong Science and Technology Park Corporation) and
agreements or other documents relating to ownership or occupation of the Business Properties, but excluding all employment
contracts;

“Business Day” means a day other than a Saturday or Sunday or public holiday in Hong Kong, Canada, Singapore, the Cayman
Islands or the United States of America;

“Business Insurance Policies” means the insurance policies set out in part 8 of schedule 1;

“Business Motor Vehicles” means, in relation to each Business, the motor vehicles owned by the relevant Business Seller and used
by it for the purposes of that Business;
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“Business Plant and Equipment” means, in relation to each Business, all the loose plant, machinery, equipment, tooling and
furniture of the relevant Business Seller (not being business fixtures and fittings forming part of the Business Properties) used for
the purposes of that Business;

“Business Properties” means the properties owned by and occupied by the Business Sellers, details of which are set out in part 6A
of schedule 1;

“Business Records” means, in relation to each Business, any lists of present and former customers and suppliers, business plans
and forecasts, notices, enquiries, orders, correspondence, computer disks, tapes or other machine readable or other records of a
financial or marketing nature to the extent that they relate to the Business and are owned by the Business Seller but excluding any of
the foregoing to the extent that they are Excluded Assets;

“Business Sellers” has the meaning set forth in Recital (A);

“Business Tax” means, all forms of taxation, deductions, withholdings, duties, imposts, levies, fees, charges and rates imposed,
levied, collected, withheld or assessed by any Government Authority and any interest, additional taxation penalty, surcharge or fine
in connection therewith payable by any Business Seller relating to the use and ownership of the Business Assets and the operation of
the Business prior to the Completion Date;

“Buyer MPF Scheme” means the mandatory provident fund scheme established by the Buyer or the relevant Buyer’ s Group
Company for its Hong Kong employees;

“Buyer Obligation” means any representation, warranty or undertaking to indemnify given by the Buyer to the Seller under this
Agreement or any of the Other Documents;

“Buyer’ s Completion Documents” has the meaning set out in clause 11.1.4;

“Buyer’ s Group” means the Buyer or a company which is its ultimate parent company and each subsidiary of the Buyer and of its
ultimate parent company from time to time and includes, for the avoidance of doubt, after Completion, each of EPCI HK, EPCI
Singapore and their subsidiaries, and “Buyer’ s Group Company” means any one of them;

“Canadian Property” means all of Eastern Pacific Circuits (Canada) Limited’ s rights, title and interest in the property situated at
Units 37, 38 and 39, Level 1, York Region Condominium Corporation No. 711, 145 Royal Crest Court, Markham, Ontario, Canada;

“Cash” means, in relation to each Business, all cash (including cash in-hand and cash at bank), cash on deposit and short-term

securities and investment accounts held by the relevant Business Seller for the purposes of the Business;
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“Closing Working Capital” means Working Capital as at the Completion Date;

“Completion” means completion of the sale and purchase of the Businesses, the Business Assets, the HK Shares and the Singapore
Shares in accordance with this Agreement;

“Completion Date” means the later of: (i) 15 June 2005; and (ii) the date which is five (5) Business Days after the date on which
the last of the Conditions is satisfied or waived provided that this date shall not be earlier than the date which is 60 days after the
date on which the Condition in clause 4.1.1(a) is satisfied or waived or such other date as may be agreed by both parties in writing;

“Completion Statement” has the meaning set out in clause 6.1;
“Condition” means a condition set out in clause 4.1 and “Conditions” means all those conditions;
“Consent” has the meaning set out in clause 16.3;

“Costs” means obligations, Liabilities, losses, damages, costs (including reasonable legal costs) and expenses (including interest

and Tax), actions, proceedings, claims, demands, penalties and compensation awards in each case of any nature whatsoever;

“Debt Amount” means the Borrowings of the Group on the Completion Date, as determined by the Lenders and notified in writing
to the parties no later than three (3) Business Days before the Completion Date and, for the avoidance of doubt, such amount shall
be expressed in USS$;

“Deduction” has the meaning set out in clause 7.1.1;
“Defaulting Party” has the meaning set out in clause 5.4;

“Desay Land Premium Payment” means 50% of RMB5,915,133 being the amount payable to EMNTEREEBRAF
(Desay) pursuant to the contribution of the land use right agreement dated 18 November 2004 between Eastern Pacific Circuits
Investments (Singapore) Pte Limited, 5‘}‘“ Tﬁ%*% E] ;ﬁ R4 7] (Desay) and Eastern Pacific Circuits (Huiyang) Ltd

(%6 {6 B i ( Ly ) AR A) in respect of the transfer by EMNTEREMBRLA (Desay) of the land to Eastern
Pacific Circuits (Huiyang) Ltd. by way of capital contribution less the aggregate of any instalment payments made by Eastern
Pacific Circuits (Huiyang) Ltd to EMNTEREMERLA (Desay) during the period from and including 1 January 2005 up
to and including the Completion Date provided that where this results in a negative figure then, for the purposes of clause 6.6.1, the
negative amount shall be added to the Closing Working Capital rather than subtracted from the Closing Working Capital;
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“Disclosed” means referred to in the Disclosure Letter;
“Disclosed Financial Statements” has the meaning given to it in paragraph 6.2 of schedule 3;
“Disclosure Letter” means a letter of the date hereof from the Seller to the Buyer making disclosures in respect of the Warranties;

“EA Transferring Employees - Singapore” means the Transferring Employees-Singapore who fall within the ambit of the
Singapore Employment Act;

“Earnout Statement” has the meaning set out in clause 8.1;
“EBITDA Earnout Consideration” shall be determined in accordance with clause 8.4;

“Encumbrance” means a lien, charge, pledge, any interest or equity of any persons (including, without limitation, any right to
acquire, option or right of pre-emption) and any charge, pledge, mortgage, security interest, assignment, power of sale or other
encumbrance or right exercisable by a third party (whether or not perfected) having similar effect but excluding the Permitted

Encumbrances;

“Environmental Laws” means any statute, ordinance, regulation, rule, policy, interpretation, guideline or decree (including consent
decrees, guidance documents and administrative orders) in effect as of Completion, applicable to any Target Group Company, its
business, or the real property from which it conducts its business, enacted or promulgated by any Government Authority having
jurisdiction over any Target Group Company for the activities it conducts that (i) regulates the exposure to, the amount, form,
presence, emission, discharge, release, threat of release, processing, use, treatment, storage, disposal, handling, generation or
production of any hazardous substance, including any permit, license, approval, consent or authorization required therefor;

(i1) requires any reporting or dissemination of or access to information regarding hazardous substances, including warnings or

notices to employees; or (iii) relates to or addresses human health or safety, including occupational health and safety;
“EPC Cayman” has the meaning set forth in Recital (A);

“EPCI HK” has the meaning set forth in Recital (B);

“EPCI HK Group” means EPCI HK, Eastern Pacific Circuits (Dongguan) Ltd and Lomber Circuits (Huizhou) Limited;

“EPCI Singapore” has the meaning set forth in Recital (B);
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“EPCI Singapore Group” means EPCI Singapore, Eastern Pacific Circuits (Huiyang) Limited and Eastern Pacific Circuits
(Huizhou) Limited;

“EPCL” has the meaning set forth in Recital (A);

“Estimated Closing Cash Amount” means the aggregate amount estimated by the Seller of the bank balances, cash, cash on
deposit, short-term securities and investment accounts, including amounts for which cheques have been received by the relevant
member of the EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore Group or deposited in the bank accounts of the relevant member of the
EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore Group which cheques have not cleared the drawer’ s bank accounts, of each member of the
EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore Group as at the close of business on the day immediately before the Completion Date
provided that there shall be deducted from such aggregate amount amounts for which cheques have been written by the relevant
member of the EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore Group, which cheques have not cleared the bank account as of Completion;

“Event” means an event, act, transaction or omission including, without limitation, a receipt or accrual of income or gains,

distribution, failure to distribute, acquisition, disposal, transfer, payment, loan or advance;
“Excluded Assets” means the assets set out in part 3 of schedule 1;
“Excluded Liabilities” means the liabilities set out in part 5 of schedule 1;

“Expert” means an independent firm of chartered accountants mutually appointed by the parties hereto or by the President of the
Hong Kong Society of Accountants for the time being, as the case may be, in accordance with clause 6.3 and/or clause 8.5;

“Financial Statements” means the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for each of the financial years ended
31 December 2004, 31 December 2003, 31 December 2002 and 31 December 2001 (such financial statements including without
limitation, in each case a balance sheet, profit and loss account and cash flow statement together with the notes thereon);

“Fundamental Warranty” means a statement contained in paragraphs 1, 2, 2A, 3, 4 and 5.2 in schedule 3 and “Fundamental
Warranties” means all those statements;

“Fundamental Warranty Cap” means at any given time, the liability cap determined in accordance with the table set out in Part 1
of Schedule 9 by reference to the relevant Total Consideration set out in Column 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 9 on the relevant date
referred to in sub-columns 2(a), (b), (¢) or (d) of Part 1 of Schedule 9;

“Fundamental Warranty Claim” means a claim by the Buyer under or pursuant to the provisions of clause 9.1 in respect of any
Fundamental Warranty;
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“FY2003 Audited Accounts” means the Financial Statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2003;
“FY2004 Audited Accounts” means the Financial Statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2004;

“FY2004 EBITDA” means the audited consolidated profit before taxation, interest, depreciation and amortisation of the Group for
the financial year ended 31 December 2004 and derived from the FY2004 Audited Accounts, adjusted to add back all costs and
expenses relating to or incurred in connection with the restructuring of the Debt Amount;

“FY2004 Working Capital” means the Working Capital as at 31 December 2004, derived from the FY2004 Audited Accounts;

“FY2005 Monthly Management Accounts” means the unaudited consolidated monthly management accounts of the Group,
together with the notes thereon (if any), and the consolidation worksheets of the Group for the period from 1 January 2005 to the last
day of the calendar month immediately preceding the Completion Date, provided that if the Completion Date is less than four

(4) weeks after the end of any calendar month, then the unaudited consolidated monthly management accounts of the Group together
with the notes thereon (if any) and the consolidation worksheets of the Group shall be delivered in respect of the period from

1 January 2005 to the last day of the calendar month immediately preceding such month end;

“General Claim Cap” means at any given time, the liability cap determined in accordance with the table set out in Part 2 of
Schedule 9 by reference to the relevant Total Consideration set out in Column 1 of Part 2 of Schedule 9 on the relevant date referred
to in sub-columns 2(a), (b) or (c) of Part 2 of Schedule 9;

“Government Authority” means any nation or government, any state, municipality, or other political subdivision thereof, and any
agency, bureau, board commission, department or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory, administrative
or other similar functions;

“Group” means EPCL and each of its subsidiaries and “Group Company” means any one of them;
“HK GAAP” means the generally accepted accounting standards, principles and practices applicable in Hong Kong;
“HK Shares” has the meaning set forth in Recital (C);

“HKIAC” has the meaning set out in clause 29.2;
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“Hong Kong” means the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’ s Republic of China;

“Hong Kong Lease” means the lease for the property situated at Section F of Tseung Kwan O Town Lot No. 39 and Extensions
thereto, New Territories, Hong Kong dated 17 July 2000 between The Hong Kong Science and Technology Park Corporation and
Eastern Pacific Circuits Property Limited, as amended;

“Indebtedness” means, in relation to the Target Group, any borrowings and indebtedness (including by way of acceptance credits,
finance leases, loan stocks, bonds, debentures, notes, debt or inventory financing or sale and lease back arrangements, overdrafts or
any other arrangements the purpose of which is to borrow money) owed to any banking, financial, acceptance credit, lending or

other similar institution or organisation and any institutional investor which is not another member of the Target Group;
“Initial Consideration” has the meaning set forth in clause 3.1;

“Intellectual Property” means (a) all patents, trademarks, service marks, logos, and corporate names registered designs,
applications and rights to apply for any of those rights, internet domain names, copyrights and unregistered trade marks and service
marks; (b) research and development information, financial, marketing and business data, pricing and costs information, trade
secrets and confidential business information; and (c) the right to sue for past infringements of any of the foregoing rights;

“Intellectual Property Rights” means the all Intellectual Property owned or used by the Target Group (including the Business IP);

“Intra-Group Indebtedness” means all outstanding amounts owing immediately prior to Completion to or from the Target Group,
on the one hand, and the EPC Group (which for the purposes of this definition shall mean the Seller’ s Group excluding the Target
Group) on the other hand;

“Inventory” means, in relation to each Business, all raw materials, supplies, work in progress, parts and components and finished
goods held, used or owned by the relevant Business Seller at Completion;

“Law” means any law, rule, regulation, order, writ, judgment, decree, injunction, determination or award,
“Lenders” means the financial institutions to which the Borrowings are owed,

“Liabilities” means all liabilities, duties and obligations of every description, whether deriving from contract, common law, statute
or otherwise, whether present or future, actual or contingent or ascertained or unascertained and whether owed or incurred severally

or jointly or as principal or surety;
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“Management Accounts” means the unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Group for each of the financial years ended
31 December 2003 and 31 December 2004 (such financial statements including without limitation, in each case a balance sheet,
profit and loss account and cash flow statement together with the notes thereon, (if any));

“Material Adverse Change” means any event, condition, circumstance, incident or fact that is or would reasonably be expected to
have a material adverse effect on the business or financial position of the Target Group as a whole, or the assets (including
intangible assets) or liabilities of the Target Group as a whole;

“Material Contracts” has the meaning set forth in paragraph 13.1 of schedule 3;
“Merix Caymans” means Merix Caymans Trading Company Limited, an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Buyer;

“Minority Dividend” means the dividend(s) declared by Eastern Pacific Circuits (Huizhou) Ltd. of US$1,600,000 that is payable to
EMTERTIXRESRLA,

“Non-EA Transferring Employees - Singapore” means the Transferring Employees-Singapore who do not fall within the ambit of
the Singapore Employment Act;

“Non-Defaulting Party” has the meaning set out in clause 5.4;

“Note” means the promissory note to be issued by Merix Caymans to the Seller in accordance with clause 5.2.3, in the form set out
in schedule 8;

“Notice” has the meaning set out in clause 28.1;

“Other Documents” means all other documents, agreements and certificates that are, or are required to be, executed pursuant to
this Agreement;

“Permitted Encumbrances” means the Retained Security or security interests or liens arising by operation of law or pursuant to
title retention provisions under sales contracts, equipment leases or hire purchase agreements with third parties entered into in the

ordinary course of business;
“Policies” has the meaning set out in paragraph 16.1 of schedule 3;
“Post-Cash Working Capital Shortfall” has the meaning set out in clause 6.8.

“PRC” means the People’ s Republic of China excluding, for the purposes of this Agreement, Hong Kong, the Macau Special
Administrative Region of the People’ s Republic of China and Taiwan;

10
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“Property” means the property or properties of the Target Group, details of which are set out in part 6B of schedule 1;
“Principal” has the meaning set forth in the Recital of the Note;

“Principal Payment” has the meaning set forth in paragraph 3(c) of the Note;

“Recipient” has the meaning set forth in clause 20.6;

“Reference Banks” means The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited and Standard Chartered Bank;

“Relevant Claim” means a claim by the Buyer under or pursuant to the provisions of clause 9.1 or the Tax Deed or any other
provision of this Agreement or the Other Documents;

“Relevant Element” has the meaning set out in clause 16.3;
“Relevant Period” means the period from the Completion Date up to and including 31 December 2005;
“Representation” has the meaning set out in clause 26;

“Retained Group” means the Group excluding the EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore Group and “Retained Group
Company” means any one of them;

“Retained Security” means the Security relating to the EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore Group which, pursuant to the
Buyer’ s request, will not be released by the Lenders upon Completion;

“Rules” has the meaning set out in clause 29.2;
“Sale Business and Assets” has the meaning set forth in clause 3.1;

“Security” means any surety, guarantee and security provided by the Group to the Lenders to secure the obligations of the relevant
Group Companies in respect of the Borrowings;

“Security Release Documents” means the documents required to be executed by the Lenders and the relevant Seller’ s Group
Companies for the purposes of releasing the Security other than the Retained Security upon the repayment of the Debt Amount to
the Lenders on Completion;

“Seller MPF Scheme” means the mandatory provident fund scheme established by or on behalf of the Seller or Eastern Pacific
Circuits (HK) Limited in respect of the Transferring Employees - HK;

11
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“Seller Obligation” means any representation, warranty or undertaking to indemnify given by the Seller to the Buyer under this
Agreement or any of the Other Documents, including, without limitation, pursuant to a Relevant Claim;

“Seller’ s Group” means the Seller and each subsidiary of the Seller from time to time and includes, for the avoidance of doubt,
each of the Business Sellers and, before Completion, each member of the EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore Group, and
“Seller’ s Group Company” means any one of them;

“Seller’ s Group RRSP” has the meaning set forth in clause 17.1.4;
“Singapore Employment Act” means the Singaporean Employment Act (Cap 91);
“Singapore Shares” has the meaning set forth in Recital (C);

“Singapore Statutory Transfers” means the transfers of employees contemplated under Section 18A of the Singapore
Employment Act;

“Stock” means, in relation to each Business, the Inventory, stock-in-trade and work-in-progress owned or agreed to be purchased by

the relevant Business Seller in connection with the Business at Completion, wherever held;

“Target Group” means the EPCI HK Group, the EPCI Singapore Group and the Business Sellers, and “Target Group Company”
means any company that is a member of the EPCI HK Group or the EPCI Singapore Group or that is a Business Seller;

“Tax” or “Taxes” means all (i) forms of taxation, taxes, deductions, withholdings, duties, imposts, levies, fees, charges and rates or
other like assessments or charges of any kind (including, without limitation, net income, gross income, receipts, profit, business and
occupation, license, excise, registration, franchise, employment, payroll, withholding, ad valorem, transfer, gains, stamp duty,
capital, paid-up capital, profits, premium, value-added, business tax, real property, personal property, inventory and merchandise,
commercial rent or environmental tax) imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by any Government Authority and any
interest, additional taxation, penalty, surcharge or fine in connection therewith, (ii) liability in respect of any items described in
clause (i) payable by any member of the EPCI HK Group or the EPCI Singapore Group with respect to any period (or portion
thereof) prior to the Completion Date by reason of being a member of any affiliated, combined, unitary, consolidated or similar
group (including any arrangement for group or similar relief within a jurisdiction), and (iii) liability in respect of any items described
in clause (i) or (ii) payable by reason of contract, assumption, transferee liability, operation of Law or otherwise;

12
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“Tax Deed” means the deed to be entered into among the Seller, the Buyer, EPCI HK and EPCI Singapore in the form set out in
schedule 13;

“Tax Return” means any and all reports, returns, estimates, information statements or other information, including any schedules or
attachments thereto and any amendment thereof, required to be supplied to a Government Authority in connection with any Taxes;

“Total Consideration” means the Initial Consideration plus the EBITDA Earnout Consideration less an amount equal to the Post-
Cash Working Capital Shortfall;

“Transferring Employees” means the Transferring Employees - Canada, the Transferring Employees - HK, the Transferring
Employees - Singapore, the Transferring Employees - UK and the Transferring Employees - US, and “Transferring Employee”

means any of them;

“Transferring Employees - Canada” means the employees of Eastern Pacific Circuits (Canada) Limited set out in part 7.1 of
schedule 1 and who continue to be employed by Eastern Pacific Circuits (Canada) Limited on the Completion Date and any person
who becomes an employee of Eastern Pacific Circuits (Canada) Limited after the last practicable date prior to signing of this

Agreement but before the Completion Date;

“Transferring Employees - HK” means the employees of Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Limited set out in part 7.2 of schedule 1
and who continue to be employed by Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Limited on the Completion Date and any person who becomes
an employee of Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Limited after the last practicable date prior to signing of this Agreement but before the

Completion Date;

“Transferring Employees - Singapore” means the employees of Eastern Pacific Circuits (Singapore) Pte Ltd set out in part 7.3 of
schedule 1 and who continue to be employed by Eastern Pacific Circuits (Singapore) Pte Ltd on the Completion Date and any
person who becomes an employee of Eastern Pacific Circuits (Singapore) Pte Ltd after the last practicable date prior to signing of
this Agreement but before the Completion Date;

“Transferring Employees - UK” means the employees of Eastern Pacific Circuits (UK) Limited set out in part 7.4 of schedule 1
and who continue to be employed by Eastern Pacific Circuits (UK) Limited on the Completion Date and any person who becomes
an employee of Eastern Pacific Circuits (UK) Limited after the last practicable date prior to signing of this Agreement but before the
Completion Date;

“Transferring Employees - US” means the employees of Eastern Pacific Circuits (USA) Corporation set out in part 7.5 of
schedule 1 and who continue to be employed by Eastern Pacific Circuits (USA) Corporation on the Completion Date and any
person who becomes an employee of Eastern Pacific Circuits (USA) Corporation after the last practicable date prior to signing of

this Agreement but before the Completion Date;

13
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1.2

“UK Transfer Regulations” means the United Kingdom Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 1981;

“Warranty” means a statement contained in schedule 3 and “Warranties” means all those statements;

“Warranty Claim” means a claim by the Buyer under or pursuant to the provisions of clause 9.1;

“Working Capital” means, as of a given date, the aggregated working capital of the Group as at that date and which shall be

determined on the basis of and taking into account the line items set out in schedule 10.

In this Agreement, a reference to:

1.2.1

1.2.2

1.23

1.2.4

1.2.5

1.2.6

1.2.7

1.2.8

“HKS$"” means the lawful currency of Hong Kong;
“US$” means the lawful currency of the United States of America;
“S$” means the lawful currency of Republic of Singapore;

a document in the “agreed form” is a reference to a document in a form approved and for the purposes of identification
initialled by or on behalf of each party;

a law or statutory provision (or equivalent thereof) includes a reference to the law or statutory provision (or equivalent
thereof) as modified or re-enacted or both from time to time before the date of Completion;

a “person” includes a reference to any individual, firm, company, corporation or other body corporate, government,
state or agency of a state or any joint venture, association or partnership (whether or not having separate legal

personality);
a “party” includes a reference to that party’ s successors;

where any statement is to the effect that the Seller is not aware of a matter or circumstance or a statement is qualified by
the expression “to the Seller’ s knowledge” or “so far as the Seller is aware”, or any similar or like expression, that
statement shall be deemed to include a further statement that the original statement was made after due and careful
enquiry of the board of directors of the Seller and senior management of the Seller, EPCL and Eastern Pacific Circuits
(HK) Limited;
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1.3

1.4

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.2.9 a clause, paragraph, Recital, schedule or Annexure, unless the context otherwise requires, is a reference to a clause or
paragraph of, or Recital, schedule or Annexure to, this Agreement; and

1.2.10 except where otherwise stated, all times of the day are to Hong Kong time.
In this Agreement:

1.3.1 a company shall be deemed to be a “subsidiary” of another company, its “holding company”, if that other company
(a) holds a majority of the voting rights in it, or (b) is a member of it and has the right to appoint or remove a majority of
its board of directors, or (c) is a member of it and controls alone, pursuant to an agreement with other shareholders or
members, a majority of the voting rights in it; or if it is a subsidiary of a company which is itself a subsidiary of that
other company; and

1.3.2 a person shall be deemed to be an “affiliate” of a company if that person is a subsidiary or a holding company of that
company.

The headings in this Agreement do not affect its interpretation.

For the purposes of determining the amount of any payment under this Agreement, any monetary sum which is not in US$ shall be
translated into US$ at the average of the spot rates of exchange quoted by the Reference Banks for the purchase of US$ with such
foreign currency in the Hong Kong foreign exchange market at or about 11:00 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the three (3) Business
Days before the date on which the payment is due or such other exchange rate agreed between the Seller and the Buyer.

All payments to be made pursuant to clauses 3, 5.2.3, 5.2.4, 6.6, 6.7, and 8 shall be made in immediately available funds by transfer
of funds for same day value to such accounts and in such amounts as shall be notified by the Seller, the Buyer or the Lenders, as the
case may be, at least three Business Days before the date on which the payment is due.

If any payment is made pursuant to this Agreement in respect of a liability arising under a Seller Obligation or a Buyer Obligation, it
shall be made on the following basis:

1.7.1 if such payment is specifically referable to any particular Business or Business Asset, it shall so far as possible adjust the
price paid for the relevant Business or Business Asset;

1.7.2 if such payment is specifically referable to the EPCI HK Group or the EPCI Singapore Group, it shall so far as possible
adjust the price paid for the HK Shares or the Singapore Shares, as applicable; and
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2.1

2.2

23

24

1.7.3 if any payment is not so specifically referable, an adjustment shall be made pro rata to the price paid for all of the
Businesses, Business Assets, HK Shares and Singapore Shares.

SALE AND PURCHASE
Subject to and in accordance with this Agreement:

2.1.1 the Seller shall procure the sale and transfer by the relevant Business Seller of, and the Buyer relying on the several
representations, Warranties and undertakings contained in this Agreement shall purchase, or procure the purchase by the
relevant Buyer’ s Group Company, each Business (including the Business Assets in relation to each Business), in each

case as a going concern with effect from Completion and free of any Encumbrance;

212 the Seller shall procure the sale by EPC Cayman of, and the Buyer shall procure the purchase by the relevant Buyer’ s
Group Company of, all of the HK Shares, and the sale by EPCL of all of the Singapore Shares, and each right attaching
to the HK Shares and the Singapore Shares at or after Completion, free of any Encumbrance; and

2.1.3 the Buyer relying on the several representations, Warranties and undertakings contained in this Agreement shall, and
shall procure that the relevant Buyers’ Group Company shall, assume and discharge any Assumed Liabilities in relation
to each Business in accordance with clause 14.1.

Nothing in this Agreement or in any of the Other Documents shall transfer any of the Excluded Assets to the Buyer or any Buyer’ s
Group Company or make the Buyer or any Buyer’ s Group Company liable for any of the Excluded Liabilities.

All title, rights, benefits, advantages and risks (including risk of loss or damage) to the Business Assets shall pass to the Buyer or the

relevant Buyer’ s Group Company on Completion, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement or as otherwise agreed in writing.

Without prejudice to any other rights or remedies of the Buyer, the Seller or a Business Seller under this Agreement, if any right,
claim or asset which does not form part of a Business has been transferred to or is vested in a Buyer’ s Group Company and the
Seller gives written notice to the Buyer of the same at any time in the six months following Completion, the Buyer shall (and the
Seller shall provide such assistance to the Buyer as the Buyer reasonably requires for this purpose), so far as it is able, transfer, or
procure the transfer of, such right, claim or asset, together with any benefit or sum (net of Tax and other out of pocket expenses)
accruing to any Buyer’ s Group Company as a result of holding such right, claim or asset since Completion, as soon as practicable,
to such person as the Seller shall direct on terms that no consideration is provided by any person for such transfer.
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2.5

2.6

2.7

3.1

32

4.1

Except as provided in clauses 15 and 16, and without prejudice to any other rights or remedies of the Buyer, the Seller or a Business
Seller under this Agreement, if any right, claim or asset which forms part of the Business (other than an Excluded Asset) has not
been transferred to or is not vested in a Buyer’ s Group Company and the Buyer gives written notice to the Seller of the same at any
time in the six months following Completion, the Seller shall (and the Buyer shall provide such assistance to the Seller as the Seller
reasonably requires for this purpose), so far as it is able, transfer, or procure the transfer of, such right, claim or asset, together with
any benefit or sum (net of Tax and other out of pocket expenses) accruing to any Seller’ s Group Company as a result of holding
such right, claim or asset since Completion, as soon as practicable, to such person as the Buyer shall direct on terms that no
consideration is provided by any person for such transfer.

The Seller undertakes to the Buyer that it will procure the compliance of all Business Sellers with any obligation which is referred to
in this Agreement as an obligation of a Business Seller, and will procure the compliance of each Seller’ s Group Company with all
Seller Obligations, including without limitation, the Tax Deed.

The Buyer undertakes to the Seller that it will procure the compliance of all Buyer’ s Group Companies with any obligation which is
referred to in this Agreement as an obligation of a Buyer’ s Group Company and will procure the compliance of each Buyer’ s Group
Company with all Buyer Obligations, including without limitation, the Tax Deed.

INITIAL CONSIDERATION

The initial consideration payable by the Buyer to the Seller for the Business (with the Business Assets), the HK Shares and the
Singapore Shares (collectively the “Sale Business and Assets”) shall be US$115,000,000 (the “Initial Consideration™).

As soon as reasonably practicable after signing of this Agreement, the Buyer and the Seller shall use their reasonable endeavours to
agree in writing the apportionment of the Initial Consideration among the respective Sale Business and Assets.

CONDITIONS

Completion is conditional on the following Conditions being satisfied (or in the case of the Conditions in clause 4.1.1, 4.1.4, 4.1.5,
4.1.9, 4.1.10, 4.1.12 or 4.1.13 waived by the Buyer, or in the case of the Condition in clause 4.1.7, waived by the Seller) on or
before 5.00 p.m. on 30 September 2005:
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4.1.1

(a) the Seller having delivered to the Buyer a copy of the FY2003 Audited Accounts and the FY2004 Audited Accounts;
and (b) that the financial position of the Group as reflected in the FY2003 Audited Accounts and the FY2004 Audited
Accounts does not constitute a Material Adverse Change when compared with the financial position of the Group as
reflected in the Management Accounts in respect of the same financial year;

the Seller having obtained the consent of the Lenders, conditional on the Buyer complying with clause 5.2.3, for the
proposed sale of the HK Shares, the Singapore Shares, each Business and the Business Assets to the Buyer and for the
release of the Security other than the Retained Security upon the repayment of the Debt Amount to the Lenders on
Completion and such consent remaining in full force and effect and if such consent is given subject to any conditions
then, in relation to any conditions that relate to the repayment of the Debt Amount, such conditions being acceptable to
the Seller;

the Lenders having confirmed in writing that the Debt Amount does not exceed US$92,888,736.68;

the Warranties remaining true and accurate and not misleading in any material respect at Completion as if repeated at
Completion, provided, however, that unless a breach of any Warranty is or is reasonably likely to amount to, when
aggregated with all other breaches of any Warranty, a Material Adverse Change, the Seller shall be deemed to have
satisfied the Condition in this clause 4.1.4;

EPCI HK having transferred the 5,468,040 shares in Lomber Investments Limited held by it to Universal Enterprise
Limited at book value;

the Seller and the Buyer having obtained the consent of The Hong Kong Science and Technology Park Corporation for
the assignment of the Hong Kong Lease to a Buyer’ s Group Company, or the surrender and replacement of that Hong
Kong Lease with a new lease with a Buyer’ s Group Company over the same property that is the subject of the Hong
Kong Lease, on terms reasonably satisfactory to the Buyer;

the Buyer having delivered to the Seller a duly executed Note;

the Seller and the Buyer confirming in writing that neither party has had any claim notified to it in relation to the
Excluded Liabilities in response to the notices served by it under the Transfer of Businesses (Protection of Creditors)
Ordinance pursuant to clause 13, other than those claims in relation to the Excluded Liabilities which are paid,
compromised, or settled with or by the Seller (at its own cost);
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4.2

43

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

4.1.9 the Seller having delivered to the Buyer the FY2005 Monthly Management Accounts;

4.1.10 the Seller having delivered evidence which is reasonably satisfactory to the Buyer that the Tax Return for EPCI
Singapore in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2003 has been filed with the respective tax authority in
Singapore and Hong Kong;

4.1.11 no order or judgement of any court or governmental, statutory or regulatory body having been issued or made prior to
Completion, which has the effect of making unlawful or otherwise prohibiting the purchase of the Sale Business and
Assets by the Buyer;

4.1.12 the FY2004 EBITDA being not less than US$13,000,000;

4.1.13 the Seller shall provide (at the same time when the Seller provides the Estimated Closing Cash Amount to the Buyer) to
the Buyer a certificate containing reasonable details issued by a director of the Seller an estimate of the amount of the
Working Capital as at the close of business on the day immediately before the Completion Date determined on the basis
of and taking into account the line items set out in schedule 10 and such estimated amount shall not be less than negative
US$2,000,000; and

4.1.14 the Minority Dividend having been declared.

The Seller shall make all reasonable efforts to achieve satisfaction of or procure the satisfaction of the Conditions in clauses
4.1.1(a), 4.1.2, 4.1.3, 4.1.5, 4.1.9 and 4.1.10 as soon as possible.

The Buyer shall make all reasonable efforts to achieve satisfaction of the Condition in clause 4.1.7 as soon as possible.

The Buyer and the Seller shall make all reasonable efforts to achieve satisfaction of the Conditions in clauses 4.1.6 and 4.1.8 as
soon as possible.

If, at any time, the Seller or the Buyer becomes aware of a fact or circumstance that might prevent a Condition being satisfied, it
shall immediately inform the other party of the matter.

At any time on or before 5.00 p.m. on 30 September, the Seller may waive the Condition set out in clause 4.1.7 by notice to the

Buyer on any terms it decides.

At any time on or before 5.00 p.m. on 30 September 2005, the Buyer may waive any of the Conditions set out in clauses 4.1.1,
4.1.4,4.1.5,4.1.9,4.1.10, 4.1.12 and 4.1.13 by notice to the Seller on any terms it decides.
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4.8

4.9

5.1

52

53

If any of the Conditions has not been satisfied (or waived pursuant to clause 4.6 or 4.7) by 5.00 p.m. on 30 September 2005, this
Agreement shall automatically terminate with immediate effect.

Each party’ s further rights and obligations cease immediately on termination, other than in respect of clauses 1, 20.3 to 20.6, 22, 23,
24, 25, 26, 27.6, 28, and 29 which shall survive such termination, but termination does not affect a party’ s accrued rights and
obligations at the date of termination and, for the avoidance of doubt, any accrued rights of the parties in connection with any breach
by each other of the warranties set out in this Agreement.

COMPLETION

Completion shall take place at the offices of Baker & McKenzie at 14th Floor, Hutchison House, 10 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong on
the Completion Date and shall be deemed to be effective as of 12.01 a.m. (Hong Kong time) on the Completion Date.

At Completion:

5.2.1 the Seller and the Buyer shall execute, and the Seller shall procure EPCI HK and EPCI Singapore to execute the Tax
Deed;

52.2 the Seller and the Buyer shall do, and shall respectively procure that each Seller’ s Group Company and Buyer’ s Group

Company shall do, all those things respectively required of them in schedule 2;

523 the Buyer shall pay the Initial Consideration as follows:
(a) the Buyer shall pay the equivalent of the Debt Amount to the Lenders;
(b) the Buyer shall pay US$11,111,263.32 to the Seller; and
(c) the balance of the Initial Consideration (after deduction of the amount set out in sub-paragraphs (a) and

(b) above) shall be satisfied by the issue of the Note by Merix Caymans to the Seller;
524 the Buyer shall pay the Estimated Closing Cash Amount less the amount of the Minority Dividend to the Seller.
The parties are not obliged to complete this Agreement unless:

5.3.1 the Buyer and each Buyer’ s Group Company and the Seller and each Seller’ s Group Company complies with all their
respective obligations under this clause 5 and schedule 2; and

532 the sale and purchase of all of the Businesses, the Business Assets, the HK Shares and the Singapore Shares is completed
simultaneously.
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54

5.5

5.6

6.1

6.2

If Completion does not take place immediately on the Completion Date because a party (the “Defaulting Party”) fails to comply
with any of its obligations under this clause 5 and schedule 2 (whether such failure amounts to a repudiatory breach or not) and the
other party (the “Non-Defaulting Party”) is otherwise in a position to comply with its obligations under this clause 5 and
schedule 2, the Non-Defaulting Party may, without prejudice to any other right of or remedy available to the Non-Defaulting Party,
by notice to the Defaulting Party:

54.1 proceed to Completion to the extent reasonably practicable;
54.2 postpone Completion to a date not more than five (5) Business Days after the Completion Date; or
543 terminate this Agreement.

Each party’ s further rights and obligations cease immediately on termination, other than in respect of clauses 1, 20.3 to 20.6, 22, 23,
24, 25, 26, 27.6, 28, and 29 which shall survive such termination, but termination does not affect a party’ s accrued rights and
obligations at the date of termination

If the Non-Defaulting Party postpones Completion to another date in accordance with clause 5.4.2, the provisions of this Agreement
apply as if that other date is the Completion Date.

Effective as at Completion:

(a) each member of the Retained Group and the Seller hereby releases each Buyer’ s Group Company from any liability in respect of
Intra-Group Indebtedness; and

(b) each Buyer’ s Group Company hereby releases each member of the Retained Group and the Seller from any liability in respect of
Intra-Group Indebtedness.

POST-COMPLETION WORKING CAPITAL ADJUSTMENTS

As soon as practicable following Completion, the Buyer and the Seller shall direct the Auditors to undertake a completion audit and
to prepare its calculation of the FY2004 Working Capital, the Closing Working Capital and the Actual Closing Cash Amount (the
“Completion Statement’) and to deliver, in any event no later than forty (40) Business Days after the Completion Date, the
Completion Statement to the Seller and the Buyer. The Seller and the Buyer shall each pay one half of the Auditors’ costs in
preparing the Completion Statement.

The FY2004 Working Capital and the Closing Working Capital shall be determined on the basis of and taking into account the line
items set out in schedule 10 and shall be calculated on a basis consistent with the FY2004 Audited Accounts, using the same
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6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

accounting principles, policies and practices and, so far as consistent with the foregoing, applicable standards, principles and
practices generally accepted in Hong Kong.

If either the Seller or the Buyer does not accept the Auditors’ calculation of the FY2004 Working Capital, the Closing Working
Capital and/or the Actual Closing Cash Amount, the Seller or the Buyer shall notify the other party of such non-acceptance within
ten (10) Business Days of receipt of the Completion Statement. The parties shall thereafter refer the determination of the FY2004
Working Capital, the Closing Working Capital and/or the Actual Closing Cash Amount to an independent firm of chartered
accountants agreed by the parties in writing or, failing agreement on the identity of the partner or firm of chartered accountants,
appointed, on the application of either party, by the President of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants for the time being.

The Expert shall act on the following basis:

6.4.1 the Expert shall act as an independent expert and not as an arbitrator;

6.4.2 the Expert shall be instructed to notify the Seller and the Buyer of his determination within ten (10) Business Days of his
appointment;

6.4.3 the Expert’ s determination shall, in the absence of fraud or manifest error, be final and binding on the parties and shall

be deemed to constitute the FY2004 Working Capital, the Closing Working Capital and/or the Actual Closing Cash
Amount for all purposes of this Agreement; and

6.4.4 the Seller and the Buyer shall each pay one half of the Expert’ s costs.

For the purposes of determining the FY2004 Working Capital, the Closing Working Capital and the Actual Closing Cash Amount,
the Seller and the Buyer shall give the Expert and each other all information relating to the FY2004 Working Capital, the Closing
Working Capital and the Actual Closing Cash Amount which the Expert may reasonably require and the Expert shall be entitled (to
the extent he considers appropriate) to base his opinion on such information and on the accounting and other records of the Group,
provided always that the Closing Working Capital shall be determined on the basis of and taking into account the line items set out
in schedule 10 and shall be determined on a basis consistent with the FY2004 Audited Accounts, using the same accounting
principles, policies and practices and, so far as consistent with the foregoing, applicable standards, principles and practices generally
accepted in Hong Kong.

Following the determination of the FY2004 Working Capital and the Closing Working Capital, the adjustment to the Initial
Consideration shall be determined and paid as follows:
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6.7

6.8

7.1

7.2

6.6.1 if the Closing Working Capital less the Desay Land Premium Payment is greater than the FY2004 Working Capital, an
amount equal to the amount of the difference shall be paid by the Buyer to the Seller within five (5) Business Days; and

6.6.2 if the Closing Working Capital less the Desay Land Premium Payment is less than the FY2004 Working Capital, an
amount equal to the amount of the difference shall be paid by the Seller to the Buyer within five (5) Business Days. Such
amount shall be satisfied in accordance with clause 6.8.

Following the determination of the Actual Closing Cash Amount, the Seller or the Buyer (as the case may be) shall pay to the other

an amount in cash determined as follows:

6.7.1 if the Actual Closing Cash Amount (less any deduction pursuant to clause 6.8) is greater than the Estimated Closing
Cash Amount, an amount equal to the amount of the difference shall be paid by the Buyer to the Seller within five
(5) Business Days. Such amount shall be payable in US$ in accordance with clause 1.5; and

6.7.2 if the Actual Closing Cash Amount (less any deduction pursuant to clause 6.8) is less than the Estimated Closing Cash
Amount, an amount equal to the difference (but in any event not exceeding the Estimated Closing Cash Amount) shall be
paid by the Seller to the Buyer within five (5) Business Days. Such amount shall be payable in US$ in accordance with
clause 1.5.

If the Seller owes any amount to the Buyer pursuant to clause 6.6.2, such amount shall first be deducted from the Actual Closing
Cash Amount less US$2,000,000 for the purposes of the payment to be made under clause 6.7. If such amount is not sufficient to
pay the full amount due to the Buyer pursuant to clause 6.6.2 (the remaining unpaid amount being the “Post-Cash Working
Capital Shortfall”), the Post-Cash Working Capital Shortfall shall be satisfied in accordance with paragraph 3(c) of the Note.

SETTLEMENT OF PAYMENTS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE NOTE

Any amounts due from the Seller to the Buyer under this Agreement in relation to the Post-Cash Working Capital Shortfall and
Relevant Claims shall be satisfied in accordance with the terms of the Note.

If any payment due from the Seller to the Buyer under this Agreement is satisfied in accordance with the terms of the Note, the
Buyer agrees that the Seller’ s liability in respect of such payment shall be fully discharged and satisfied to the extent of the amount
so reduced.
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7.3

8.1

8.2

The Seller shall not be wound up or liquidated until the later of: (i) 1 October 2007; and (ii) the date on which all Relevant Claims
have been settled or otherwise determined.

PRO-FORMA ACCOUNTS AND EBITDA EARNOUT CONSIDERATION

As soon as practicable following 31 December 2005, the Buyer and the Seller shall direct the Auditors to perform agreed upon
procedures on the consolidated pro-forma accounts in respect of each Business and each member of the EPCI HK Group and EPCI
Singapore Group for the period from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2005 on the basis as if Completion had taken place on

1 January 2005 (the “Pro-forma Accounts”) and to prepare a statement showing their calculation of the Actual Adjusted 2005
EBITDA and the EBITDA Earnout Consideration (the “Earnout Statement”) and to deliver by either: (i) seventy-five

(75) Business Days after 31 December 2005; or (ii) if the Buyer gives written notice to the Seller within 30 days following

31 December 2005 that it shall take the option referred to in clause 8.10(b)(1) in respect of any Relevant Claim arising during the
period referred to in clause 8.10(b) and such Relevant Claim has not been settled or otherwise determined prior to or on

31 December 2005, 5 Business Days following the date on which such Relevant Claim has been settled or otherwise determined, the
Pro-forma Accounts and the Earnout Statement to the Seller and the Buyer. The Buyer shall pay the Auditor’ s costs in preparing the
Pro-forma Accounts and the Earnout Statement if the EBITDA Earnout Consideration is zero or a negative amount. If the EBITDA
Earnout Consideration is a positive amount, the Seller shall be liable for the lesser of: (i) 50% of the Auditor’ s costs in preparing the
Pro-forma Accounts and the Earnout Statement; and (ii) the EBITDA Earnout Consideration and if such amount is less than 50% of
the Auditor’ s costs in preparing the Pro-forma Accounts and the Earnout Statement, the Seller shall not be liable to pay any further
amount in respect of such costs.

The Buyer shall deliver to the Seller as soon as practicable after 31 December 2005, but in any event by 31 January 2006 unaudited
consolidated management accounts in respect of each Business and the business of the EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore
Group for the period from 1 January 2005 to 31 December 2005. As soon as practicable following receipt by the Seller of such
management accounts, and in any event prior to 14 February 2006, senior representatives of the Buyer and the Seller shall meet with
a view to discussing and settling in good faith any Relevant Claims arising from any fact, matter, event or circumstance which
occurred during the period from and including 1 January 2005 up to and including 31 December 2005, that have not been settled or
otherwise determined prior to 31 December 2005. If the Buyer and the Seller are not able to reach agreement in respect of such
Relevant Claims, or the amount claimed in respect of such Relevant Claim, by 31 March 2006, the matter shall be promptly be
referred to arbitration by either party in accordance with clause 29.
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8.3

8.4

8.5

The Actual Adjusted 2005 EBITDA shall be determined on the basis of and taking into account the principles set out in Part A of
schedule 14 and on a basis consistent with the FY2004 Audited Accounts, using the same accounting principles, policies and
practices and, so far as consistent with the foregoing, applicable standards, principles and practices generally accepted in Hong
Kong in effect for the year ended 31 December 2004. For the avoidance of doubt, only Relevant Claims that can be recognised as an
expense under such accounting principles, policies, practices, applicable standards, principles and practices generally accepted in
Hong Kong and only Relevant Claims that have been settled or otherwise determined may be taken into account in the Actual
Adjusted 2005 EBITDA amount.

(a)
If the Actual Adjusted 2005 EBITDA is equal to any amount from and including US$12,000,000 and less than
US$13,200,000, the EBITDA Earnout Consideration shall be determined in accordance with the following

formula:

(Actual Adjusted 2005 EBITDA - 12.000.000) x 5.000.000
1,200,000

provided that the EBITDA Earnout Consideration determined in accordance with the formula in this clause 8.4(a) shall
in no event be (a) a negative amount; or (b) more than US$5,000,000; or

(b) If the Actual Adjusted 2005 EBITDA is equal to any amount in excess of US$13,200,000, the EBITDA Earnout

Consideration shall be determined in accordance with the following formula:

(Actual Adjusted 2005 EBITDA - 13.200.000) x S.ﬂﬂﬂ.ﬂﬂa + 5,000,000
900,000

provided that the EBITDA Earnout Consideration determined in accordance with this clause 8.4(b) shall in no event be
(a) a negative amount; or (b) more than US$13,000,000.

If the Seller notifies the Buyer in writing that it is satisfied with the Pro-forma Accounts and the Earnout Statement, then the Actual
Adjusted 2005 EBITDA and the EBITDA Earnout Consideration shall be determined on the basis of the Pro-forma Accounts and
the Earnout Statement, as so agreed. If the Seller does not accept the Pro-forma Accounts or the Earnout Statement, the Seller shall
notify the Buyer of such non-acceptance within ten (10) Business Days of receipt of the Pro-forma Accounts and the Earnout
Statement. The parties shall thereafter refer the preparation of the Pro-forma Accounts and the determination of the Actual Adjusted
2005 EBITDA and/or the EBITDA Earnout Consideration to an independent firm of chartered accountants agreed by the parties in
writing or, failing agreement on the identity of the partner or firm of chartered accountants, appointed, on the application of either

party, by the President of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants for the time being.
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8.6

8.7

8.8

8.9

8.10

The Expert shall act on the following basis:

8.6.1 the Expert shall act as an independent expert and not as an arbitrator;

8.6.2 the Expert shall be instructed to notify the Seller and the Buyer of his determination within ten (10) Business Days of his
appointment;

8.6.3 the Expert’ s determination shall, in the absence of fraud or manifest error, be final and binding on the parties and shall

be deemed to constitute the Pro-forma Accounts and the Actual Adjusted 2005 EBITDA and the EBITDA Earnout
Consideration for all purposes of this Agreement; and

8.6.4 the Seller and the Buyer shall each pay one half of the Expert’ s costs.

For the purposes of preparing the Pro-forma Accounts and determining the Actual Adjusted 2005 EBITDA and the EBITDA
Earnout Consideration, the Seller and the Buyer shall give the Expert and each other all information relating to or relevant for the
preparation of the Pro-forma Accounts and the determination of the Actual Adjusted 2005 EBITDA and the EBITDA Earnout
Consideration which the Expert may reasonably require and the Expert shall be entitled (to the extent he considers appropriate) to
base his opinion on such information, provided always that the Pro-forma Accounts and the Actual Adjusted 2005 EBITDA and the
EBITDA Earnout Consideration shall be determined on a basis consistent with the FY2004 Audited Accounts, using the same
accounting principles, policies and practices and, so far as consistent with the foregoing, applicable standards, principles and
practices generally accepted in Hong Kong and that the Actual Adjusted 2005 EBITDA shall be determined in accordance with the
principles set out in Part A of schedule 14.

After deduction of any payment to the Auditors pursuant to clause 8.1, the Principal shall be increased by an amount equal to the
EBITDA Earnout Consideration, or if the EBITDA Earnout Consideration is determined on or after 15 March 2009, the EBITDA
Earnout Consideration shall be paid directly to the Seller.

The Buyer agrees that it will use its best endeavours to procure that each member of the Buyer’ s Group which has acquired a
Business and each member of the EPCI HK Group and EPCI Singapore Group shall be conduct its business at all times during the
Relevant Period in accordance with the principles set out in Part B of schedule 14.

The Seller and the Buyer agree that:

(a)
in respect of any Relevant Claim arising from any fact, matter, event or circumstance which has occurred prior to and
including 31 December 2004, (i) the amount that has been settled or otherwise determined in respect of any Relevant Claim;
(i1) the amount of the loss suffered or incurred by the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company in respect of which such Relevant
Claim has been
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8.11

8.12

(b)

settled or otherwise determined; or (iii) the Amount Claimed in respect of any Relevant Claim that has not been settled or
otherwise determined during such period, shall not be taken into account in the calculation of the Actual Adjusted 2005
EBITDA but the amount settled or otherwise determined in respect of such Relevant Claim shall be satisfiedin accordance
with the terms of the Note.

in respect of any Relevant Claim arising from any fact, matter, event or circumstance which occurs during the period from
and including 1 January 2005 up to and including 31 December 2005, the Buyer shall have the option to either: (1) take into
account in the calculation of the Actual Adjusted 2005 EBITDA the amount that has been settled or otherwise determined
in respect of such Relevant Claim, provided that schedule 4 shall apply to limit or exclude, as the case may be, the liability
determined in respect of such Relevant Claim (which for the avoidance of doubt shall include Relevant Claims made
pursuant to the Tax Deed), with the exception of paragraph 1.1.2 of schedule 4 which shall not apply; or (2) to apply the
amount that has been settled or otherwise determined in respect of such Relevant Claim in accordance with the terms of the
Note. For the avoidance of doubt, if the Actual Adjusted 2005 EBITDA is determined to be equal to or less than
US$12,000,000 when the amount referred to in clause 8.10(b)(1) is taken into account in the calculation of the Actual
Adjusted 2005 EBITDA, the Buyer shall have the right to increase the Principal by an amount equal to the outstanding
portion of the amount of such Relevant Claim which has not been settled hereunder, provided that such portion is not less
than US$100,000 and, for the avoidance of doubt, the terms set out in schedule 4 shall apply to such outstanding portion.

If the Buyer shall take the option referred to in clause 8.10(b)(1) above, then at the same time when the Buyer provides the Pro-
forma Accounts and the Earnout Statement in accordance with clause 8.1 above, the Buyer shall provide a certificate issued by a
director of the Buyer containing reasonable details of the Relevant Claims that have been taken into account in the calculation of the
Actual Adjusted 2005 EBITDA.

As soon as practicable following the end of each full calendar month during the Relevant Period, the Buyer shall deliver to the Seller
unaudited consolidated monthly management accounts in respect of each Business and the business of the EPCI HK Group and the
EPCI Singapore Group. Such monthly management accounts shall consist of a consolidated profit and loss account, balance sheet
and cash flow statement together with the notes thereon (if any) for the Relevant Period. The Buyer shall promptly deliver to the
Seller any management updates in respect of the business carried on by the Target Group as a whole as at Completion. During the
Relevant Period, the Buyer shall allow the Seller and its representatives reasonable access, upon
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9.1

9.2

9.3

notice and during normal business hours, to senior management of the Buyer and senior management of the business previously
carried on by the Target Group, for the purpose of clarifying or discussing any matters arising from the consolidated monthly
management accounts or the management updates referred to above. The Seller acknowledges that the above information to be
provided by the Buyer shall be subject to clause 22 and will constitute material and non-public information as defined under US
securities laws.

THE SELLER’ S WARRANTIES AND PRE-COMPLETION CONDUCT

The Seller acknowledges that, in entering into this Agreement the Buyer has relied upon the several representations, the Warranties
and the undertakings contained in this Agreement. The Seller warrants and represents to the Buyer that each of the Warranties set
out in schedule 3 is true and accurate and not misleading all material respects. The Warranties shall be deemed to be repeated at
Completion and any expressed reference to the date of this Agreement shall be replaced by the Completion Date. In relation to any
warranty that relates to the FY2003 Audited Accounts and/or the FY2004 Audited Accounts, the Seller shall only give such
warranty at the date of satisfaction of Condition 4.1.1(a) and upon the Completion Date. Save as provided in paragraph 6 on page 2
of the Disclosure Letter, the Warranties are qualified by the facts and circumstances accurately and fairly disclosed in the Disclosure
Letter.

The Seller’ s liability for Relevant Claims (which for the avoidance of doubt shall include Relevant Claims made pursuant to the Tax
Deed) shall be limited or excluded, as the case may be, as set out in schedule 4.

Between the execution of this Agreement and Completion:

9.3.1 the Seller shall use its reasonable endeavours to ensure that each Target Group Company complies with its respective
obligations under schedule 5;

932 the Seller shall cause each of the Target Group Companies to allow the Buyer and its agents and representatives
reasonable access during normal business hours upon notice to the senior management of the Seller and the accountants
and legal advisers of the Seller, for the purpose of enabling the smooth transition of the control of EPCI HK and EPCI
Singapore and each Business to the Buyer on Completion, it being acknowledged that any such access shall be solely for
the purpose of obtaining information and the Buyer shall not have any rights to influence the policies or business of any
Seller’ s Group Company prior to Completion. However, the parties acknowledge that any member of the EPCI HK
Group and the EPCI Singapore Group may agree to enter into a supply agreement with the Buyer on an arm’ s length
basis during the period between execution and Completion of this Agreement;
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94

9.5

10.

10.1

10.2

933 the Seller shall deliver to the Buyer the FY2005 Management Accounts for the preceding calendar month as soon as
practicable and in any event within four (4) weeks from the end of each calendar month. The Buyer hereby
acknowledges receipt of the FY2005 Management Accounts for January 2005 and February 2005; and

934 with respect to the land use right for the manufacturing plant located in Dongguan and operated by Eastern pacific
Circuits (Dongguan) Limited, the Seller shall (at its own cost) use its reasonable endeavours to procure that the records
of EIRLTHERRF (Land Administrative Authority) are updated to change the name in respect of which such land
use right is recorded in the records of BxRtihEER (Land Administrative Authority) from “Universal Enterprise
(Dongguan) Limited” {i%mﬁl% HBERQF). to Eastern Pacific Circuits (Dongguan) Limited”

(REmieBERARL ).

Each of the Warranties shall be construed as a separate warranty and shall not be otherwise limited or restricted by reference to or
inference from the terms of any other Warranty or any other term of this Agreement.

The Seller undertakes to the Buyer that, except in the case of wilful misconduct, fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation, the Seller
and each Seller’ s Group Company:

9.5.1 has no rights against; and
9.5.2 may not make any claim against,

any employee, director, agent, officer, sharcholder or adviser of the Target Group on whom it may have relied before agreeing to

any term of, or entering into, this Agreement or any other agreement or document referred to herein.

THE BUYER’ S REMEDIES

Each of the Seller and the Buyer undertakes that if before Completion it shall become aware of any fact or circumstance which gives
or may give rise to a Relevant Claim, it shall promptly notify the other in writing stating in reasonable detail the nature of such fact
or circumstance which gives or may give rise to a Relevant Claim. The Buyer acknowledges that it has conducted due diligence
from October 2004 to the end of February 2005 in respect of the Sale Business and Assets and the assets of each member of the
EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore Group and during this period has been given access to a data room.

If, at any time before Completion, the Buyer becomes aware of any fact or circumstance which gives or may give rise to a Relevant
Claim referred to in
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10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

11.

clause 10.1 and such matter is reasonably unlikely to give rise to a Material Adverse Change, the Buyer shall proceed to Completion
and shall waive its rights to claim for damages or exercise any other right, power or remedy under this Agreement or as provided by
law in respect of such Relevant Claim.

If, at any time before Completion, the Buyer becomes aware of a fact or circumstance which gives rise to a Relevant Claim and such
matter is reasonably likely to give rise to a Material Adverse Change, the Buyer may by notice to the Seller served promptly after
the Buyer becomes aware of the relevant matter elect to proceed to Completion or to terminate this Agreement.

If the Buyer terminates this Agreement pursuant to clause 10.3, or if this Agreement is terminated pursuant to clause 5.4.3 each
party’ s further rights and obligations cease immediately on termination other than in respect of clauses 1, 20.3 to 20.6, 22, 23, 24,
25, 26, 27.6, 28, and 29 which shall survive such termination, but termination does not affect a party’ s accrued rights and

obligations at the date of termination.

If the Buyer elects to proceed to Completion pursuant to clause 10.3, the Buyer shall not be entitled to claim damages or exercise
any other right, power or remedy under this Agreement or as otherwise provided by law in respect of the matter giving rise to the
election, other than any such rights in respect of fraud.

If, following Completion, the Buyer becomes aware of a fact or circumstance which gives rise to a Relevant Claim, the Buyer shall
not be entitled to rescind this Agreement or treat this Agreement as terminated but shall only be entitled to claim damages in respect
of such matter and, accordingly, the Buyer waives all and any rights of rescission it may have in respect of any such matter
(howsoever arising or deemed to arise), other than any such rights in respect of fraud.

THE BUYER’ S WARRANTIES AND UNDERTAKINGS
The Buyer warrants to the Seller that:

11.1.1 it is a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of Oregon and it has all requisite
corporate power and authority to own, operate and lease its properties and assets and to carry on its business as now

conducted and as proposed to be conducted;

11.1.2 each Buyer’ s Group Company to or by whom any of the HK Shares, Singapore Shares or Business Assets are being
transferred or acquired (each an “Acquiring Buyer Company”) will, upon its incorporation or establishment, be a
corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws of its respective place of incorporation or establishment
and has all requisite corporate power and authority to own, operate and lease its properties and assets and to carry on its
business as now conducted and as proposed to be conducted;
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11.1.3

11.1.4

11.1.5

11.1.6

11.1.7

it has the right, power and authority, and has taken all corporate action on the part of the Buyer and its respective
officers, directors and shareholders necessary for the authorisation, execution, delivery and performance of this
Agreement and the Other Documents to which it is a party and the performance of its obligations under this Agreement
and the Other Documents to which it is a party has been taken or will be taken as of or prior to Completion. This
Agreement has been, and each of the Other Documents to which the Buyer is a party, will have been at Completion, duly
executed and delivered by the Buyer and, as the case may be, and this Agreement is, and each of the Other Documents to
which the Buyer is a party will be, (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the Seller) at Completion, a
legal, valid and binding obligation of and enforceable against the Buyer in accordance with its terms;

its obligations under this Agreement and the Other Documents to which it is expressed to be a party (the “Buyer’ s
Completion Documents™) are, or when the relevant Buyer’ s Completion Document is executed will be, enforceable in
accordance with their respective terms and this Agreement and the Buyer’ s Completion Documents when executed will
constitute valid and binding obligations of the Buyer;

the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Buyer’ s Completion Documents by it will not

(a) constitute a violation (with or without the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both) of any law applicable to it or any
Acquiring Buyer Company, (b) require any consent, approval or authorization of any person, (c) conflict with or result in
a breach of, or constitute a default under, any provision of its or any Acquiring Buyer Company’ s articles of

incorporation;

except for CIBC World Markets Corp., no broker, finder or investment banker is entitled to any brokerage, finder’ s or
other fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements

made by or on behalf of the Buyer; and

there is no claim, action, suit, arbitration, criminal or civil investigation or proceeding pending or involving or, to its
knowledge, threatened against it with respect to this Agreement or the Buyer’ s Completion Documents, or in connection
with the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, and there is no valid basis for any such claim, action, suit,
proceeding or investigation.
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11.2

11.3

12.

13.

14.

14.1

The Buyer undertakes to the Seller that except in the case of wilful misconduct, fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation, the Buyer and
each Buyer’ s Group Company:

11.2.1 has no rights against; and
11.2.2 may not make any claim against,

any employee, director, agent, officer, sharcholder or adviser of the Seller and any Seller Group Company (including for these
purposes each member of the EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore Group) on whom it may have relied before agreeing to any

term of, or entering into, this Agreement or any other agreement or document referred to herein.

The Buyer undertakes to the Seller to indemnify and hold harmless the Seller against any and all Costs (which shall include
premiums and legal fees) incurred or suffered by the Seller as a result of or in connection with the assignment of the Hong Kong
Lease and the assignment of any leasehold interests of the Business Sellers in connection with the transactions contemplated
pursuant to this Agreement and the Other Documents and shall reimburse any Seller’ s Group Company for any expenses or
premiums paid by any Seller’ s Group Company in relation thereto.

RELEASE OF SECURITY

Within 14 days after Completion, the Seller shall (at its own cost) make, and shall procure that each Business Seller shall make, such
filings with the Registrar of Companies of Hong Kong and each such other Government Authority as may be necessary to effect
and/or to record the discharge and release of the Security other than the Retained Security.

TRANSFER OF BUSINESSES (PROTECTION OF CREDITORS) ORDINANCE

As soon as practicable after the execution of this Agreement, the parties shall procure that a notice of transfer relating to the sale and
purchase of the Business of Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Limited is published in accordance with the provisions of the Transfer of
Businesses (Protection of Creditors) Ordinance. Any such notice shall be in the agreed form and shall be given without prejudice to
the rights and obligations of the parties, as against each other, under this Agreement. The parties agree to waive compliance with the
Bulk Sales Act (Ontario).

RESPONSIBILITY FOR LIABILITIES

The Buyer hereby undertakes to the Seller (for itself and on behalf of each of the Seller’ s Group Companies) that after Completion:
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14.1.1 it shall duly and properly perform, assume and pay and discharge when due any Assumed Liabilities and any and all
Costs incurred or suffered by the Seller and/or any of the Seller’ s Group Companies as a result of or relating to any
Assumed Liabilities; and

14.1.2 it shall indemnify and hold harmless the Seller and each of the Seller’ s Group Companies against any Assumed
Liabilities and any and all Costs incurred or suffered by the Seller and/or any of the Seller’ s Group Companies as a
result of or relating to any Assumed Liabilities.

14.2 The Seller hereby undertakes to the Buyer (for itself and on behalf of each of the Buyer’ s Group Companies) that:

14.2.1 it shall duly and properly perform, assume and pay and discharge when due any Excluded Liabilities and any and all
Costs incurred or suffered by the Buyer and/or any of the Buyer’ s Group Companies as a result of or relating to any
Excluded Liabilities; and

14.2.2 it shall indemnify and hold harmless the Buyer and each of the Buyer’ s Group Companies against any Excluded
Liabilities and any and all Costs incurred or suffered by the Buyer and/or any of the Buyer’ s Group Companies as a
result of or relating to any Excluded Liabilities.

143 The Buyer undertakes with the Seller that, at any time and from time to time on or after Completion, it will at the cost of the Buyer
execute and deliver all such further documents of assumption and acknowledgement and/or take such other action as the Seller may
reasonably request in order to effect the release and discharge in full of the relevant Seller’ s Group Company from any Assumed
Liabilities or the assumption by a Buyer’ s Group Company as the primary obligor in respect of any Assumed Liabilities in
substitution for the relevant Seller’ s Group Company.

14.4 The Seller undertakes with the Buyer that, at any time and from time to time on or after Completion, it will at the reasonable cost of
the Seller execute and deliver all such further documents of assumption and acknowledgement and/or take such other action as the
Buyer may reasonably request in order to effect the release and discharge in full of the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company from any
Excluded Liabilities or the assumption by a Seller’ s Group Company as the primary obligor in respect of any Excluded Liabilities in
substitution for the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company.

14.5
The Buyer (for itself and on behalf of each of the Buyer’ s Group Companies) shall be responsible for and shall indemnify the Seller

(for itself and on behalf of each of the Seller’ s Group Companies) against any claims from customers for repair or replacement duly
made before, on or after Completion under any warranties, representations or guarantees given expressly or by implication of law by
any Business Seller in respect of any product sold or service supplied to the relevant customers by
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15.

15.1

15.2

15.3

16.

16.1

the relevant Business Seller prior to Completion in the ordinary course of the Business of the relevant Business Seller (save to the
extent that such claims relate to the Excluded Liabilities). If any such claim is threatened or brought against the Seller or any of the
Seller’ s Group Companies, the Seller shall not, and shall procure that the relevant Seller’ s Group Company shall not, compromise
or settle the same but shall notify the Buyer or the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company in writing thereof and, subject to being
indemnified to its reasonable satisfaction, the Seller shall, and shall procure that the relevant Seller’ s Group Company shall, at the
request of the Buyer take such action in respect thereof (including lending its name to any legal action) as the Buyer may reasonably
require.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
The Buyer shall from the Completion Date be entitled to the benefits of the Accounts Receivable.

The Seller shall procure that the relevant Business Seller shall use all reasonable endeavours with the co-operation of the Buyer or

the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company to procure the assignment by Completion or as soon as practicable thereafter.

Insofar as the Accounts Receivable cannot effectively be assigned to the Buyer except by the agreement or consent to the
assignment from the third parties concerned:

15.3.1 until the Accounts Receivable is assigned the Seller shall procure that the relevant Business Seller shall hold any
payment which it receives in respect of the Accounts Receivable in trust for the Buyer absolutely; and

15.3.2 until the Accounts Receivable is assigned the Seller shall procure that the relevant Business Seller shall (so far as it
lawfully may) give all reasonable assistance to the Buyer (at the Buyer’ s request and expense) to enable the Buyer to
enforce its rights under Accounts Receivable provided that no member of the Seller’ s Group shall be obliged to make
any payment (in money or money’ s worth) under this unless it has first been paid the amount concerned by the Buyer.

THIRD PARTY CONSENTS

Subject to the remaining provisions of this clause 16, the Buyer shall (so far as it lawfully may) from Completion carry out, perform
and discharge all the obligations and liabilities created by or arising under the Business Contracts and undertakes to the Seller (for
itself and on behalf of each of the Seller’ s Group Companies) to indemnify the Seller and each of the Seller’ s Group Companies
against all Costs suffered or incurred by the Seller or any of the Seller’ s Group Companies as a result of any failure on its part to
carry out, perform and discharge those obligations and liabilities (save to the extent that such Costs relate to the Excluded
Liabilities).
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16.2

16.3

The Seller shall use all reasonable endeavours with the co-operation of the Buyer to procure by Completion or as soon as practicable

thereafter a novation or Consent and to provide or procure the provision of any information reasonably requested in connection with

the related discussions by the person concerned.

If the benefit or burden of any of the Business Contracts and Business Claims cannot be, or are not permitted to be, assigned or

transferred to the Buyer, except by an agreement of novation or without obtaining a consent, approval, waiver or the like to the

assignment or transfer from a third party (a “Consent’) unless or until the relevant Business Contract or Business Claim or, as

applicable, the relevant element of the benefit and burden of it (the “Relevant Element”) is novated or assigned or any necessary

Consent is obtained in respect of it:

(a)

(b)

(©)

the transfer of that Business Contract or Business Claim or, as the case may be, of the Relevant Element, shall not take
effect and the Seller or the relevant Business Seller shall from Completion hold it on trust for the Buyer (save to the
extent that any of the rights under it are Excluded Assets) and as soon as reasonably practicable after receipt of the same
shall account for and pay or deliver to the Buyer any moneys, goods and other benefits which it receives to the extent
that they relate to such Business Contract or Business Claim or the Relevant Element, as the case may be (save in each

case to the extent they comprise, or represent the proceeds from, an Excluded Asset);

in the case of any Business Contract, the Buyer shall (so far as it lawfully may) (if subcontracting or agency is
permissible under the relevant Business Contract), as the Seller’ s or the relevant Business Seller’ s sub-contractor or
agent, perform all or, as the case may be, the Relevant Element of the obligations of the Seller or of the relevant Business
Seller under the Business Contract to be discharged after Completion (save to the extent that such obligations relate to
the Excluded Assets) and the Buyer undertakes to the Seller to indemnify the Seller and each relevant Business Seller
against all Costs suffered or incurred as a result of any failure on the part of the Buyer to perform those obligations (save
to the extent that such Costs relate to the Excluded Liabilities);

the Seller shall (so far as it lawfully may) from Completion give all reasonable assistance to the Buyer (at the Buyer’ s
request and expense) to enable the Buyer to enforce its rights under the Business Contract or Business Claim or, as the
case may be, the Relevant Element of it, provided that no member of the Seller’ s Group shall be obliged to make any
payment (in money or money’ s worth) under this paragraph (c) unless it has first been paid the amount concerned by the
Buyer, and the Buyer shall not agree to any amendment or waiver of those rights under the Business Contract or
Business Claim without prior written approval of the Seller or of the relevant member of the Seller’ s Group (which shall
not be unreasonably withheld); and
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16.4

16.5

16.6

17.

17.1

(d) in the case of any Business Contract that contains a licence in favour of a Business Seller to use any Intellectual Property
Rights, the Seller shall, or shall procure that the relevant Business Seller shall, grant such sub-licence under the Business
Contract to the Buyer as may be reasonably required for use in the Business and as is within the power and authority of
the Seller of the relevant Business Seller to grant.

Without limiting the other provisions of this clause 16, if any necessary novation or Consent is not obtained on or before 1 August
2006 or is refused and the procedure set out in this clause 16 does not enable the full burden of any Business Contract or Business
Claim to be assumed by the Buyer or another Buyer’ s Group Company after the Completion Date, the Seller and the relevant
Business Seller shall be entitled to terminate the relevant Business Contract or Business Claim and the obligations of the parties
under this Agreement in relation to such Business Contract or Business Claim shall cease forthwith.

Where any consent or agreement of any third party is required to the transfer of any of the Business Assets (other than in relation to
the transfer of any Business Claim, Business Contract, the Hong Kong Lease or the Canadian Property) and such consent or
agreement has not been obtained at or before Completion, the transfer of the relevant Business Asset shall not take effect,
notwithstanding Completion, until that consent or agreement has been obtained and the Seller shall use its reasonable endeavours,

with the co-operation of the Buyer, after Completion, to obtain it as soon as possible.

Where the benefit and burden of a Business Contract can be assigned or transferred to the Buyer but, under the terms of the Business
Contract, the Buyer and/or the relevant Business Seller are obliged to notify the other party to that contract of the assignment or
transfer, each of the Buyer and the Seller shall use their respective reasonable endeavours to comply with such notification

requirements.

TRANSFERRING EMPLOYEES AND PENSIONS
Transferring Employees - Canada

17.1.1
The Buyer shall, or shall procure that the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company shall, no later than two weeks before the
Completion Date, make offers of employment to all of the Transferring Employees - Canada, whether active or inactive,
on terms and conditions of employment including benefit plans, substantially the same as those then enjoyed with
Eastern Pacific Circuits (Canada) Limited. Those Transferring Employees - Canada who are offered and accept
employment with the Buyer or the relevant Buyer’ s Group
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17.1.2

17.1.3

17.1.4

Company shall become employees of the Buyer or the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company immediately following
Completion. The Seller shall use, and shall procure that Eastern Pacific Circuits (Canada) Limited shall use, its
reasonable efforts to ensure that all Transferring Employees - Canada accept such offers of employment.

The Buyer agrees that the Buyer or the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company shall maintain such terms and conditions of
employment and such benefit plans for at least one (1) year from and after the Completion Date. The Buyer agrees that
the Buyer or the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company shall credit each Transferring Employee - Canada’ s service with the
Seller as service with the Buyer or the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company for all purposes and shall honour all accrued
payroll obligations in respect of the Transferring Employees - Canada, including but not limited to, vacation, holiday
and bonus payments accrued prior to the Completion Date.

Transferring Employees - Canada who are absent from work as of the Completion Date due to statutory pregnancy,
parental or emergency leave, or short term absence due to illness or injury (excluding those absent and either entitled to
or receiving short term disability benefits under a company sponsored disability plan), or other short-term absence,
whether paid or unpaid, including vacation, holiday, jury duty or other scheduled time off, shall be deemed to be active
employees who shall be offered employment by the Buyer or the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company effective as of the
Completion Date in accordance with this clause 17.1. In the case of any Transferring Employees - Canada who are not
actively at work as of the Completion Date due either to short or long-term disability in respect of which the employee is
entitled to or receiving benefits under a company sponsored disability plan, or absence due to a work-related injury in
respect of which the employee is entitled to or is receiving workers compensation or workplace safety and insurance
benefits, such inactive employees shall be offered employment by the Buyer or the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company as
of the Completion Date, with such employment to commence when such employee gives notice of his or her intention to

return to work following the Completion Date.

The Transferring Employees - Canada shall cease to participate in the group registered retirement savings plan of
Eastern Pacific Circuits (Canada) Limited (the “Seller’ s Group RRSP”) effective as of the Completion Date. Effective
as of the Completion Date, the Buyer or the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company shall offer or extend to the Transferring
Employees - Canada a pension or retirement savings plan with benefit or contribution levels and investment options that
are substantially similar to or no less favourable than those

37

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

provided under the Seller’ s Group RRSP on the Completion Date, for which the Transferring Employees - Canada shall
be immediately eligible for membership.

17.2 Transferring Employees - HK

17.2.1

17.2.2

17.2.3

17.2.4

The Buyer agrees that the Transferring Employees - HK shall be offered employment with a Buyer’ s Group Company
with effect from the Completion Date on terms no less favourable than those then enjoyed with Eastern Pacific Circuits
(HK) Limited.

Not less than 7 days before Completion (or such longer period as may be required under law or under their contracts of
employment), the Seller and the Buyer shall procure, respectively, that Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Limited and the
relevant Buyer’ s Group Company will jointly inform each of the Transferring Employees - HK in writing of the sale of
the relevant Business hereby agreed and will issue a joint letter in the agreed form to each Transferring Employee - HK
giving notice of termination of his employment with Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Limited and containing an offer by
the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company of re-engagement of such employee on terms no less favourable than his then
existing terms of employment. The joint letter shall contain a term which requires the Transferring Employees- HK to
transfer their benefits accrued under the Seller MPF Scheme to the Buyer MPF Scheme upon cessation of participation in
the Seller MPF Scheme.

The Seller shall use, and shall procure that Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Limited shall use, all reasonable endeavours to
persuade the Transferring Employees - HK to accept employment with the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company on such
terms as aforesaid.

The Buyer shall enrol, and shall procure that the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company shall enrol, as soon as practicable
after Completion, the Transferring Employees - HK who accept the offer by the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company (the
“Accepting Employees -HK”) as members of the Buyer MPF Scheme with effect from the Completion Date and
provide the Accepting Employees - HK with retirement benefits which shall be no less favourable than those provided
under the Seller MPF Scheme. In respect of the participation of each Accepting Employee- HK in the Buyer MPF
Scheme, the Buyer agrees that the years of service of the Accepting Employee- HK under the Buyer MPF Scheme shall
include the years of service of such Accepting Employee- HK with Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Limited and any years
of service currently recognised by Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Limited, and the Buyer shall procure the trustee of the
Buyer MPF Scheme to give effect to the same.
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17.2.5

In respect of the Accepting Employees- HK who transfer all their benefits accrued under the Seller MPF Scheme to the
Buyer MPF Scheme, the Seller shall procure that Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Limited shall transfer to the Buyer MPF
Scheme any unvested portion of voluntary contributions made by or Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Limited. The relevant
Buyer’ s Group Company which re-engages such Accepting Employees- HK undertakes that such unvested portion of
voluntary contributions shall continue to vest in the Accepting Employees- HK under the Buyer MPF Scheme, taking
into account the years of service of such Accepting Employees- HK with Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Limited.

17.3 Transferring Employees - Singapore

17.3.1

17.3.2

Transfer of EA Transferring Employees - Singapore. The employment of EA Transferring Employees - Singapore shall
be the subject of Singapore Statutory Transfers. By virtue of the Singapore Statutory Transfers, all of Eastern Pacific
Circuits (Singapore) Pte Ltd’ s rights, duties, powers, liabilities and obligations still in force immediately before
Completion in respect of any contract of employment with the each such Transferring Employee - Singapore shall be
transferred to the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company. The Seller and the Buyer shall procure, respectively, that Eastern
Pacific Circuits (Singapore) Pte Ltd and the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company shall each comply with its obligations
under the Singapore Employment Act with respect to the Singapore Statutory Transfers. Not later than one week before
Completion, the Seller shall procure that Eastern Pacific Circuits (Singapore) Pte Ltd delivers to all EA Transferring
Employees - Singapore a letter informing them of their change in employment and all other matters required pursuant to
the Singapore Statutory Transfer in the agreed form.

Transfer of Non-EA Transferring Employees - Singapore. The Buyer shall procure that the relevant Buyer’ s Group
Company shall offer, terms and conditions of employment to each of the Non-EA Transferring Employees - Singapore.
Such employment offer shall be on the following terms and conditions:-

(a) the terms and conditions of the employment by the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company of each Non-EA
Transferring Employee - Singapore shall be no less favourable to those of his present employment with the
Eastern Pacific Circuits (Singapore) Pte Ltd; and

(b) such employment with the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company shall commence on Completion.
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The Seller shall use its reasonable endeavours, and shall procure that Eastern Pacific Circuits (Singapore) Pte Ltd shall
use its reasonable endeavours, to persuade the Non-EA Transferring Employees - Singapore to accept employment with
the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company. The Seller shall procure that Eastern Pacific Circuits (Singapore) Pte Ltd shall
terminate the employment of the Non-EA Transferring Employees - Singapore who have accepted the employment offer
in writing in accordance with the provisions of their respective contracts of employment, which termination shall be
contemporaneous with Completion. Not later than one week before Completion, the Seller shall procure that Eastern
Pacific Circuits (Singapore) Pte Ltd shall deliver to all Non-EA Transferring Employees - Singapore a letter informing
them of their change in employment pursuant to this Agreement in the agreed form.

17.4 Transferring Employees - UK

17.4.1

17.4.2

The Seller and the Buyer acknowledge and agree that the sale of the Business of Eastern Pacific Circuits (UK) Limited
by Eastern Pacific Circuits (UK) Limited to the Buyer or relevant Buyer’ s Group Company is subject to the application
of the UK Transfer Regulations and that accordingly:

(a) the employment of any of the Transferring Employees - UK who are employed in such Business immediately
prior to Completion shall not be terminated for a reason arising from or connected in any way with this

Agreement; and

(b) by virtue of the UK Transfer Regulations all of Eastern Pacific Circuits (UK) Limited’ s rights, powers, duties
and liabilities under or in connection with any contract of employment (except for any provisions or liabilities
arising under or in connection with any occupational pension scheme and excluded from transfer under the
UK Transfer Regulations) with the Transferring Employees - UK still in force immediately before
Completion shall be transferred to the Buyer or relevant Buyer’ s Group Company on Completion; and

(c) the Seller shall procure that Eastern Pacific Circuits (UK) Limited shall comply with its obligations under the
UK Transfer Regulations.

The Buyer or the relevant Buyer’ s Group Company shall meet all its respective legal obligations under the UK Transfer
Regulations regarding pension benefits on and from Completion and, in particular, the Buyer or the relevant Buyer’ s
Group Company shall ensure that each of the Transferring Employees - UK who is entitled to pension contributions
under his or her contract of employment before Completion shall continue to be entitled to the same pension
contributions from his or her new employer on and from Completion.
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17.4.3 If, as a result of the UK Transfer Regulations, any contract of employment of any employee of Eastern Pacific Circuits
(UK) Limited (other than those of the Transferring Employees - UK) shall transfer to the Buyer or relevant Buyer’ s
Group Company on Completion, then:

(a) the Buyer or relevant Buyer’ s Group Company may, upon becoming aware of the application of the UK
Transfer Regulations, immediately terminate it; and

(b) the Seller shall indemnify the Buyer or relevant Buyer’ s Group Company against all Liabilities and Costs

which it or they may suffer or incur in relation to such contract of employment or its termination.

17.5 Transferring Employees - US

17.5.1 The Buyer agrees that it will offer employment to the Transferring Employees - US on terms and conditions no less
favourable than those then presently enjoyed with Eastern Pacific Circuits (USA) Corporation, such employment to
commence on the Completion Date.

17.5.2 On or before the Completion Date, Eastern Pacific Circuits (USA) Corporation shall deliver to each of the Transferring
Employees - US its letter of termination of employment whereby the employment of the Transferring Employees - US
with Eastern Pacific Circuits (USA) Corporation will terminate on the close of business on the day immediately
preceding the Completion Date and, subject to any rights or options they may have under applicable law and in
consideration of the offer of employment from the Buyer and the comparable severance, vacation and other benefits, the
Transferring Employees - US will agree to waive any severance benefits under Eastern Pacific Circuits (USA)
Corporation’ s policy, plan or practice or any agreement and will agree that all unused vacation time then accrued by the
Transferring Employees - US while employed by Eastern Pacific Circuits (USA) Corporation under its current vacation
policy, plan or practice or any agreement will be transferred to and assumed by the Buyer in full.

17.5.3 The Buyer will agree to assume all accrued vacation liability for the Transferring Employees - US and to provide credit
for the period of service with Eastern Pacific Circuits (USA) Corporation under any severance policy maintained in
respect of its current US employees for the Transferring Employees - US.
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17.6

18.

18.1

18.2

17.5.4 With respect to the one Transferring Employee - US who is participating in the 401(k) plan adopted by Eastern Pacific
Circuits (USA) Corporation, on the day immediately prior to the Completion Date, Eastern Pacific Circuits (USA)
Corporation shall terminate the 401(k) plan and all benefits currently held therein for the Transferring Employee - US
will be distributed to the Transferring Employee - US, or rolled over to a personal individual retirement account or to the
Buyer’ s comparable 401(k) plan as directed by the Transferring Employee - US. The Buyer agrees to accept any such
direct rollover to its comparable 401(k) plan, subject to a finding by such plan’ s fiduciary that such direct rollover does
not violate applicable law.

Transferring Employees - General

The Buyer shall for itself and for and on behalf of each member of the Buyer’ s Group indemnify the Seller (for itself and on behalf
of each member of the Seller’ s Group) from and against:

17.6.1 any Costs which arise in connection with the employment of the Transferring Employees or which arise directly or
indirectly from any act or omission by any member of the Buyer’ s Group in relation to any of the Transferring
Employees on or after the Completion Date;

17.6.2 any Costs arising directly or indirectly in connection with statements, representations, expressions of opinion by, or
discussions with, any member of the Buyer’ s Group about plans, proposals or intentions in relation to the Transferring
Employees;

17.6.3 any Costs arising from any claim brought against any Seller’ s Group Company by any of the Transferring Employees in

connection with the transfer of the Transferring Employees to any member of the Buyer’ s Group; and

17.6.4 any Costs (including severance costs) arising directly or indirectly in connection with the termination of the employment
of any of the Transferring Employees.

INSURANCE

The Buyer shall pay all additional premiums relating to the Business Insurance Policies arising as a result of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.

Other than in relation to the Business Insurance Policies, the Seller shall be entitled to arrange for all insurance provided by the
Seller’ s Group in relation to any Business, the Business Assets, the EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore Group (whether under
policies maintained with third party insurers or other members of the Seller’ s Group) to cease upon Completion. The Seller shall
give the Buyer not less than 14 days written
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19.

19.1

19.2

19.3

20.

20.1

notice of its intention to terminate any insurance policy relating to any Business and Business Assets, and shall provide the Buyer
with a copy of the relevant insurance policy.

POST-COMPLETION UNDERTAKINGS
The Seller shall, and shall procure that each Business Seller shall, as soon as practicable upon receipt, send to the Buyer:

19.1.1 all monies or other items belonging to the Buyer or a Buyer’ s Group Company which should have properly been paid or

provided to the Buyer or a Buyer’ s Group Company in relation to the Business; and
19.1.2 all notices, correspondence, orders or enquiries to the extent they relate to the Business,
which are received by the Seller or the relevant Business Seller after Completion.

The Buyer shall, and shall procure that each member of the Buyer’ s Group shall, as soon as practicable upon receipt, send to the
Seller all monies or other items belonging to the Seller or any Business Seller which should have properly been paid or provided to
the Seller or any Business Seller in relation to the Business in relation to the period up to and including Completion, and which are
received by the Buyer or any member of the Buyer’ s Group after Completion.

To the extent legally permitted, the Seller will at the request of the Buyer allow Buyer’ s Group Company to rely on the Seller’ s

Approvals pending issuance of new Approvals to the relevant member of the Buyer’ s Group.

TAX MATTERS

The Buyer shall bear and pay, and shall reimburse any Seller’ s Group Company for any amount borne or paid by it, all stamp duty,
sales tax, goods and services tax, value added tax and other transfer taxes, capital gains taxes (which would not have arisen but for
the transfer of the Sale Business and Assets hereunder), land transfer tax and/or fees (which would not have arisen but for the
transfer of the Sale Business and Assets hereunder) and other such Taxes (including interest and penalties) arising pursuant to this
Agreement. The Buyer shall be responsible for preparing and submitting all tax filings with the relevant tax authority in respect of
such taxes to the extent they are chargeable against any Buyer Group Company. At the request of the Buyer and at the Buyer’ s
expense, the Seller shall provide, and shall procure that each of the Business Sellers shall provide, reasonable assistance to the Buyer
to comply with this clause 20.1. The Buyer shall indemnify the Seller (on an after tax basis and for itself and on behalf of each
Seller’ s Group Company) any Costs (including interest and penalties) arising directly or indirectly in connection with such tax
filings or as a result of the Buyer’ s failure to comply with this clause 20.1.
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20.2

20.3

20.4

20.5

20.6

The Seller shall bear and pay any profits tax liability in respect of any balancing charge or deemed trading receipt that may arise at
any time in relation to the tax depreciation allowances or deductions that have been claimed by Eastern Pacific Circuits Property
Limited and Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Limited prior to the Completion Date in relation to the assets of Eastern Pacific Circuits
Property Limited and Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Limited (the “Depreciation Claw-back™) up to a maximum amount of
US$2,000,000. If the amount of the Depreciation Claw-back exceeds US$2,000,000, the Buyer shall bear and pay, and shall
reimburse any Seller’ s Group Company any amount borne or paid by any Seller’ s Group Company in respect of the excess above
US$2,000,000. In the event that there are tax losses available to the Business Sellers to offset any Depreciation Claw-back which
has arisen as a result of the transfer of the Sale Business and Assets, the Seller shall use such tax losses to reduce such liability.

All sums payable under this Agreement shall be paid free and clear of all deductions or withholdings whatsoever save only as
provided in this Agreement or as may be required by law.

If any deduction or withholding is required by law from any payment in respect of a Buyer Obligation or a Seller Obligation, then,
except in relation to interest, the person making the payment shall be obliged to pay the other person such additional sum as will,
after such deduction or withholding has been made, leave the other party with the same amount as it would have been entitled to

receive in the absence of any such requirement to make a deduction or withholding.

If any tax authority brings into charge to tax any sum paid by a person to any other person in respect of a Buyer Obligation or a
Seller Obligation, then, except in relation to interest, the amount so payable shall be grossed up by such amount as will ensure that,
after payment of the tax so charged, there will be left a sum equal to the amount that would otherwise have been payable had the
sum in question not been so charged to tax.

If any person receiving payment (the “Recipient”) in respect of a Buyer Obligation or a Seller Obligation receives a refund of or
relief from any tax or other monies payable by it or similar benefit by reason of any deduction or withholding for or on account of
tax or by reason of any tax charged in respect of which there is a gross up under clause 20.4 or clause 20.5, then it shall reimburse
to the other relevant persons such part of such additional payments paid to it pursuant to clause 20.4 or clause 20.5 by such other
persons as the Recipient, acting reasonably, certifies to the other persons will leave it (after such reimbursement) in no better or
worse position than it would have been in if no deduction or withholding had been required or no tax charge had arisen or (where
applicable) if the matter giving rise to the payment had not arisen.
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20.7

20.8

20.9

21.

21.1

21.2

22.

22.1

In determining the amount payable in respect of any Buyer Obligation or Seller Obligation, account shall be taken of any relief or
other benefit available to the Recipient or any of its holding companies or subsidiaries in respect of the matter giving rise to the
payment, insofar as not taken into account pursuant to clause 20.6.

For the avoidance of doubt, all sums payable by or on behalf of the Buyer to the Seller under this Agreement or any of the Other
Documents are exclusive of any applicable taxes referred to in clause 20.1 or clause 20.2.

Each party shall (at the expense of the requesting party) provide the other with such assistance as may reasonably be required in
connection with the preparation of any Tax Return or to otherwise carry out the provisions of this clause 20.

RECORDS

The Buyer shall, and shall procure that each member of the Buyer’ s Group shall, provide to the Seller and each Business Seller as
the Seller or relevant Business Seller may reasonably require such access to the Business Records held by it after Completion to the
extent that such Business Records relate exclusively to the Business and relate to the period up to Completion (the “Available
Records”) and shall make available necessary Transferring Employees (provided that such employees are still employed by the
Buyer’ s Group at the time of the request made by the Seller or the relevant Business Seller) (during normal business hours and at a
time acceptable to the Buyer or any relevant member of the Buyer’ s Group) solely for the purpose of enabling the Seller (at its own
cost) and each Business Seller (at its own cost) to wind down the operations of each Business Seller, to wind-up or liquidate each
Business Seller and in order comply with the obligations of the Seller and each Business Seller under this Agreement.

For the period from the Completion Date to the earlier of: (i) the date on which the last member of the Seller’ s Group is wound up
or liquidated; and (ii) the date falling four (4) years following the Completion Date, the Buyer shall not, and shall procure that each
Buyer’ s Group Company shall not, dispose of or destroy, any of the Available Records or the Business Records without first giving
the Seller at least two months’ notice of its intention to do so and giving the Seller the opportunity to remove and retain any of them
(at the Seller’ s expense).

CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION

Subject to clauses 22.2 and 23, the Seller undertakes to the Buyer, and the Buyer undertakes to the Seller, that it shall treat, and shall
procure that each of its affiliates and their employees, officers, agents, advisers and representative shall treat, as confidential and not
disclose or use any information received or obtained which relates to:
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222

223

22.4

22.1.1

22.1.2

22.13

22.14

22.1.5

the other party and its affiliates;

the provisions or the subject matter of this Agreement or any document referred to herein and any claim or potential
claim thereunder;

in the event that Completion does not take place, any information held or received by the Buyer’ s Group in relation to
the Seller’ s Group;

in the event that Completion does not take place, any information held or received by the Seller’ s Group in relation to
the Buyer’ s Group; or

the negotiations relating to this Agreement or any documents referred to herein.

Clause 22.1 does not apply to disclosure or use of any such information as is referred to in clause 22.1:

22.2.1

2222

2223

22.2.4

2225

which is required to be disclosed by law, by a rule of a listing authority or stock exchange (or equivalent thereof) to
which any party or its affiliate is subject or submits or by a Government Authority or other authority with relevant

powers to which any party or its affiliate is subject or submits, whether or not the requirement has the force of law;

to an adviser for the purposes of advising in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement provided
that such disclosure is essential for these purposes and is on the basis that clause 22.1 applies to the disclosure by the
adviser;

to a director, officer or employee of the Buyer or of the Seller or of the Seller’ s affiliate whose function requires him to
have the relevant confidential information;

to the extent that the information has been made public by, or with the consent of, the other party; or

to any of the Seller’ s shareholders or to any partner, shareholder, investor, affiliate, investment committee or investment
adviser of any of the Seller’ s shareholders provided that such disclosure is on the basis that clause 22.1 applies to
disclosure to such parties.

The restrictions contained in this clause 22 shall continue to apply after the termination of this Agreement without limit in time.

Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the Buyer from disclosing any information whatsoever about the Business or any Buyer’ s

Group Company after Completion.
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23.

23.1

23.2

233

23.4

24.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

Subject to clause 23.2, neither party may, before or after Completion, make or send a public announcement, communication or

circular concerning the transactions referred to in this Agreement unless it has first obtained the other party’ s written consent, which

may not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

Clause 23.1 does not apply to a public announcement, communication or circular:

23.2.1

23.2.2

2323

23.24

23.2.5

made or sent by the Buyer after Completion to a customer, client or supplier of the Target Group informing it of the
Buyer’ s purchase of each Business, the HK Shares and/or the Singapore Shares. provided that the Buyer may not make
any such announcement, communication or circular containing any reference to the shareholders of the Seller, without

first consulting the Seller or such shareholders;

required by law, by a rule of a listing authority or stock exchange (or equivalent thereof) to which any party or its
affiliate is subject or submits or by a Government Authority or other authority with relevant powers to which any party
or its affiliate is subject or submits, whether or not the requirement has the force of law;

made or sent by the Seller to its shareholders and to the partners, shareholders, investors, affiliates, investment
committees and investment advisers of the Seller’ s shareholders;

made or sent by the Seller, its advisers or the advisers of the Seller’ s shareholders after Completion in relation to

customary tombstone and league table announcements; or

where such public announcement, communication or circular contains only information which has already been made

public.

The restrictions contained in this clause 23 shall continue to apply after the termination of this Agreement without limit in time.

Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the Buyer from disclosing any information whatsoever about the Business or any Buyer’ s

Group Company after Completion.

ASSIGNMENT

A party shall not assign, transfer or in any other way alienate any of its rights under this Agreement whether in whole or in part

without the prior written consent of the other party.
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25.

25.1

25.2

26.

26.1

26.2

26.3

26.4

26.5

COSTS

Except where this Agreement provides otherwise, each party shall pay its own costs relating to the negotiation, preparation,
execution and performance by it of this Agreement and of each document referred to in it.

The Buyer undertakes to the Seller to indemnify and hold harmless the Seller against any and all Costs incurred or suffered by the
Seller in connection with the costs and expenses payable by any party (including legal fees) relating to any legal or other
professional advisory services in relation to the credit facility of US$30,000,000 being extended to the Buyer pursuant to the credit
agreement between Merix Caymans with Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited as Facility Agent and Standard Chartered
Bank (Hong Kong) Limited as Security Agent other than the Costs incurred by the Seller’ s legal or other professional advisers.

ENTIRE AGREEMENT
In this clause 26, the following definition applies:

“Representation” means representation, statement, assurance, covenant, undertaking, indemnity, guarantee or commitment

(whether contractual or otherwise).

Subject to the provisions of clause 26.2, this Agreement and each document referred to in it constitute the entire agreement and
supersede any previous agreements between the parties relating to the subject matter of this Agreement.

The parties are not liable to each other for a Representation that is not set out in this Agreement. Each of the parties agree that its
only remedy or remedies for an untrue statement (whether through negligence or otherwise) contained in this Agreement are those

set out in this Agreement.

The parties agree that none of them or any adviser to the relevant party shall have any liability to each other for a Representation
that is not set out in this Agreement. Each party or an adviser to the relevant party may enforce the terms of this clause 26.3 and
clause 26.4 as if they were a party hereto.

The Buyer and the Seller agrees that no party shall have any remedy or bring any action against the other in relation to (a) any
previous agreements between them relating to the subject matter of this Agreement or (b) any Representation other than the
Warranties or otherwise as set out in this Agreement.

Nothing in this clause 26 shall have the effect of limiting or restricting any liability arising as a result of any fraud.

48

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

27.

27.1

27.2

27.3

274

27.5

27.6

27.7

27.8

GENERAL
A variation of this Agreement is only valid if it is in writing and signed by or on behalf of each party.

The failure to exercise or delay in exercising a right or remedy provided by this Agreement or by law does not impair or constitute a
waiver of the right or remedy or an impairment of or a waiver of other rights or remedies. No single or partial exercise of a right or
remedy provided by this Agreement or by law prevents further exercise of the right or remedy or, save as referred to in clauses 10
and 26, the exercise of another right or remedy.

Except to the extent that they have been performed and except where this Agreement provides otherwise, the obligations contained

in this Agreement remain in force after Completion.

If a party fails to pay a sum due from it under this Agreement on the due date of payment in accordance with the provisions of this
Agreement, that party shall pay interest on the overdue sum from the due date of payment until the date on which its obligation to
pay the sum is discharged at 3 per cent. above the base rate from time to time of Standard Chartered Bank (accrued daily and
compounded monthly).

Save as otherwise provided herein, any payment to be made by any party under this Agreement shall be made in full without any
set-off, restriction, condition or deduction for or on account of any counterclaim.

If at any time any provision of this Agreement is or becomes illegal, invalid or unenforceable under the laws of any jurisdiction, that
shall not affect:

27.6.1 the legality, validity or enforceability in that jurisdiction of any other provision of this Agreement; or
27.6.2 the legality, validity or enforceability under the Law of any other jurisdiction of that or another provision of this
Agreement.

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when executed and delivered is an original and all
of which together evidence the same agreement. The parties agree that the execution of the Agreement may be effected by the
exchange of facsimile signature pages, with the exchange of the executed originals as soon as reasonably possible thereafter.

Each of the Seller and the Buyer agrees, and the Seller agrees to procure EPC Cayman, EPCL and the Business Sellers and the
Buyer agrees that it shall procure any Buyer’ s Group Company to execute (or procure the execution of) such further documents as
may be required by Law or as may be necessary to implement and give effect to this Agreement notwithstanding Completion. In the
absence of specific agreement to the contrary, each party shall be responsible for its own costs and expenses incurred in giving
effect to the provisions of clause 27.8.
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28.

28.1

28.2

28.3

NOTICES

A notice or other communication under or in connection with this Agreement (a “Notice’) shall be:

28.1.1 in writing;

28.1.2 in the English language; and

28.1.3 delivered personally or sent by mail, (if overseas) air mail, or by fax to the party due to receive the Notice to the address

set out in clause 28.3 or to another address, person or fax number specified by that party by not less than 5 Business

Day’ s written notice to the other party received before the Notice was despatched.

Unless there is evidence that it was received earlier, a Notice is deemed given if:

28.2.1 delivered personally, when left at the address referred to in clause 28.1.3;

28.2.2 sent by internationally recognised next-day courier, two Business Days after delivery to the courier;
28.2.3 sent by air mail, five Business Days after posting it; and
28.2.4 sent by fax, when confirmation of its transmission has been recorded by the sender’ s fax machine.

The address referred to in clause 28.1.3 is:

Name of party Address

Suite 2804, 28th Floor
One Exchange Square

The Seller
8 Connaught Place
Central
Hong Kong

with a copy to:

Baker & McKenzie
1401 Hutchison House
10 Harcourt Road
Central

Hong Kong
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29.

29.1

29.2

29.3

29.4

29.5

29.6

Marked for the

Name of party Address Fax No. attention of

1521 Poplar Lane 1503 357 1504 Mark R. Hollinger
The Buyer P.O. Box 3000, F4-234

Forest Grove OR 97116

United States of America

with a copy to: 1503 727 2222 Patrick J. Simpson
Perkins Coie LLP

1120 NW Couch Street

Tenth Floor

Portland, OR 97209

United States of America

Jones Day 852 2868 5871 Barbara Mok
31st Floor, Edinburgh

Tower

The Landmark

15 Queen’ s Road Central

Hong Kong

GOVERNING LAW ARBITRATION AND SERVICE OF PROCESS
This Agreement is governed by the laws of Hong Kong.

Any disputes arising under, out of or in connection with this Agreement, including any question regarding its existence, validity or
termination, shall be referred to and finally resolved by arbitration in Hong Kong in accordance with the Domestic Arbitration Rules
(the “Rules”) of the Hong Kong International Arbitration Centre (the “HKIAC”) for the time being in force, which Rules are
deemed to be incorporated by reference in this clause 29.2.

The arbitral tribunal constituted in accordance with the Rules shall consist of one arbitrator to be appointed by the Chairman of the
HKIAC, unless otherwise agreed by the parties.

The language of the arbitration shall be English.
The applicable law of the arbitration shall be Hong Kong law.

The foregoing shall not preclude any party from seeking interim relief or orders for interim preservation in any Court of competent
jurisdiction. Any such application to Court shall not demonstrate an intention to act inconsistently in any way with the agreement to
settle disputes by arbitration set out in this clause 29.
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29.7

29.8

The Buyer hereby irrevocably appoints Jones Day of 315 Floor, Edinburgh Tower, The Landmark, 15 Queen’ s Road Central, Hong
Kong as its agent to receive and acknowledge on its behalf service of any writ, summons, order, judgment or other notice of legal
process in Hong Kong and any writ, summons, order, judgement or other notice of legal process in Hong Kong shall be sufficiently
served on the Buyer if delivered to such agent at its address for the time being in Hong Kong. The Buyer undertakes not to revoke
the authority of this agent. If for any reason the agent named above (or its successor) no longer serves as agent of the Buyer for this
purpose, the Seller shall be entitled to appoint on behalf of the Buyer at the expense of the Buyer, and the Seller shall notify the
Buyer thereof.

The Seller hereby irrevocably appoints Baker & McKenzie of 1401 Hutchison House, 10 Harcourt Road Central, Hong Kong as its
agent to receive and acknowledge on its behalf service of any writ, summons, order, judgment or other notice of legal process in
Hong Kong and any writ, summons, order, judgement or other notice of legal process in Hong Kong shall be sufficiently served on
the Seller if delivered to such agent at its address for the time being in Hong Kong. The Seller undertakes not to revoke the authority
of this agent. If for any reason the agent named above (or its successor) no longer serves as agent of the Seller for this purpose, the
Buyer shall be entitled to appoint on behalf of the Seller at the expense of the Seller, and the Buyer shall notify the Seller thereof.
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SCHEDULE 1

PART 1 - BUSINESS SELLERS

Name of Business Seller Place of incorporation
1.

Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Limited Hong Kong
2.

Eastern Pacific Circuits (USA) Corporation California
3.

Eastern Pacific Circuits (Canada) Limited Ontario, Canada
4.

Eastern Pacific Circuits Property Limited Hong Kong
5.

Eastern Pacific Circuits (UK) Limited England
6.

Eastern Pacific Circuits (Singapore) Pte Ltd Singapore

PART 2 - CATEGORIES OF BUSINESS ASSETS
1. the Business Properties;

2. the Business Plant and Equipment;

3.  the Stock;

4.  the Accounts Receivable;

5. all benefits, rights and entitlements under all Business Contracts;
6.  the Business Claims;

7.  the Business Records;

8.  the Business IP;

9.  the Business Goodwill;

10. the Business Motor Vehicles;

11. all monetary deposits paid to third parties for the provision of utility services to the Business Sellers in connection with the Business;
and

12. prepayments of expenses to third parties paid by any Business Seller in connection with the Business.
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PART 3 - EXCLUDED ASSETS

10.

11.

12.

13.

all of the issued shares in the capital of each of the Business Sellers;

all of the issued shares in the capital of Universal Enterprise Limited;

the business and assets (if any) of Universal Enterprise Limited;

all of the issued shares in the capital of Lomber Investment Limited;

the business and assets (if any) of Lomber Investment Limited;

the Cash;

any rights of the Seller or any Seller’ s Group Company under this Agreement or the Other Documents;

the benefit of all insurance policies other than the Business Insurance Policies or insurance claims arising after Completion other than

insurance Claims arising in relation to the Business Insurance Policies;
the statutory registers and minute books, share certificate books and common seal of each of the Business Sellers;
the Approvals which are incapable of transfer, without prejudice to the provisions of clause 19.3;

the License for Eastern Pacific Circuits (UK) Ltd to occupy Unit 15, Greenlands Business Centre, Studley Road, Redditch, B98 7HD,
England;.

the Agreement of Lease entered into as of August 15, 2000 by and between Shelvin Plaza Associates ( as Owner) and Wong’ s Circuits
Corporation (as Tenant) regarding the premises located at 600 Old Country Road, Suite 226, Garden City, New York 11530 for a term of
five (5) years ending September 30, 2005; and

the Sublease Agreement dated May 1, 2003 by and between Eastern Pacific Circuits (USA) Corporation (as Overtenant) and PB
Consulting, LLC (as Undertenant) regarding the premises located at 600 Old Country Road, Suite 226, Garden City, New York 11530
for a term of two (2) years and five (5) months ending September 30, 2005.

PART 4 - ASSUMED LIABILITIES

All Liabilities relating to the Business Assets arising in the ordinary course of business.
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PART 5 - EXCLUDED LIABILITIES

1.

the Debt Amount;
any Liabilities arising solely in relation to the Security in respect of the period prior to the Completion Date;
any Liabilities arising solely in relation to the Excluded Assets;

any Liabilities and Costs relating to the restructuring of the Borrowings and the Security by the Seller or a Group Company prior to the
Completion Date;

any obligations of the Seller or any Seller’ s Group Company under this Agreement or the Other Documents; and

the Business Tax, except for those taxes to be borne or paid by the Buyer as expressly provided for in clause 20.1.

PART 6A - BUSINESS PROPERTIES

1.

2.

3.

the Canadian Property;
the property that is the subject of the Hong Kong Lease; and

Eastern Pacific Circuits (Singapore) Pte Ltd’ s leasehold interest in the property situated at #03-07, United House, 20 Kramat Lane,
Singapore 228773.

PART 6B - PROPERTY

1.

the Business Properties;

Eastern Pacific Circuits (Dongguan) Ltd’ s rights, title and interest in the property situated at Hing Yu Industrial District, Tongxia Town,
= ks
Dongguan City, Guangdong Province, PRC. FE RE RED BN E#RRIXE, formerly known as Wen Keng

Section, Tangxia Town W i ih ER:

Lomber (Huizhou) Ltd’ s leasehold interest in the property situated at Gu Tang Au Industrial District, Huizhou City Guangdong

Province, pRCPE] WA EMT HIENITXRE,;

Eastern Pacific Circuits (Huiyang) Ltd’ s rights, title and interest in the property situated at 23 Yin Ling Rd., The 3rd Ind. District, Chen
Jiang Town, Huizhou City, Guangdong
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Province, PRC. P Bl /i3 < LR P S %R SRS 23 5, formerly known as Shuang Guang, Zhong
Kai Da Dao, Chen Jiang Town, Huizhou City 55"‘“ T BR ﬂﬁ P8 AE k.

5. Eastern Pacific Circuits (Huizhou) Ltd’ s leasehold interest in the property situated at Gu Tang Au Industrial District, Huizhou City

Guangdong Province, PRC RE ERE EM hEEYTRE rand

6.  Eastern Pacific Circuits (Huizhou) Ltd’ s rights, title and interest in the property situated at

FE ERE EMNT ER BEH=4 305 110 141 &.

PART 7 - TRANSFERRING EMPLOYEES

7.1 Transferring Employees - Canada
1.
Stephen Leung Sales Engineer
2.
W.F. Yip Technical Manager
3.
Emil Wong. Technician
4.
Mary Chu Sales Manager
5.
Vivien Cheung Customer Service & account manager
7.2 Transferring Employees - HK
1.
Kung Yun King, Kings VP Manufacturing
2.
Tsang Ki Lo, Joseph VP Finance
3.
Leung Wai Chiu Manager
4.
Cheng Chau Yuet Amah
5.
Yiu Yuk Yin Janice Personnel & Training Officer
6.
Chan Mei Kin Messenger
7.
Cheung Shui Hung Amah
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

Liu Wai Man

Yeung Kam Yuen

Choy Kam Lun

Lam Kai Yick Rudolf

Lui Chi Keung

Ip Chi Po

Nip Kit Chi

Chan Wai Yim

Yau Wah Keung

Ng Lai Kuen Pauline

Wong Lee Po

Yeung Chi Ming

56

Manager

Sr. Engineer

Manager

Asst. Finance Manager

PMC Manager

Sr. Buyer

Supervisor

Sr. Clerk

Superintendent

Sr. Clerk

Store Keeper

Store Keeper
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20.

21.

22.

23.

24,

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

Wong Ching Lau

Cheng Hoi Ngan

Lee King Yung

Huang Tien Fu

So Chun Sun

Ng Wa Po

Yip Ting Kwan

Wong Shek Ming

Wong Luen Kwan

Ip Kim Hung

Lai Chong Fai

Li Fung Chun

Wu Mau Wah

Fung Kin Hung Coley

Lau Tze Wan

Wong Kam Tim

Siu Kwun Ming

Operator

Operator

Engineer

Technician

Technician

Technician

Sr. Engineer

Technician

Sr. Technician

Technician (CNC)

Technician (CNC)

Operator

Technician (Other)

Technician

Superintendent (Electric)

Sr. Technician (Mech.)

Sr. Technician (Other)
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37.

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

43.

44,

45.

46.

47.

48.

49.

50.

51.

52.

53.

Luk Ying Chau

Lai Kam Wong

Lee Chun Kwong

Ng Fai Kwok

Lau Chun Kong

Chuang Mao Nan

Poon Yau Keung

Kwok Lam Lam

Tsang Shiu On

Lau Hoi Hung

Tsoi Wai Chung

Kwok Wai Wai

Fan Oi Kuen

Sham Yin Lam

Ng Ah Fo

Kwong Sun Mui

Chong Chik Fung

Technician (Mech.)

Leader (Electric)

Sr. Technician (Mech.)

Technician (Mech.)

Superintendent

Superintendent

Supervisor

Supervisor

Asst. Supervisor

Superintendent

Supervisor

Forelady

Operator

Forelady

Operator

Operator

Operator
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54.

55.

56.

57.

58.

59.

60.

61.

62.

63.

64.

65.

66.

67.

68.

69.

Cheung Sau Yam

So Kan Chi

Kwok Wan Lai

Fong Tjoi Peng

Sze Lai Na

Kam Yan Lai

Ho Bing Tak

Wong Sau Kam

Choi Kwok Man

Hui Tsz Fan

Lau Wai Nam

Cheng Hau Wan

Poon Chun

Lau Wing Kwong

Chan So Ling

Ng Yuet Shuen

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Foreman

Operator

Foreman

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

57
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70.

71.

72.

73.

74.

75.

76.

77.
78.
79.
80.
81.
82.
3.
84.
85.
86.
87.
88.
89.
90.
91.
92.
93.
94.
95.
96.
97.
98.
99.

100.
101.
102.
103.
104.
105.
106.
107.

Liu Chin So

Yip Yin Yu

Pak Chi Man

Siu San Wan

Hung Mei Yung

Huang Chin Fa

Suen Tak Tsang

Chan King Fa
Wong Siu Fai
Yick Chuk Ping
Lam King Cheong
Lui Cheung Pui
Cheng Ngan Yuk
Wong Sau Ha

Poon Kam Chung Leon

Chu Po Wing

Li Cho Leung

Lui Chun Tin

Ng Yat Wa

Ma Chun Pan

Ng Cheung Wing
Yiu Hang Wa
Wai Kit Fong
Wong Ah Sing
Wong San Ping
Lam Kwan On
Tsang Kim Wai
Chan Kam Yung
Cheung Shui Wing
Li Pik Kuen
Chong Nung Choi
Tse Wai Mui

Ng Shuk Nui

Hui Wah Yin
Koon Kwok Chung
LiAE

Lau Chiu Ping
Ma Wai Lan

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Foreman

Operator
Setter
Operator
Foreman
Operator
Technician
Operator
Technician
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Foreman
Operator
Operator
Forelady
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Foreman
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
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108.
109.
110.
111.
112.
113.
114.
115.
116.
117.
118.
119.

Ng Sau Lung
Wong Wing Mei
Chan Mei Lei
Yu Yuet Chi
Lam Lai Na

Ng Chau Ha
Yung Sau Wan
Lam Mei Lin
Chan Yee Muk
Lee Yan Fau
Tam Chung Hing
Wong Wan Leung

Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Forelady
Operator
Operator
Setter

Foreman
Operator
Operator
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120.
121.
122.
123.
124.
125.
126.
127.
128.
129.
130.
131.
132.
133.
134.
135.
136.
137.
138.
139.
140.
141.
142.
143.
144.
145.
146.
147.
148.
149.
150.
151.
152.
153.
154.
155.
156.
157.
158.
159.
160.
161.
162.
163.
164.
165.
166.
167.
168.
169.

Cheung Ming Kang
Ng Kai Fu
Cheng Lai Tuen
Wong Yuet Lai
Hung Lai Yuk
Chan Yee Hong
Chan Kwai Fa
Ng Tan Fong
Wong Shuk Ming
Wong Wo Kwai
Tam Yuk Lan

Li Wai Shun

San Ka Ngan
Lam Choi Ha
Cheung Siu Sang
Lai So Lin

Lam Lai Ying
Chan Kam Tak
Tong Kin Shun
Chu Yuen Tak
Kam Lai Sheung
Chan Shun Chi
Lau Shing Kwai
Chan So Man
Kwok Mei Chun
Cheung Lin Hing
Suen Kwok Fong
Tang Kam Kuen
Chan Lai Heung
Chan Man Bun
Lau Chi Fai

Lam Lai Yung
Lau Wai Yip

To Hok Fung
Lee Kam Wan
Wong Yuet Lai
Kung Shun Chun
Sze Yim Hung
Yip Lai Ming

Li Pak Mei
Cheong Wai Ha
Lam Ching Yin
Kwok Sau Chu
Cheung Kin Lam
Cheung Kwai Chun
Chu Sau Man
Cheung Sau Mei
Heung Doi Hung
Wong Wai Kin
Chan Siu Ying

Foreman
Operator
Forelady
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Setter
Operator
Operator
Foreman
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Foreman
Foreman
Operator
Operator
Operator
Foreman
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Technician
Sr. Technician
Sr. Technician
Inspector
Inspector
Inspector
Technician
Technician
Inspector
Inspector
Inspector
Inspector
Inspector
Inspector
Inspector
Inspector
Superintendent
Forelady
Inspector
Inspector
Inspector
Forelady
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170.
171.
172.
173.
174.
175.
176.
177.
178.
179.
180.
181.
182.
183.
184.
185.
186.
187.
188.
189.
190.
191.
192.
193.
194.
195.
196.
197.
198.
199.
200.
201.
202.
203.
204.
205.
206.
207.
208.
209.
210.
211.
212.
213.
214.
215.
216.
217.
218.
219.

Wong Lai Chun
Wong Kam Fa
Tsoi Suet Loi
Kam Po Wai

Li Cheung Loi
Poon Pek Lan
Yeung Ngan Choi
Lam Yuet Mui
Teng Lie Suan
Lam Wai Chun
Wong Wing Lim
Chan Kwok Lung
Chan Lin Chu
Louie Yuet Ying
Lee Hoi Yin
Cheng Miu Wa
Lam Chung Lai
Lam Ming Dei
Wong Mei Kam
Tung Oi Mui
Tsang Shing Wah
Wan Sau Yuk
Tsoi Ying Ki
Yip Yuk Lin

To Mui Ying
Wong Yuk Wa
Li Lai King
Chan Kam Lam
Cheung Yat Sun
Chong Muk Chun
Chan Hoi Bun
Yau Mei Yan
Hung Kan Chuen
Shum Yin Yuk
Kui Shiu Po
Chan Yu Chik
Chan Lai Fong
Chin Pui Man

O Mei Nog
Wong Ping Fai
Fu Siu Chu

Yip So Chu

Ma Dik Yi
Wong Sik Ping
Su Chin Mu

Li Mei Na

O Mei Na

Chan Kwan

So Sai Muk

Limbu Shyam Kumar

Inspector
Operator
Inspector
Sr. Technician
Operator
Operator
Forelady
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Foreman
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Manager
Technician
Operator
Operator
Inspector
Foreman
Technician
Technician
Operator
Forelady
Driver
Inspector
Group Leader
Operator
Operator
Engineer
Operator
Engineer
Operator
Operator
Operator
Inspector
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Security Supervisor
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220.
221.
222.
223.
224.
225.
226.
227.
228.
229.
230.
231.
232.
233.
234.
235.
236.
237.
238.
239.
240.
241.
242.
243.
244.
245.
246.
247.
248.
249.
250.
251.
252.
253.
254.
255.
256.
257.
258.
259.
260.
261.
262.
263.
264.
265.
266.
267.
268.
269.

Lam Lai Ngo

Li Siu Yu

Wong Yin Ming
Wong Yuk Chun
Ting Chun Tao
Chan Fuk Sui

Ng Mei Mei Shirley
Tse Mui Ying
Lau So Mei
Wong Yan Chun
Lam Shuk Chu
Cheng Yau Ling
Lin Chih Ming
Lam Ho Man
Wong Hau Yu
Yuen Fat Lan
Liu Wing Keung
Wong Luen Chu
Chow Tim Hei
Cheu Sau Wan
Lam Hau Chun
Lau Ying Chat
Chow Kam Tong
Lau Wang Wa
Huang Tien Ming
Fung Wai Yung
Lau Choi Ling
Hui Fai Wong
Wong Yu Kai
Poon Ching Kwok
Tong Yin Chu
Chiu Wai Kwong
Tsang Siu Bond
Wong Sum Ying
Huang Hang Shan
Ho Siu Mui

Wan Shun Lit
Fung Pui Ling
Lam Lai Lai

Tsui Mou Fat
Chiu Fung Gau
Fong Chiu Lai
Lam Tit Yeung
Lee Lap Wai
Tam Kam Fong
Ng Hung Fai
Tsoi Shuk Hing
Kok Wai Hang
Ku Siu Ping

Lai So Ching

Amah

Operator

Amah

Operator

Operator

Operator

Executive Assistant
Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator
Technician (Electric)
Operator
Technician (Electric)
Operator

Amah

Supervisor
Engineer

Manager

Foreman

Operator

Operator

Operator

Cook

Security Guard
Operator

Asst. Technician
Asst. Technician
Operator

Operator

Operator
Technician (Mech.)
Technician
Operator

Leader

Operator

Operator
Technician (Electric)

Manufacturing Manager

Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
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270.
271.
272.
273.
274.
275.
276.
277.
278.
279.
280.
281.
282.
283.
284.
285.
286.
287.
288.
289.
290.
291.
292.
293.
294.
295.
296.
297.
298.
299.
300.
301.
302.
303.
304.
305.
306.
307.
308.
309.
310.
311.
312.
313.
314.
315.
316.
317.
318.
319.

Wong Miu Wong
Ko Mui Kwai
Chan Chun Tai

Ho Wai Kwong
Ng Kam Lung
Wong Lai King
Yam Shing Wing
Cheng Kai Ching
Wong Hiu Hong
Lai Cheung Mui
Ip Suet Ho

Wong Tuen Chung
Leung Lai Ling
Ho Man Wai

Lau Mai Yue Ai
Chan Sun Chi
Kong Kam Fung
Cheung Chung Ming
Wong On Chi

To Sau Wan

Ng Yuen Mei

Chu Kim Miu
Leung Ngai Lung
Wong Ngan Suet
Wong Sum

Wong Wai Fui
Kwok Hiu Wang
Pun Shui Ping
Choi Chi Ming Andy
Yau Lin Fung

Law Man Ching
Wong Chi Keung
Mak Yin Chun
Wong Mei Nga

So Chi Lung

Poon Siu Ling
Tsang Hon Wing
Wong Siu Fai

Li Chun Fung
Wong Siu Ho
Wong So Chun
Wong Yin Yuk
Wong Sau Fong
Chan Tsan Sum
Yuen Chung Kee Roy
Cheung Yiu Ko
Liu Tze King Stefan
Tse Mau Fung
Chan Tak Kuen
Chan Sze Chung

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator
Technician
Operator
Technician (Other)
Operator

Operator

Operator
Technician
Technician (Other)
Operator

Systems Analyst
Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Section Head
Inspector

Security Guard
Operator

Senior Engineer
Operator

Operator
Technician (Mech.)
Operator

Asst. Cook
Operator

Operator

Senior Planner
Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator
Technician
Operator

Operator

Operator
Technician
Manager

Network Administrator
Account Manager
Account Manager
Assistant Manager
Operator
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320.
321.
322.
323.
324.
325.
326.
327.
328.
329.
330.
331.
332.
333.
334.
335.
336.
337.
338.
339.
340.
341.
342.
343.
344.
345.
346.
347.
348.
349.
350.
351.
352.
353.
354.
355.
356.
357.
358.
359.
360.
361.
362.
363.
364.
365.
366.
367.
368.
369.

Leung Yu Yan
Cheung Wai Nog
Tsui Man Ying
Chan Wai Man
Cheng Chun Yung
Poon Kwok Fai
Tang Pak Yin
Leung Kwai Ying
Hung Hiu Chun
Chan Mong Sing
Wong Kwai Fun
Shih Man Koi
Cheng Kong Fan
Kwan Kwok Ming
Chan Chung Lam

Li Hon Ming, Danny

Leung Ping Choi
Chan Chun Chun
Ma Chun Wa
Lai Lai Chu
Lam So Fun

Ho Yuen Hung
Lam Chi Fan

Xu Hong Qi

Lui Mei Sui

Sze King Shan
Lam Chun Yuen
Yeung Man Tan
Sze Chui Ching
Liu Xiaohua
Lau Oi Ying
Wong Yuet Kwan
Tsoi Pan Lin
Ting Shan Shan
Chan Tuen Ling
Leung Yuen Ki
Tong Yun Kong
Yau Wan Mui
Cheng Wai Tat
Tsoi Yuen Mei
Lam Chi Kin
Wong Lun Cheung
Chan Chiu Man
Tong Yu Man
Lin Meng Jung
Li Yiu To

Lam Hung Chiu
Mui Chi Wang
Ko Chi Yin
Chui Chung Hau

Technician
Operator
Operator
Technician

Asst. Technician
Security Guard
Technician
Operator
Operator
Operator
Inspector
Foreman

Driver
Technician (Mech.)
Operator

Sales Engineer
Technician

Asst. Engineer
Operator
Operator
Inspector
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator

Project Engineer
Operator
Inspector
Inspector
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
General Manager
Operator
Business Development Officer
Operator
Operator
Operator
Operator
Superintendent
Technical Director
Foreman
Operator

Group Leader
Asst. Training Supervisor
Operator
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370.
371.
372.
373.
374.
375.
376.
377.
378.
379.
380.
381.
382.
383.
384.
385.
386.
387.
388.
389.
390.
391.
392.
393.
394.
395.
396.
397.
398.
399.
400.
401.
402.
403.
404.
405.
406.
407.
408.
4009.
410.
411.
412.
413.
414.
415.
416.
417.
418.
419.

Lam King Sum
Cheng Chung Man
Yuen Kin Yan Alan
Tang Siu Hung

Yu Oi Ying

Kei Kwan Wah

Lai Kai Pang
Cheung Yat Shun
Tsang Suet Ping Novem
Chan Ling Ling
Chan Sze Yuen
Chan Ka Wai

Wong Suet Ping
Yau Wai Heung

Wu Ha Fong

Yeung Pik

Lau Mei Kam

Au Choi Ling Sylvia
Yiu Kam Man
Wong Chin Fai
Yang Yanru

Yip Wing Ching
Chau Miu Kam, Vivian
Chiu Ching Fa

Chiu Wing Hing
Lau Ying Hung
Wong Chi Kwan

Lo Tak Shing

Leung Wai Ki

Yan Wai Kwok
Chiu Shuk Ying
Leung Sheung Mei
Chong Chum Wing
Ng Kwan Sin Sunny
Quek Seow Cher
Chow Yuen Mei Mary
Ngai Kai Loong Dominic
Tse Lai Ling

Lo Siu Hing

Tsoi Chun Mui
Tsang Shu Kei

Ng Yau Chung
Yang Rong

Li Qiugan

Tsang Kam Fai

He Qiu Xiu

Yu Kwok Kei

Mok Kwai Man
Lam Siu Tat

Tam Siu Hung

Asst. General Manager
Operator

Finance Manager
Engineer

Operator

Operator

Asst. Manager
Engineer

Senior Finance Manager
Operator

Operator

Clerk

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Asst. Accountant
Asst. Engineer
Foreman

Operator
Technician (Other)
Officer

Operator

Business Report Analyst
Operator

Operator

Planner

Store Keeper
Operator

Operator

Clerk

Helper

Material Director
Sr. VP Operation
Customer Services Director
MIS Director
Operator

Operator

Operator

Engineer
Inspector
Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator
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420.
421.
422.
423.
424.
425.
426.
427.
428.
429.
430.
431.
432.
433.
434.
435.
436.
437.
438.
439.
440.
441.
442.
443.
444.
445.
446.
447.
448.
449.
450.
451.
452.
453.
454.
455.
456.
457.
458.
459.
460.
461.
462.
463.
464.
465.
466.
467.
468.
469.

Wun Sze Lim Freddy
Chuk Cheung Hoi
Chim Wan Lung

Tam Wai Po

Chui Ho Ki
Nanthakumar Kanniah
Chong Guan Thong
Nie Ling

Cheung Chin Pong
Ng Chak Wo

Yeung Ching Ping
Lau Hung Helen

Ho Ka Kui Edmond
Li Wai Lung

Tse Wai Hung

Lee Chun Fai

Wong Shui Man
Wong Pan Wa

Chan Man Kuen

Ho Mei Ling

Ng Yim Lai Amy
Choi Wai Ming

Au Mei Ting Meggy
Wong Ka Fai

Fung Sau Fong

Shek Yin

Fan Chiu Wui

Yau Chi Leung

Chan Yuen Ying Lorraine
Pang Keng Chi Rebecca
Chan Sze Kar

Li Yue Yun

Kwok Chun Him
Cheng Nok Yin

Lai Wai

Yip Yuen Cheung Eppie
Tan Enna

Ng Chun Ming Luxemburg
Kwok Chuk Wan
Shek Wai Yin

Sze Ki Mong

Li Yin Wa

Leung Ho Yin

Lau Yuk Ping

Lui Hin Hai

Lee Sin Lam Carol
Wong Shing Ming
Lin Hing Yuen, Dave
Poon Yiu Wa, Steve
Lau Ho Cheung

VP Marketing
Operator

Operator

Driver

Temp. Clerk
Senior Manager
Purchasing Director
Inspector

Asst. Engineer
Operator

Operator

Account Manager
C.S. Officer
Operator

Inspector

Support Analyst
Operator

Operator

Operator

Operator

Secretary

Clerk

C.S. Officer
Operator

Amah

Operator

Operator

Operator

Asst. Accountant
Asst. Accountant
Senior Programmer
Operator

Senior Buyer
Accountant
Operator

Sr. HR Manager
Sr. Buyer

Account Manager
Clerk

Buyer

Sr. Engineer

Amah

Asst. Finance Manager
Secretary
Application Manager
Asst. Adm. Officer
Temp. Helper
Engineering Director
Financial Controller
Sr. Engineer
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470.
471.
472.
473.
474.
475.
476.
477.
478.
479.
480.
481.
482.
483.
484.
485.
486.
487.
488.
489.
490.
491.
492.
493.
494.
495.
496.
497.
498.
499.
500.
501.
502.
503.
504.
505.
506.
507.
508.
509.
510.
511.
512.
513.
514.
515.
516.
517.
518.
519.

Ng Yee Ling

Wu Ka Kit

Cheng Cheuk Fun
Lam Chun Kei
Jerry Rodrigues
Yau Man Ki

Lam Wing Keung
Wong Yuen Kwai
Leung Hung Sum
Au Tim Lun

Li Wai Kin

Lai Wing Mui
Tsang Wai Wai

Li Pak Hang
Leung Lai Yan
Choy Ma Fat

Lam Ching Yee
Chan Wai Lun
Wong Ching Yee Agnes
Choi Yau Cheung
Wong Yuk Kam
Chu Kok Sang
Tsui Suet Kwan
Pang Hiu Tung
Wu Hoi Fai

Tsang Woon Hung
Yim Tze Kin
Wong Ping Ho
Fung Ying Bill
Fung Ka Ming Henry
Chan Chung Ki Allan
Au Ho Yin

Chan Ka Wing
Chong Yik Man
Chung Wai Keung
Chu Po Ling

Foo Chee Shin
Fok Wai Shan

Ho Ling

Kwok Mei Ling
Lee Ching Cheung
Law Tsz Tun

Lee Kong Hon
Lee Ki Kin

Li Tung Wing

Lui Xin Mei

Ng Teik Ming

Tse Nga Shan
Tsoi Leung Chin
Wong Chun Man

Officer

Accountant

Asst. Accountant
Asst. Finance Manager
CEO

Personnel Assistant
Technician
Operator

Operator

Senior Programmer
Superintendent
Operator

Operator
Technician

Asst. Engineer
Operator
Technician

Temp. Fitter

C.S. Officer

Store Keeper
Operator

Temp. Fitter

Asst. Cook

Asst. Accountant
Temp. Clerk
Driver

Sr Analyst Programmer
Accountant
Security Guard
Asst. Accountant
Accountant

Asst Accountant
Receptionist
Operator

Operator

Temp Operator
General Manager
Temp Technician
Operator

Operator

Temp Security Guard
Technician

Quality Assurance Director

Asst Engineer
Asst Engineer
Temp Amah
Sr Manager
Technician
Inspector
Technician
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520. Wong Wing Wa Technician

521. Eddie Sik Yin Wong VP-Global Sales
522. Chan Kwan On Engineer
523. Tsang Kwong Pan Senior Engineer
7.3 Transferring Employees - Singapore
1.
Ng Siu Leung Martin Sales Director
Teo Soon Meng James Sales Manager
2.
Lim Ai Li Angeline Sales Engineer
3.
Chua Shu Ping Rain Sales Clerk
4.
7.4 Transferring Employees - UK
1.
T. Lui Peter Sales Director
Y. T. Hui Daisy Office Clerk
2.
Zhang Zheng Wen Sherman Technical Engineer
3.
Kent Wong Assistant Account Manager
4.
Li Tung Wing Edwin Technical Engineer
5.
7.5 Transferring Employees - US
1.
Sheilah Alegre Sales Engineer
2.
David Valentine Sales Director

PART 8 - BUSINESS INSURANCE POLICIES

Refer to list attached.
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1.1

SCHEDULE 2

COMPLETION REQUIREMENTS

Seller’ s obligations

At Completion the Seller shall deliver or procure the delivery to the Buyer of (or make available to the Buyer):

1.1.1

1.1.2

a copy of the duly executed Security Release Documents;
as evidence of the authority of each person executing a document on the Seller’ s behalf:

(a) a copy of the minutes of a duly held meeting of the directors of such Seller (or a duly constituted committee
thereof) authorising the execution by the Seller of the document and, where such execution is authorised by a
committee of the board of directors of the Seller, a copy of the minutes of a duly held meeting of the directors

constituting such committee or a relevant extract thereof; or
(b) a copy of the power of attorney conferring the authority,
in each case certified to be true by a director or the secretary of the Seller;

duly executed sold notes in respect of the HK Shares in favour of the Buyer or its nominee(s) (subject to written
notification of the identity of the nominee(s) to the Seller not less than three (3) Business Days before Completion);

duly executed transfers in respect of the Singapore Shares in favour of the Buyer or its nominee(s) (subject to written
notification of the identity of the nominee(s) to the Seller not less than three (3) Business Days before Completion), and
a working sheet computing the net asset value per share of EPCI Singapore in the form prescribed by the Stamp Duty
Branch of the Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore and signed by a director or the secretary of EPCI Singapore;

resignations in the agreed form from the directors and secretary nominated by the Buyer of EPCI HK, Lomber Circuits
(Huizhou) Limited and each EPCI Singapore Group Company appointed by the Seller or the relevant Seller’ s Group
Company expressed to take effect from the end of the relevant meeting held pursuant to paragraph 1.2;

possession of the Business, the Business Properties and of the other tangible Business Assets hereby agreed to be sold
including:

(a) the Business Plant and Equipment;
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1.1.10

1.1.11

1.1.12

1.1.13

(b) the Stock;

(c) copies of the written Business Contracts;

(d) the Business Records;

(e) the documents relating to the Business IP;

® the Business Motor Vehicles; and

(2) all the designs and drawings, plans, manufacturing data, technical and sales publications, advertising material

and other technical and sales matter of the Business Sellers in relation to each of the Businesses together with
any plates, blocks, negatives and other like material relating to each of the Businesses;

a duly executed assignment in the agreed form of the Hong Kong Lease;

a duly executed Transfer/Deed of Land or Authorization and Direction permitting the electronic registration of a Transfer
of the Canadian Property in the agreed form;

in respect of each of the Business Motor Vehicles owned by Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Limited and used exclusively
by Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Limited for the purposes of its Business, the prescribed notice and the vehicle
registration document (and shall also deliver or procure delivery of a duplicate of the prescribed notice to the Transport
Department of Hong Kong as soon as reasonably practicable after Completion); and

notice of transfer relating to the sale and purchase of the Business of Eastern Pacific Circuits (HK) Limited is published
in accordance with the provisions of the Transfer of Businesses (Protection of Creditors) Ordinance;

the certificate of incorporation, common seal, minute books, statutory registers duly written up to date and share
certificate books and all other statutory records of EPCI HK and EPCI Singapore;

the title deeds and documents relating to the Properties owned or occupied by each member of the Target Group;

an extract of the resolution of the sole shareholder of Eastern Pacific Circuits (Singapore) Pte Ltd approving the
disposition of its Business Assets pursuant to Section 160 of the Singaporean Companies Act (Chapter 50) and, pursuant
to such shareholder approval, the resolution of the board of directors of Eastern Pacific Circuits (Singapore) Pte Ltd
approving such disposition on the terms of this Agreement;
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2.1

2.2

1.1.14

1.1.15

an extract of the resolution of the sole shareholder of Eastern Pacific Circuits (Canada) Limited approving the sale of its
Business Assets and, pursuant to such shareholder approval, the resolution of the board of directors of Eastern Pacific
Circuits (Canada) Limited approving such disposition on the terms of this Agreement; and

a duly executed Tax Deed.

Subject to the Buyer complying with all its obligations under clause 5 and paragraph 2 below, the Seller shall procure that at
Completion a meeting of the board of directors of each of EPCI HK and EPCI Singapore is held at which the directors:

1.2.1

1.2.2

1.23

vote in favour of the registration of the Buyer as a member of EPCI HK and EPCI Singapore in respect of the HK Shares
and the Singapore Shares (as applicable) subject to (i) in the case of the Singapore Shares, the stamping of the share
transfer form for the Singapore Shares, and (ii) in the case of the HK Shares, the stamping of the instrument of transfer
and the bought & sold notes in respect of the HK Shares;

appoint the persons nominated by the Buyer as directors and secretary of EPCI HK and EPCI Singapore (as applicable)
with effect from the end of the meeting; and

accept the resignations of each director and secretary referred to in paragraph 1.1.5 above (as applicable) so as to take
effect from the end of the meeting.

Buyer’ s obligations

At Completion the Buyer shall deliver to the Seller as evidence of the authority of each person executing a document on the Buyer’ s

behalf:

2.1.1

2.1.2

a copy of the minutes of a duly held meeting of the directors of the Buyer (or a duly constituted committee thereof)
authorising the execution by the Buyer of the document and, where such execution is authorised by a committee of the
board of directors of the Buyer, a copy of the minutes of a duly held meeting of the directors constituting such committee
or the relevant extract thereof; or

a copy of the power of attorney conferring the authority,

in each case certified to be a true copy by a director or the secretary of the Buyer.

a certified copy of the certificate of incorporation of each new entity that has been incorporated or established for the purposes of

acquiring the Business Assets, and if applicable, the EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore Group, together with a letter signed

by a director of the Buyer that each entity is wholly-owned by the Buyer and a certified copy of the register of members of each

such entity to evidence such fact;
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2.4

2.5

2.6

a duly executed Tax Deed;

a duly executed Assignment in the agreed form of the Hong Kong Lease;

a certified copy of the Deed of Undertaking between Merix Manufacturing (Hong Kong) Limited and the Hong Kong Science and

Technology Parks Corporation; and

a certified copy of the Proposal Form between Merix Manufacturing (Hong Kong) Limited and the Hong Kong Science and

Technology Parks Corporation.
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1.3

1.4

1.5

2A.

2A1

SCHEDULE 3

SELLER’ S WARRANTIES
ORGANIZATION

Each of the Seller, EPCL and EPC Cayman is an exempted company duly incorporated, validly existing and in good standing under
the laws of the Cayman Islands.

Each member of the EPCI HK Group (including any of its representative offices or branches) has been duly incorporated or
established, is validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its respective place of incorporation or establishment, and has
the corporate power, authority and the necessary licences and permits required by applicable laws to conduct its respective business
as now conducted in its present location and to own, operate and lease its respective properties and assets.

Each member of the EPCI Singapore Group (including any of its representative offices or branches) has been duly incorporated or
established, is validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its respective place of incorporation or establishment, and has
the corporate power, authority and the necessary licences and permits required by applicable laws to conduct its respective business
as now conducted in its present location and to own, operate and lease its respective properties and assets.

Each of the Business Sellers is a company duly incorporated and validly existing under the laws of its respective place of
incorporation, and has the corporate power, authority and the necessary licences and permits required by applicable laws to conduct
its respective Business as now conducted in its present location and to own, operate and lease its respective Business Assets.

The information set out in the Recitals (A) and (B) of this Agreement and schedules 11 and 12 is true and accurate.

ENFORCEABILITY

All corporate action on the part of each of the Seller, EPCL, EPC Cayman and the Business Sellers and their respective officers,
directors and shareholders necessary for the authorization, execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Other
Documents to which any of them is a party and the performance of each of their respective obligations under this Agreement and the
Other Documents to which any of them is a party has been taken or will be taken as of or prior to Completion. This Agreement has
been, and each of the Other Documents to which any of the Seller, EPCL, EPC Cayman and the Business Sellers is a party, will
have been at Completion, duly executed and delivered by the Seller, EPCL, EPC Cayman and the Business Sellers and, as the case
may be, and this Agreement is, and each of the Other
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2.1

2.2

23

Documents to which any of them is a party will be, (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by Buyer) at Completion, a
legal, valid and binding obligation of and enforceable against each of them, as the case may be, in accordance with its terms.

Save as disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Other Documents by
the Seller, EPCL, EPC Cayman and the Business Sellers will not (a) constitute a violation (with or without the giving of notice or
lapse of time, or both) of any applicable Law (including, without limitation, the provision, receipt or use of funds in violation of any
applicable antitrust laws and applicable anti-bribery or anti-corruption regulations in any relevant jurisdiction); (b) require any
consent, approval or authorization of any person; (c) conflict with or result in a breach of or constitute a default under any provision
of the respective constituent or charter documents of the Seller, EPCL, EPC Cayman and the Business Sellers; or (d) result in any
breach of, or constitute a default (with or without the giving of notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give to others any rights of
termination, amendment, acceleration or cancellation of, or result in the creation of any Encumbrance on any HK Shares, any
Singapore Shares or any of the assets or properties of any Target Group Company pursuant to, any note, bond, mortgage, indenture,
contract, agreement, lease, license, permit, franchise or other instrument relating to such assets or properties, to which the Seller,
EPCL, EPC Cayman and the Business Sellers is a party or by which any of such assets or properties is bound or affected.

CAPACITY AND AUTHORITY

Each of the Seller, EPCL, EPC Cayman and the Business Sellers has the right, power and authority, and has taken all corporate
action necessary, to execute, deliver and perform its respective obligations, under this Agreement and the Other Documents to which

it is expressed to be a party and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

The respective obligations of the Seller, EPCL, EPC Cayman and each Business Seller under this Agreement and each Other
Document to which each of them is expressed to be a party are, or when the relevant document is executed will be, enforceable in
accordance with their respective terms and this Agreement, and the Other Documents to which each of them is expressed to be a
party when executed will, constitute valid and binding obligations of it.

The execution, delivery and performance by each of the Seller, EPCL, EPC Cayman and the Business Sellers of this Agreement and
the Other Documents to which it is expressed to be a party and of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby will not conflict
with or result in a breach of, or constitute a default under, any provision of its respective articles of association.
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3.1

3.2

33

34

3.5

3.6

3.7

With respect to each of the Seller, EPCL, EPC Cayman and the Target Group Companies:

2.4.1 it has not passed a resolution for its winding-up;
242 it is not being wound up;
243 no petition or any other legal process has been presented to any court for its winding-up or for an administration order

(which is not discharged within 14 days); and

2.4.4 no liquidator, receiver, administrator or manager has been appointed to it or over all or a substantial part of its business

or assets.

EPCI HK

The authorized and issued share capital of EPCI HK consists of 2,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$1 each, all of which have been
duly authorized and validly issued and allotted and not issued in violation of or subject to any pre-emptive rights.

EPC Cayman is the sole beneficial owner of the HK Shares.

The HK Shares comprise the whole of EPCI HK’ s allotted and issued share capital and are fully paid or credited as fully paid. EPCI
HK has not exercised any lien over the HK Shares and there is not any outstanding call on any of the HK Shares.

Except for the HK Shares, there are no equity securities of any class or series of EPCI HK, or any security exchangeable into or
exercisable for such equity securities, issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding. There are no options, warrants, conversion rights
or other agreements to which EPCI HK is a party or by which EPCI HK is bound obligating EPCI HK to issue, deliver or sell
additional shares in the capital of EPCI HK.

EPC Cayman has not entered into any agreement or understanding with respect to the voting of the HK Shares.

Save as Disclosed, and save as in respect of the Retained Security, on Completion, EPC Cayman will have full power and authority
to convey to the Buyer good title to all of the HK Shares and there will be no Encumbrance in relation to any of the HK Shares.

EPCI HK is the registered and beneficial owner of an 85.29% equity interest in Eastern Pacific Circuits (Dongguan) Ltd and a 90%
equity interest in Lomber (Huizhou) Limited, in each case, free and clear of Encumbrance.
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4.2

43

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

5.1

5.2

6.1

EPCI SINGAPORE

The authorized and issued share capital of EPCI Singapore consists of 2 ordinary shares of S$1.00 each, all of which have been duly
authorized and validly issued and allotted and not issued in violation of or subject to any pre-emptive rights.

EPCL is the sole beneficial owner of the Singapore Shares.

The Singapore Shares comprise the whole of EPCI Singapore’ s allotted and issued share capital and are fully paid or credited as
fully paid. EPCI Singapore has not exercised any lien over the Singapore Shares and there is not any outstanding call on any of the
Singapore Shares.

Except for the Singapore Shares, there are no equity securities of any class or series of EPCI Singapore, or any security
exchangeable into or exercisable for such equity securities, issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding. There are no options,
warrants, conversion rights or other agreements to which EPCI Singapore is a party or by which EPCI Singapore is bound obligating
EPCI Singapore to issue, deliver or sell additional shares in the capital of EPCI Singapore.

EPCL has not entered into any agreement or understanding with respect to the voting of the Singapore Shares.

Save as Disclosed, and save as in respect of the Retained Security, on Completion, EPCL will have full power and authority to
convey to the Buyer good title to all of the Singapore Shares and there will be no Encumbrance in relation to any of the Singapore
Shares.

EPCI Singapore is the registered and beneficial owner of a 95% equity interest in Eastern Pacific Circuits (Huiyang) Ltd and an 85%
equity interest in Eastern Pacific Circuits (Huizhou) Ltd, in each case, free and clear of Encumbrance.

BUSINESS SELLERS

All of the issued shares in the capital of each Business Seller is legally and beneficially owned by a Group Company free from
Encumbrances.

Save as Disclosed, each Business Seller is the legal and beneficial owner of the Business Assets and Business Properties set out in
Schedule 1, free and clear of Encumbrance.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Seller has made available to the Buyer true and complete copies of the Financial Statements. So far as the Seller is aware, since
31 December 2004 there has been no Material Adverse Change in comparison with the business or financial position of the Target
Group as a whole, or the assets or liabilities of the Target Group as a whole as
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6.3

6.4

6.5

8.1

reflected in the FY2004 Audited Accounts. The FY2004 Audited Accounts have not included any accrual for payment of dividend
by Eastern Pacific Circuits (Huizhou) Limited and EPCI Singapore.

The Disclosure Letter contains the draft Financial Statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2003, the Financial
Statements for the financial years ended 31 December 2002 and 31 December 2001, the Management Accounts and the FY2005
Monthly Management Accounts for January 2005 and February 2005 (the “Disclosed Financial Statements™).

The Financial Statements present fairly and accurately in all material respects, the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the Seller’ s Group Companies as of dates thereof and for the periods covered thereby indicated. The Financial Statements
have been prepared in accordance with HK GAAP consistently applied throughout the periods covered thereby.

At Completion (subject to the Borrowings being repaid), each of the Seller, EPCL, EPC Cayman, the Business Sellers and EPCI HK
Group and EPCI Singapore Group will be solvent.

Adequate provision has been made in the FY2004 Audited Accounts in accordance with HK GAAP with respect to plant and
equipment.

LITIGATION

So far as the Seller is aware, (a) no Target Group Company or any of its officers or directors set out in schedule 11 and schedule 12
hereto is involved in any civil, criminal, arbitration, administrative or other proceeding (other than in relation to the collection of
debts arising in the ordinary course of business of the relevant Target Group Company) or investigation, (b) no civil, criminal,
arbitration, administrative or other proceedings (other than in relation to the collection of debts arising in the usual course of
business) or investigation is pending or threatened by or against any Target Group Company, (c) no Target Group Company has
received notice of any order, writ, judgment, injunction, decree, stipulation, consent order, determination or award of any
Government Authority court or tribunal to which it is subject; and (d) there are no claims, actions, suits, proceedings or
investigations pending or threatened by or against the Seller, EPCL, EPC Cayman, EPCI HK Group or EPCI Singapore Group with
respect to this Agreement or the Other Documents, or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.

GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORISATIONS AND REGULATIONS

So far as the Seller is aware, each Target Group Company has obtained all applicable and material governmental consents, licences,

permits, grants, or other authorizations of a Government Authority that is required for the operation of its business as now

76

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

8.2

8.3

9.1

9.2

9.3

conducted in its present location (each an “Approval”), and each such Approval is in full force and effect. So far as the Seller is
aware, each Target Group Company has fulfilled and performed its obligations in all material respects under each of the Approvals
and there are no circumstances which indicate that any of the Approvals held by any Target Group Company will or is likely to be
revoked, terminated or not renewed (whether or not as a result of the transactions contemplated hereunder) and which could
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change. So far as the Seller is aware, no Target Group Company has
received any notice that it is in violation of any Law applicable to it and which could reasonably be expected to result in a Material
Adverse Change. So far as the Seller is aware, no notice of default or of any dispute concerning any Target Group Company
Approval has been received.

The Disclosure Letter contains a list and description of all Approvals held by each Target Group Company as at the date of this
Agreement, complete and correct copies of which have been made available by the Seller to the Buyer.

Each of the Approvals is in full force and effect.

COMPLIANCE WITH ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS

So far as the Seller is aware, none of the Target Group Companies (and none of their activities carried on in the Property) is in
violation of any Environmental Laws or any environmental permits, license or approval and which could reasonably be expected to

result in a Material Adverse Change.

So far as the Seller is aware, none of the Target Group Companies has received notice from any Government Authority alleging that
it or any of its assets is not in compliance with Environmental Laws, and, so far as the Seller is aware, there are no circumstances in
existence at the Completion Date that could reasonably be expected to prevent or interfere with material compliance by any Target
Group Company with Environmental Laws which are in existence at the Completion Date.

So far as the Seller is aware, the Seller has not received notice of any claim, action, cause of action or investigation by any person
alleging potential liability of any Target Group Company (including, without limitation, potential liability for investigatory costs,
cleanup costs, governmental response costs, natural resources damages, property damages, personal injuries or penalties) or seeking
injunctive relief for material violation of Environmental Laws that is pending or threatened against any Target Group Company, any
of its respective assets or any of the real property from which any of them conducts business and which could reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Change.
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10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

11.

11.2

11.3

114

12.

12.1

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

Each Target Group Company owns or is a licensee of or otherwise has the right to use all Intellectual Property Rights in the manner
currently used by it.

The business of each Target Group Company at the date of this Agreement does not infringe any third party rights in Intellectual
Property.

So far as the Seller is aware, no claims are pending against a Target Group Company by any third party challenging the Target
Group Company’ s use of any of the Intellectual Property Rights.

So far as the Seller is aware, there is no unauthorized use of the Intellectual Property Rights by any third party.

PROPERTY

The Property comprises all of the land, premises and buildings owned, held by, vested in, occupied or used by, or in the possession
of, the Target Group.

Save as Disclosed, the relevant Target Group Company has a good and marketable title to the Property (other than the Property held
by the relevant Target Group Company under a lease).

All real property leases to which a Target Group Company is a party are valid, binding and enforceable against the parties thereto
and in effect in accordance with their respective terms, except to the extent that enforceability may be limited by applicable
bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium, or other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by
principles of equity and (b) there is not under any of such leases any existing material default by the relevant Target Group
Company.

Save as Disclosed, none of the owned Property is subject to any Encumbrance. None of the Business Properties will, upon
Completion, be subject to any Encumbrance.

So far as the Seller is aware, none of the Target Group Companies has received any notice of violation of any covenant or other
restriction to which any of the Properties are subject.

ASSETS

Save as Disclosed, each material asset included in the FY2004 Audited Accounts (other than assets disposed of in the ordinary
course of business or which are the subject matter of operating or finance or capital leases) is owned by the relevant Group

Company free from Encumbrances.
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13.

13.1

13.2

14.

14.1

All material asset leases to which a Target Group Company is a party are valid, binding and enforceable against the parties thereto
and in effect in accordance with their respective terms, except to the extent that enforceability may be limited by applicable
bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium, or other laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by
principles of equity.

The Disclosure Letter contains a list of all the operating leases as at the date hereof.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS
The Disclosure Letter lists all of the following contracts of each Target Group Company (“Material Contracts”):

13.1.1 any outstanding or continuing contract for capital expenditures, performance or receipt of services, or delivery or
purchase of goods, in each case that individually (a) has value or payments in excess of US$100,000 in any calendar year
or (b) is not capable of being terminated without compensation at any time with three months’ notice or less;

13.1.2 any contract guaranteeing in any way with or without security any liability of a third party;
13.1.3 any power of attorney, proxy or similar instrument;
13.1.4 any contract containing restrictions on the operation of, or covenants not to compete in, any business or with any person

anywhere in the world;

13.1.5 any contract entered into other than in the ordinary course of business that is to be performed in whole or in part at or
after the date of this Agreement; and

13.1.6 all real property leases and each lease of personal property.

So far as the Seller is aware, (a) all Material Contracts are in all material respects valid, binding and in full force and effect in
accordance with their respective terms, (b) neither the relevant Target Group Company nor any counterparty to any Material
Contract is in material breach of any Material Contract, and (c) the relevant Target Group Company has not received notice of any
fact or circumstance which might invalidate or give rise to a ground for termination, avoidance or repudiation of a Material Contract
which is currently unresolved.

LABOUR

So far as the Seller is aware, each Target Group Company is not and has not been engaged in any illegal labour practice nor is or has
been in violation of any applicable Laws respecting employment and employment practices, terms and conditions of employment,

and wages and hours.

79

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
Please Consider the Environment Before Printing This Document


http://www.secdatabase.com

14.2

14.3

15.

15.1

15.2

15.3

15.4

So far as the Seller is aware, there is no pending or threatened, and there has been no strike, labour dispute, employee, claim,
slowdown or stoppage against a Target Group Company in the 18 months prior to the date of this Agreement. So far as the Seller is
aware, no Target Group Company is a party to nor bound by any collective bargaining agreement.

Save as Disclosed, no Target Group Company maintains or contributes to (or has ever maintained or contributed to) a defined
benefits retirement plan.

TAX MATTERS

The Disclosure Letters sets out (i) all income Tax Returns filed by or on behalf of each member of the EPCI HK Group and the
EPCI Singapore Group relating to the financial years ended 31 December 2001, 31 December 2002 and 31 December 2003, and
(i1) all jurisdictions in which each member of the EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore Group has paid material non-income
Taxes at any time during the past three fiscal years.

Save as Disclosed, each member of the EPCI HK Group and EPCI Singapore Group: (i) has timely filed on or before the applicable
due date with each appropriate Government Authority all Tax Returns required to be filed by or with respect to it, and all such Tax
Returns have been properly completed in all material respects in compliance with applicable Law, and (ii) has fully and timely paid,
or has made adequate provision on the Financial Statements in accordance with HK GAAP for, all Taxes required to be paid by it
(whether or not such Taxes have been reflected on any Tax Return).

In relation to each member of the EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore Group, all Taxes incurred prior to Completion, to the
extent not required to have been previously paid, will be reserved for on the Financial Statements in accordance with HK GAAP. All
Taxes that each member of the EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore Group have been required by Law to withhold or to collect
for payment have been duly withheld and collected, and have been paid over to the appropriate Government Authority in
compliance in all material respects with all applicable Law, and each member of the EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore
Group have complied in all material respects with all information reporting requirements under all applicable Law, including
maintenance of required records with respect thereto.

Save as Disclosed, (a) there are no pending or threatened claims, actions, assessments, suits, investigation or other proceedings by
any Government Authority with respect to Taxes relating to any member of the EPCI HK Group or any member of the EPCI
Singapore Group; (b) no extension or waiver of the limitation period applicable to any Tax Return of, or that includes, any member
of the EPCI HK Group or any member of the EPCI Singapore Group is in effect or has been requested; (iii) all deficiencies
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15.6

15.7

15.8

15.9

15.10

claimed, proposed or asserted or assessments made as a result of any examinations by any Government Authority of the Tax Returns
of, or that include, any member of the EPCI HK Group or any member of the EPCI Singapore Group have been fully paid or fully
settled, or are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and adequate reserves have been made for such Taxes on the
Financial Statements in accordance with HK GAAP; (iv) there are no Encumbrances for Taxes upon the Business Assets, HK
Shares, Singapore Shares or any of the assets of the Target Group, except Encumbrances for current Taxes not yet due and payable;
and (v) no power of attorney that currently is in effect has been granted by or with respect to any member of the EPCI HK Group or
any member of the EPCI Singapore Group with respect to any Tax matter.

Each member of the EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore Group is in full compliance in all material respects with all terms and
conditions of any Tax exemption, Tax holiday or other Tax reduction agreement or order. So far as the Seller is aware, the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement does not have a material adverse effect as at Completion on the
continued validity and effectiveness of any such Tax exemption, Tax holiday or other Tax reduction agreement or order.

Each member of the EPCI HK Group and the EPCI Singapore Group is and has at all times been resident for Tax purposes in its
place of incorporation or formation and is not and has not at any time been treated as resident in any other jurisdiction for any Tax

purpose (including any double Taxation arrangement).

The Seller has made available to the Buyer correct and complete copies of all Tax Returns of, or that include any member of the
EPCI HK Group or the EPCI Singapore Group for which the statute of limitations has not yet expired and all audit reports.

Neither the Seller nor any member of the EPCI HK Group nor any member of the EPCI Singapore Group has given any Tax
indemnity or been bound by any Tax sharing, Tax allocation or similar agreement.

Since December 31, 2003, neither the Seller nor any member of the EPCI HK Group nor any member of the EPCI Singapore Group
has made or changed any applicable Tax election, adopted or changed any accounting method or applicable Tax reporting principle
or practice, settled or compromised any Tax liability, or waived or extended the statute of limitations in respect of any applicable
Taxes.

No Tax claim has been made by a Governmental Authority in a jurisdiction where any member of the EPCI HK Group or the EPCI
Singapore Group does not file any Tax Return that it is or may be subject to Taxation by that jurisdiction.
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16.

16.1

16.2

16.3

16.4

17.

18.

19.

19.1

19.2

19.3

19.4

19.5

INSURANCE

So far as the Seller is aware, (i) all of the material insurance policies under which a Target Group Company is an insured
(“Policies™) are in full force and effect and (ii) no notice of cancellation or termination in respect of any of the Policies has been
received by the relevant Target Group Company insured.

So far as the Seller is aware, no claim is outstanding under any of the Policies.
So far as the Seller is aware, all premiums which are due under the Policies have been paid.

The Disclosure Letter contains copies of all the material Policies in respect of the Target Group Companies.

NO BROKERS

Other than UBS AG, the Seller is not obligated to pay any fees or expenses of any broker, finder, investment banker or other person
in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

BANK ACCOUNTS

The Disclosure Letter sets out the names and locations of all banks, trust companies, savings and loan associations and other
financial institutions at which each member of the EPCI HK Group and EPCI Singapore Group maintains accounts of any nature

and the names of all persons authorized to draw thereon or make withdrawals therefrom.

ABSENCE OF CERTAIN CHANGES OR EVENTS

Since 31 December 2004, (a) each Target Group Company has conducted its businesses in the usual course consistent with its
practice prior to 31 December 2004 and (b) each Target Group Company has not:

declared, set aside or paid any dividend or made any other distribution on or in respect of its shares or declared any direct or indirect
redemption, retirement, purchase or other acquisition by it of such shares;

save as disclosed in the Disclosure Letter, issued any shares or other securities; or

granted any increase in the compensation payable by it to its directors, officers or employees, except in the ordinary course of

business and in a manner consistent with prior practice.

entered into any legally binding agreement transaction or commitment other than in the ordinary course of business and consistent
with past practice;

incurred any Indebtedness otherwise than in the ordinary course of business;
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19.6

19.7

20.

21.

22.

22.1

23.

sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of any of its properties or assets (real or personal, tangible or intangible) with an aggregate
net book value in excess of US$250,000, except in respect of the transfer of equipment to another Target Group Company the sale
of Inventory, finished goods or scrap in the ordinary course of business; or

made any change in any method of accounting or accounting practices or internal control procedures.

WARRANTIES

The Disclosure Letter sets forth a list of all product warranty claims (including claims for value-add payments) individually in
excess of US$100,000 paid by any Target Group Company for the period beginning December 31, 2003, up to 28 February 2005

and such list is true, accurate and complete.

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the Material Contracts and the Disclosed Financial Statements, the Disclosure Letter sets forth all the capital
improvements or purchases or capital expenditures that the Target Group Companies have committed to or contracted for in excess
of US$250,000 and that have not been completed prior to the date hereof and the cost and expense reasonably estimated to complete
such work and purchases.

CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
The Disclosure Letter sets out:

22.1.1 a list of the ten largest customers of each Target Group Company, in terms of revenue during the fiscal years ended
31 December 2003 and 31 December 2004, and the current fiscal year through 28 February, 2005, (collectively, the
“Top 10 Customers”), showing the total revenue received in each such period from each such customer; and

22.1.2 a list of the ten (10) largest suppliers of each Target Group Company, in terms of purchases during the fiscal years of the
Company ended 31 December 31 2003 and 31 December 2004, and the current fiscal year through 28 February, 2005
(collectively, the “Top 10 Suppliers™), and showing the approximate total purchases in each such period from each such
supplier.

NONCOMPETITION AGREEMENTS

Neither the Seller or any Target Group Company is subject to any noncompetition agreements.
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24.

BUSINESS ASSETS COMPLETE

The Business Assets, HK Shares and Singapore Shares to be sold to Buyer pursuant to this Agreement include all the assets and
rights used by the Target Group to operate the Business Assets and the business of the Target Group as at the Completion Date, in
the same manner as currently conducted by the relevant member(s) of the Target Group. The execution and delivery of the Other
Documents by the parties and the payment by Buyer of any consideration payable under this Agreement will, subject to the terms of
this Agreement including, without limitation, the Retained Security, result, in Buyer’ s immediate acquisition of good title to the
Business Assets, HK Shares and Singapore Shares free and clear of any Encumbrance.
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1.1

1.2

1.3

SCHEDULE 4

LIMITATIONS ON THE SELLER’ S LIABILITY

LIMITATION ON QUANTUM

The Seller is not liable in respect of a Relevant Claim:

1.1.1

(a)

(b)

unless the amount that would otherwise be recoverable from the Seller (but for this paragraph 1.1.1) and the liability
determined in respect of that Relevant Claim exceeds US$100,000; and

unless and until the amount that would otherwise be recoverable from the Seller (but for this paragraph 1.1.2) and the
liability determined in respect of that Relevant Claim, when aggregated with the Seller’ s liability determined in respect
of other Relevant Claims (excluding any amounts in respect of a Relevant Claim for which the Seller has no liability
because of paragraph 1.1.1 and excluding any amounts in respect of Relevant Claims which have been taken into
account in the determination of the Actual Adjusted 2005 EBITDA in accordance with clause 8.10(b)(1)), exceeds
US$1,000,000, and in the event that the aggregated amounts exceed US$1,000,000, the Seller shall, provided that
paragraph 1.1.1 above has been satisfied, only be liable for the total amount of all such Relevant Claims in excess of
US$360,000.

For the purposes of determining whether a Relevant Claim exceeds US$100,000, all items of loss of a similar type
(irrespective of the amount of individual loss) shall be aggregated.

The Seller shall not be liable in respect of any Fundamental Warranty Claim to the extent that such Fundamental Warranty
Claim, which when aggregated with all Fundamental Warranty Claims, exceeds the Fundamental Warranty Cap.

The Seller shall not be liable in respect of any Relevant Claim other than a Fundamental Warranty Claim, which when
aggregated with all Relevant Claims other than Fundamental Warranty Claims, exceeds the General Claim Cap.

Provided that the Seller shall not be liable in respect of any Relevant Claim pursuant to 1.2(a) and (b), which when aggregated with

all Relevant Claims, whether comprising Fundamental Warranty Claims and/or Relevant Claims other than Fundamental Warranty

Claims, exceed the Fundamental Warranty Cap.

The Buyer shall not be entitled to claim for any punitive, indirect or consequential loss (including loss of profit) in respect of any

Relevant Claim.
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2.1

2.2

5.1

TIME LIMITS FOR BRINGING CLAIMS

The Seller is not liable for a Relevant Claim unless the Buyer has notified the Seller of the Relevant Claim stating in reasonable
detail the nature of the Relevant Claim and the amount claimed (detailing the Buyer’ s calculation of the loss thereby alleged to have
been suffered) on or before the date that is:

1 March 2007, in respect of any Relevant Claim other than a Fundamental Warranty Claim; and

1 October 2007, in respect of any Fundamental Warranty Claim.

NOTICE OF CLAIMS

A Relevant Claim notified in accordance with paragraph 2 of this schedule 4 and not satisfied, settled or withdrawn is
unenforceable against the Seller on the expiry of the period of 6 months starting on the day of notification of the Relevant Claim,
unless proceedings in respect of the Relevant Claim have been issued and served on the Seller.

MITIGATION

Nothing in this schedule 4 restricts or limits the parties general obligation at law to mitigate any loss or damage which it may incur
in consequence of a matter giving rise to a Relevant Claim. The parties agree that the obligation at law to mitigate any loss or
damage which it may incur in consequence of a matter giving rise to a Relevant Claim shall apply mutatis mutandis to any loss or
damage it may incur in consequence of a matter giving rise to a Relevant Claim under the Tax Deed (notwithstanding that there is
no obligation at law to mitigate loss or damage which gives rise to a claim under an indemnity).

SPECIFIC LIMITATIONS
The Seller is not liable in respect of a Relevant Claim:
to the extent that the matter giving rise to the Relevant Claim would not have arisen but for:

5.1.1 an Event before or after Completion at the request or direction of a Buyer’ s Group Company or a director, employee or
authorised agent of a Buyer’ s Group Company; or

5.1.2 the passing of, or a change in, a Law, interpretation of the Law or administrative practice of a Government Authority
after the Completion Date an increase in the Tax rates or an imposition of Tax, in each case not actually or prospectively
in force at the Completion Date; and
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52

7.1

to the extent that the matter giving rise to the Relevant Claim is a Tax liability of any Group Company arising solely because the
relevant Group Company’ s assets are more than, or its liabilities are less than, were taken into account in computing the provision
for Tax in the Financial Statements.

RECOVERY ONLY ONCE

The Buyer is not entitled to recover more than once in respect of any one matter giving rise to a Relevant Claim.

CONDUCT OF RELEVANT CLAIMS

If the Buyer becomes aware of a matter which constitutes or which would or could be reasonably expected to give rise to a Relevant
Claim:

7.1.1 the Buyer shall as soon as practicable (having regard to any applicable time limits and other relevant circumstances),
give notice to the Seller of the matter;

7.1.2 where the Relevant Claim relates to a claim against an EPCI HK Group Company or an EPCI Singapore Group
Company by a third party, the Buyer shall, and shall ensure that each Buyer’ s Group Company shall, in each case
subject to the consent, if required, of the Chinese partner to the relevant Group Company, provide to the Seller and its
advisers (during normal business hours or at a time acceptable to the Buyer and the relevant Buyer Group Company)
reasonable access to premises and personnel and to relevant assets, documents and records within the power or control of
the Buyer solely for the purposes of investigating that claim upon reasonable notice in writing being given by the Seller
to the Buyer;

7.13 the Seller (at its cost) may take copies subject to the Buyer’ s consent (which shall not be unreasonably withheld or
delayed) of the documents or records, and photograph the premises or assets, referred to in paragraph 7.1.2 of this
schedule 4;

7.1.4 the Buyer shall not, and shall ensure that no Buyer’ s Group Company will, admit liability in respect of, or compromise
or settle, the matter without the prior written consent of the Seller (which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed);
and

7.1.5 the Buyer shall take all reasonable action to mitigate any loss suffered by it or any Buyer’ s Group Company in respect of
a matter giving rise to a Relevant Claim.
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8.1

9.1

RECOVERY FROM ANOTHER PERSON

If the Seller pays to a Buyer’ s Group Company an amount in respect of a Relevant Claim, and a Buyer’ s Group Company
subsequently recovers from another person an amount which is directly referable to the subject matter of the Relevant Claim and
which would not otherwise have been received by the Buyer, the Buyer shall pay to the Seller an amount equal to the lesser of:
(i) the sum recovered from the third party less any reasonable costs and expenses incurred in obtaining such recovery; and (ii) the
amount previously paid by the Seller to the Buyer.

MATTERS DISCLOSED

The Seller shall not be liable for any Relevant Claim for breach of the Warranties if and to the extent that the fact, matter event or
circumstance giving rise to such Relevant Claim:

9.1.1 is disclosed, allowed, provided or reserved in the FY2004 Audited Accounts; or
9.12 is reflected, provided for or otherwise taken into account in the Completion Statement.
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SCHEDULE 5
ACTION PENDING COMPLETION

Each Target Group Company shall operate its business in the ordinary and usual course, in the same manner and scope as conducted
as at the date of this Agreement;

the Buyer and its agents will, subject to the Buyer’ s obligation of confidentiality set out in clause 22 of this Agreement, upon
reasonable notice during normal business hours, be allowed access to the employees and premises of each Target Group and shall
also be allowed access to, and to take copies of, the books and records of each Target Group Company including, without limitation,
the statutory books, minute books, leases, licenses, contracts entered into by any Business Seller, details of receivables, Intellectual
Property, tax records, supplier lists and customer lists in the possession or control of any Target Group Company provided that such
access is confined to information that is reasonably necessary to plan for integration after Completion and that such information
(together with all copies thereof) are returned to the Seller promptly in the event Completion does not take place;

each Target Group Company shall take all reasonable steps to preserve its property and assets and will not cancel or amend any

Business Insurance Policy;
each Target Group Company shall take all reasonable steps to preserve the validity of its Intellectual Property;

save as Disclosed to the Buyer in the 2005 business plan for the Seller’ s Group, each Target Group Company will not make any

change in the existing nature, scope or organisation of its business;

each Target Group Company will not acquire an interest in a corporate body or merge or consolidate with a corporate body or any
other person, enter into any demerger transaction or participate in any other type of corporate reconstruction;

save as Disclosed, each Target Group Company will not declare, pay or make a dividend or distribution;

each Target Group Company will not, save in connection with the release of the Security (other than the Retained Security) upon the
repayment of the Debt Amount to the Lenders on Completion, create, or agree to create or amend, an Encumbrance over any real

property or another asset or redeem, or agree to redeem, an existing Encumbrance over any real property or another asset;

each Target Group Company will not give, or agree to give, a guarantee, indemnity or other agreement to secure, or incur financial
or other obligations with respect to, another person’ s obligation (other than in the ordinary course of business);
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10.

11.

each Target Group Company shall use such efforts consistent with past practice to keep available the services of its present officers
and key employees and preserve its relationship with material customers, suppliers, distributors and others having business dealings
with it;

each Target Group Company will not, without the consent of the Buyer (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed):

11.1 incur or enter into any agreement or commitment involving any capital expenditure in excess of US$250,000 per item
and US$1,500,000 in aggregate in respect of the capital expenditure items listed in schedule 6, or (ii) in excess of
US$50,000 per item and US$500,000 in aggregate in respect of any capital expenditure items not listed in schedule 6.

11.2 enter into or amend any Material Contract: (i) which is not capable of being terminated without compensation at any
time with three months’ notice or less; or (ii) which is not in the ordinary course of business or (iii) which has an
aggregate amount of value or aggregate payments in excess of US$250,000 in any calendar year.

11.3 incur any Indebtedness otherwise than in the ordinary course of business;

114 acquire, sell, transfer, assign or otherwise dispose of or agree to acquire, sell, transfer, assign or otherwise dispose of any
of property or assets (real or personal, tangible or intangible) in each case, involving consideration expenditure or
liabilities in excess of US$250,000 in aggregate except in respect of the transfer of equipment to another Target Group
Company, the sale of Inventory or finished goods or scrap in the ordinary course of business;

11.5 amend any of the terms on which goods, facilities or services are supplied to the extent that any such amendment is
likely to have a material adverse impact on the business or financial position of the relevant Target Group Company,

except where required to do so in order to comply with any applicable legal or regulatory requirement;

11.6 amend or discontinue any insurance contract, fail to notify any insurance claim in accordance with the provisions of the

relevant policy or settle any such claim materially below the amount claimed;

11.7 allot, issue, redeem, vary or repurchase or agree to allot, issue, redeem, vary or repurchase any share or loan capital (or
option or right to subscribe for the same) of EPCI HK Group and EPCI Singapore Group;

11.8 acquire or agree to acquire any share, shares or other interest in any company, partnership or other venture or incorporate
any subsidiary;
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11.9

11.10

11.11

11.12

11.13

11.14

make any change to its accounting practices or policies or accounting reference date or, in relation to EPCI HK Group
and EPCI Singapore Group only, amend its memorandum or articles of association (or equivalent constitutional

documents);

make or change any applicable Tax election, adopt or change any Tax accounting method or applicable Tax reporting
principle or practice, settle or compromise any Tax liability, or waive or extend the statute of limitations in respect of any
applicable Taxes;

discontinue or cease to operate all or a material part of its business or resolve to be wound up;

commence, compromise or discontinue any legal or arbitration proceedings involving a claim in excess of US$100,000
(other than in respect of the collection of debts which are not material in the context of the relevant Target Group
Company in the ordinary course of business);

acquire or agree to acquire or dispose of or agree to dispose of any freechold or leasehold interest in land; and

save as required by Law or in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Other
Documents, change the terms of employment (including, without limitation, remuneration and pension entitlements) of
any Transferring Employee or provide any gratuitous payment to any Transferring Employee or dismiss or terminate
(except with good cause) the employment of any Transferring Employee or engage or appoint any additional employees.

provided that nothing in this schedule 5 shall prevent any member of the Seller’ s Group from complying with its respective

obligations under this Agreement and no member of the Seller’ s Group shall be liable for breach of this schedule 5 for actions taken

to comply with its respective obligations under this Agreement.

12.

To the extent that any of the restrictions in this schedule 5 relates to a Business Seller, the restriction shall only apply to
the Business and the Business Assets of that Business Seller.
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SCHEDULE 6

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

attached
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SCHEDULE 7

INTENTIONALLY DELETED
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SCHEDULE 8

SUBORDINATED PROMISSORY NOTE

Merix Caymans Trading Company Limited

[Date] 2005

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, Merix Caymans Trading Company Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands with
its registered office at Century Yark, Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681 GT, Grand Cayman, British West Indies (the
“Company”), unconditionally and irrevocably promises to pay to the order of Eastern Pacific Circuits Holdings Limited (“Seller”) the
aggregate of (a) Eleven Million U.S. Dollars (U.S.$11,000,000) and (b) an amount equal to the EBITDA Earnout Consideration (as defined in
the SPA, as defined below) (“Principal”), plus interest on the unpaid balance of the Principal from the date hereof at the rate of (i) 7% per
annum from the date of this Note to and inclusive of 1 December, 2006, (ii) thereafter 8% per annum to and inclusive of 1 December 2007,
and (iii) thereafter 9% per annum until this Note is fully paid as specified below (“Fixed Interest Rate™). The maturity date of this Note is the
later of (a) 15 March 2009; and (b) the date that is ten (10) Business Days after the date on which all Relevant Claims are settled (*“Maturity
Date”).

The Company and the Seller are party to a Seller Subordination Agreement dated on or about the date of this Note with Standard Chartered
Bank (Hong Kong) Limited as the security agent under the Credit Agreement (as defined below) (“Seller Subordination Agreement”). The
terms of this Note are, where expressly provided for, subject to the terms of the Seller Subordination Agreement.

1. Purchase Agreement

This is the Note referred to in the Master Sale and Purchase Agreement dated 14 April, 2005 as varied by letter agreements dated
28 July, 2005 and 16 September 2005 and further amended by a Supplemental Agreement dated 29 September, 2005 (“SPA”) between the
Seller and Merix Corporation as the Buyer. Capitalised terms used, but not defined, herein shall have the meaning given to them in the SPA.

2. Subordination to Credit Agreement

(a) The Company is a party to a US$30,000,000 credit agreement dated on or about the date of this Note between (amongst others)
the Company and Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited as the security agent (“Credit Agreement”). “Senior Obligations” means
all of the liabilities and payment obligations of the Company and its
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subsidiaries under the Credit Agreement and, subject to paragraph 2(b), all complete and partial refinancings of such liabilities and payment
obligations. Notwithstanding any other provision in this Note, all payments hereunder shall be deferred until all the Senior Obligations (actual
or contingent) have been paid and discharged in full unless expressly permitted under Clause 4 (Permitted Payments) of the Seller
Subordination Agreement.

(b) If the Senior Obligations are refinanced on an arm’ s length basis, the parties agree to enter into a subordination agreement with
the parties advancing funds for the refinancing on terms similar to those in the Seller Subordination Agreement in respect of and to the extent
that the new advances do not exceed the Senior Obligations then outstanding.

3. Payment

(a) Accrued interest shall be payable in arrears on the first business day of each March, June, September and December beginning
1 December 2006 (each a “Quarterly Payment”) and on the Maturity Date; provided that if the prevailing rate of interest under the Credit
Agreement (“‘Lender Rate) during the relevant interest period, is less than the Fixed Interest Rate, the interest payment for such period shall
be the amount calculated at the Lender Rate and the difference between the accrued interest calculated by reference to the Fixed Interest Rate
and the Lender Rate for such period (“Interest Rate Difference’) shall be paid on the Maturity Date. Interest shall accrue on the Interest Rate
Difference at the Fixed Interest Rate and the amount of such interest shall be paid on the Maturity Date.

(b) Regardless of the date EBITDA Earnout Consideration is determined, it shall be deemed to have been outstanding from the date
of this Note for all interest calculation purposes. Once the EBITDA Earnout Consideration is determined, all accrued and unpaid interest
thereon, subject to the interest payment limitations in Section 3(a), shall be paid on the first Quarterly Payment after such determination.

(c) Principal shall be paid in four equal installments of 25% of the Principal each on 1 March 2007, 1 December 2007, 1 December
2008 and 15 March 2009 (each a “Principal Payment™). Each Principal Payment shall be made or deemed satisfied as follows: (i) first, by
reduction of the amount due by the amount of the Post-Cash Working Capital Shortfall determined pursuant to Clause 6.8 of the SPA not
previously applied to satisfaction of Principal; (ii) second, by reduction of the amount due by the amount of settled Relevant Claims not
previously applied to the satisfaction of Principal; (iii) third, by suspension of the payment obligation by the amount of asserted, but unsettled,
Relevant Claims in the manner provided in Section 4 hereof to the extent that such unsettled Relevant Claims have not previously been
applied to the suspension of Principal Payments; and (iv) fourth, by payment in immediately available funds.

(d) If the Company fails to make any Quarterly Payment or Principal Payment or pay any part thereof on its due date, interest on the
unpaid amount shall accrue on a day to day basis at the relevant Fixed Interest Rate from but excluding the due date to and including the date

of actual payment.
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(e) All payments shall be applied to accrued interest and thereafter to principal.
(f) All amounts due hereunder are payable in lawful money of the United States of America.
(g) Principal plus accrued interest may be prepaid at any time without penalty by the Company.

(h) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein or in the SPA, in no event shall any amount payable by the Company
as interest or other charges on this Note exceed the highest lawful rate permissible under any law applicable hereto.

4. Relevant Claims

If, in accordance with Schedule 4 of the SPA, the Buyer gives the Seller notice of a Relevant Claim, and such Relevant Claim is not settled or
otherwise determined by the date of a Principal Payment, the Principal Payment shall be suspended in the manner described in Section 3(c) by
an amount equal to such unsettled Relevant Claim (“Amount Claimed’). Upon the settlement or determination of such Relevant Claim, the
Principal Payment shall be deemed satisfied to the extent of the amount settled or otherwise determined in respect of such Relevant Claim (the
“Settled Amount”), and an amount equal to the Amount Claimed less the Settled Amount, if any, shall be paid to the Seller within ten

(10) Business Days of the settlement or determination of such Relevant Claim.

5. Acceleration

(a) The amounts payable hereunder may be declared immediately due and payable by the Seller if: (a) the Company fails to make
any Quarterly Payment when due and such failure to pay continues for five (5) days, (b) the Company fails to make any Principal Payment
when due, or (c) the Company or any of its subsidiaries or the Company’ s shareholder raises financing other than the Facility (as defined in
the Credit Agreement), which in a single transaction or a series of related transactions delivers proceeds in excess of US$50,000,000, or
(d) the Company shall have made an assignment for the benefit of creditors or shall have admitted in writing its inability to pay its debts as
they become due or consented to the appointment of a receiver or liquidator or trustee or assignee in bankruptcy or insolvency of all or of
substantially all of its property; or by order of a court of competent jurisdiction a receiver or liquidator or trustee of the Company or any of its
property shall have been appointed and shall not have been discharged within 60 days, or by decree of such a court the Company shall have
been adjudicated insolvent and such decree shall have continued undischarged and unstayed for 60 days after the entry thereof; or a petition to
reorganize the Company, pursuant to any bankruptcy or similar statute applicable to the Company, shall have been filed against the Company
and shall not have been dismissed
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within 60 days after such filing, or the Company shall have been adjudicated a bankrupt, or shall have filed a petition in voluntary bankruptcy
under any provision of any bankruptcy law, or shall have consented to the filing of any bankruptcy or reorganization petition against it under
any such law, or shall have filed a petition to reorganize the Company pursuant to any applicable law, provided that the foregoing acceleration
right may not be exercised in a manner that causes the outstanding Principal at any time to be less than the prevailing liability cap, as
determined in accordance with Part 1 of Schedule 9 of the SPA (the “Retained Amount”). Thereafter, on each date on which the liability cap
falls in accordance with Part 1 of Schedule 9 of the SPA, and if Seller has exercised the foregoing acceleration right, the Company shall
forthwith pay to the Seller the difference between the Retained Amount and the prevailing liability cap.

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision in this Note, the Seller’ s rights under paragraph (a) above may only be exercised in
accordance with the Seller Subordination Agreement.

6. Amendments to the Credit Agreement

(a) Subject to paragraph (b) below, the Company shall not, without the written consent of the Seller agree to any amendment of any
term of the Credit Agreement, except for an amendment which:

(1) is procedural or administrative in nature; or

(i1) does not result in the Company being subjected to more onerous obligations than those existing at the date hereof or
which would otherwise prejudice the Seller’ s rights under this Note.

(b) If:

(1) an Event of Default has been declared (other than in respect of a matter referred to in Clause 20.3(b) (Breach of other
obligations) under the Credit Agreement) and is outstanding under the Credit Agreement; or

(i1) an Event of Default has been declared in respect of a matter referred to in Clause 20.3(b) (Breach of other obligations)

under the Credit Agreement and the Facility Agent has taken action to accelerate the Senior Obligations in respect of
such an Event of Default,

the Company may agree to any amendment of any term of the Credit Agreement without the consent of the Seller.
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7. No set-off, counterclaim, deduction or withholding

All sums payable under this Note shall be paid in full without set-off or counterclaiming for any reason and without deduction of or
withholding for any taxes, duties levies, imposts or charges of any nature other than as contemplated in paragraphs 3(c), 4 and 5 hereof.

8. Waiver

The Company hereby waives demand, protest and notice of demand, protest and nonpayment and consent to any and all renewals
and extensions of the time of payment under this Note.

9. Assignability

Neither the Seller nor the Company may assign, transfer, endorse or in any other way alienate any of its rights under this Note
whether in whole or in part.

10. Governing Law and Dispute Resolution

This Note is governed by the laws of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’ s Republic of China. Any dispute
arising under this Note shall be resolved in accordance with Clause 29 of the SPA.

MERIX CAYMANS TRADING COMPANY LIMITED

Name:
Title:
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Column (1)

Total Consideration

(US$ million )

128

Less than 128 but not less than 127

Less than 127 but not less than 126

Less than 126 but not less than 125

Less than 125 but not less than 124

Less than 124 but not less than 123

Less than 123 but not less than 122

Less than 122 but not less than 121

Less than 121 but not less than 120

Less than 120 but not less than 119

Less than 119 but not less than 118

SCHEDULE 9

LIABILITY CAP

PART 1

LIABILITY CAP IN RESPECT OF FUNDAMENTAL WARRANTY CLAIMS

Column (2)

Liability cap as at the respective date set out in sub-columns (a) to (d) below

(US$ million)
(€] (b)
Completion 1 October 2006
Date to to
30 September 28 February
2006 2007
24 16
24 - (128 - 16 - (128 -Total
Total Consideration)
Consideration)
23 - (127 - 15
Total
Consideration)
22 - (126 - 15 - (126 -Total
Total Consideration)
Consideration)
21-(125 - 14
Total
Consideration)
20 - (124 - 14 - (124 - Total
Total Consideration)
Consideration)
19 - (123 - 13
Total
Consideration)
18 - (122 - 13 - (122 -Total
Total Consideration)
Consideration)
17 - (121 - 12
Total
Consideration)
16 - (120 - 12 - (120 - Total
Total Consideration)
Consideration)
15-(119 - 11
Total
Consideration)
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14 - (118 - 11-(118 - Total
Less than 118 but not less than 117 Total Consideration)
Consideration)
13- (117 - 10
Less than 117 but not less than 116 Total
Consideration)
12 - (116 - 10 - (116 - Total
Less than 116 but not less than 115 Total Consideration)

Consideration)
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PART 2

LIABILITY CAP IN RESPECT OF ALL RELEVANT CLAIMS OTHER THAN FUNDAMENTAL WARRANTY CLAIMS

Column (1)

Total Consideration

(US$ million )

128

Less than 128 but not less than 127

Less than 127 but not less than 126

Less than 126 but not less than 125

Less than 125 but not less than 124

Less than 124 but not less than 123

Less than 123 but not less than 122

Less than 122 but not less than 121

Less than 121 but not less than 120

Less than 120 but not less than 119

Less than 119 but not less than 118

Less than 118 but not less than 117

Less than 117 but not less than 116

Column (2)

Liability cap as at the respective date set out in sub-columns (a) to

Copyright © 2012 www.secdatabase.com. All Rights Reserved.
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(c) below
(USS$ million)
(@ (b) (©
Completion Date to 30 1 October 2006 to On or after
September 2006 28 February 2007 1 March 2007

18 10 0
18 - (128 - Total 10 - (128 - Total 0
Consideration) Consideration)
17 - (127 - Total 9 0
Consideration)
16 - (126 - Total 9 - (126 -Total 0
Consideration) Consideration)
15 - (125 - Total 8 0
Consideration)
14 - (124 - Total 8 - (124 - Total 0
Consideration) Consideration)
13 - (123 - Total 7 0
Consideration)
12 - (122 - Total 7 - (122 - Total 0
Consideration) Consideration)
11 - (121 - Total 6 0
Consideration)
10 - (120 - Total 6 - (120 - Total 0
Consideration) Consideration)
9 - (119 - Total 5 0
Consideration)
8- (118 - Total 5-(118 - Total 0
Consideration), Consideration)

subject to a

minimum of 7.5

7.5 4 0
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7.5 4 - (116 - Total
Less than 116 but not less than 115 Consideration)
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(2)
(®)
(©)

(d)
©)

®

SCHEDULE 10
WORKING CAPITAL

net Accounts receivable of the Group, net of allowances for doubtful accounts; plus
net inventory (as defined below) of the Group, net of allowances for obsolescence; plus

other current assets of the Group, excluding cash and bank balances and, to the extent that such items have been included in

relation to paragraphs (a) or (b) above, accounts receiv